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Available Information
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated ®lidas/, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, “ANIthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”) files annual, quarterly and current repopspxy statements and other information requiredhgySecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act"), with the Securitie$ Bxchange Commission ("SEC"). We make availatgle 6f charge on our website
(www.anipharmaceuticals.com) our annual reportom 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmeports on Form 8-K, proxy
statements and any amendments to those filingsasas reasonably practicable after such materieictronically filed with or furnished to
the SEC. Also posted on our website in the “InvesstoCorporate Governance” section are our CorpdBalvernance Guidelines, Code of
Ethics and the charters for the Audit and Fina@mempensation, and Nominating and Corporate Govem@ommittees. Information on, or
accessible through, our website is not a partrad,ia not incorporated into, this report or anyestBEC filing. Copies of our SEC filings or
corporate governance materials are available witbloarge upon written request to Investor Relatiofis ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 210 M
Street West, Baudette, Minnesota, 56623.

Any materials we file with the SEC are also pulylialailable through the SEC’s website (www.sec.gounay be read and copied at the
SEC'’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N\VEshington, DC 20549. Information on the operatibthe Public Reference Room may
be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

In this annual report, references to “ANI,” the ‘1@pany,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer, unless the dert requires otherwise, to ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware c-corporatiod,ienconsolidated subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Quany (“ANIP"). References to “named
executive directors” refer to our current namedcexige officers, except where the context requaterwise. References to the "Merger" refel
to the merger of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Indo@Bnte") and ANIP, completed on June 19, 2013 rethéANI Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of BioSante, merged with and AMdP with ANIP continuing as the surviving compaayd becoming a wholly owned
subsidiary of BioSante. On July 17, 2013, BioSaht@nged its name to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Refas to the "reverse stock split” refer
to the one-for-six reverse stock split effectedaly 17, 2013.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K and certain infottina incorporated herein by reference contain fordrtooking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 08188 amended (the “Securities Act”), and Sectidk »f the Exchange Act. Such statement:
include, but are not limited to, statements abature operations, products, financial position, ogtég results prospects, pipelines or
potential markets therefor, and other statemenrds dine not historical in nature, particularly thosleat utilize terminology such
“anticipates,” “will,” “expects,” “plans,” “potenti al,” “future, " “continue,” o ther words of similar meaning,
derivations of such words and the use of futureslat

believes,” “intends,

” o, ” o ” o ” w ” . ” o«

Uncertainties and risks may cause our actual restdtbe materially different than those expresseariimplied by such forward-looking
statements. Uncertainties and risks include, batrzot limited to, the risk that we may face witbpect to importing raw materials, increased
competition, delays or failure in obtaining prodwagiproval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administrat{6BFDA"), general business and
economic conditions, market trends, product devalen, regulatory, and other approvals and marketing

These factors should not be construed as exhaustideshould be read in conjunction with our othesctbsures, including but not limited
to the “Risk Factors” section in Part I, Item 1Af this annual report on Form 10-K and in other dantry statements and risks included in
other reports we file with the SEC. New risks eradrgm time to time. It is not possible for our ragament to predict all risks. The forward-
looking statements contained in this document aadaronly as of the date of this document. We uakiero obligation to update or revise
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of newrimédion, future events or otherwise.

NOTE REGARDING TRADEMARKS

Cortenem&, Lithobid®, Reglar®, and Vancocir® are registered trademarks subject to trademarlegtion and are owned by ANI.




PART |
Iltem 1. Business

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated ®lidas/, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, “ANIthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”) is an integrated specialty pharmaceuticahpany developing, manufacturing, and marketing dedrand generic prescription
pharmaceuticals. Our targeted areas of productiolgvent currently include narcotics, oncolyticst{@ancers), hormones and steroids, and
complex formulations involving extended release emahbination products. We have two pharmaceuti@iufacturing facilities located in
Baudette, Minnesota, which are capable of produonadjsolid dose products, as well as liquids amicals, narcotics, and potent products tha
must be manufactured in a fully-contained environm®ur strategy is to use our assets to deveklapiee, manufacture, and market branded
and generic specialty prescription pharmaceuticals.

On June 19, 2013, pursuant to a merger agreemtst da of April 12, 2013, ANIP Acquisition Compaap/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
("ANIP") became a wholly-owned subsidiary of BiogaRharmaceuticals, Inc. (“BioSante”) in an allektatax-free reorganization (the
"Merger"). The Merger was accounted for as a revargjuisition, pursuant to which ANIP was considahe acquiring entity for accounting
purposes. We are operating under the leaderstiieodiNIP management team and our board of direisaremprised of two former directors
from BioSante and five former ANIP directors. A&BUANIP's historical results of operations replBigSante's historical results of operati
for all periods prior to the Merger. The resultopkrations of both companies are included in oasolidated financial statements for all
periods after completion of the Merger.

BioSante was a publicly-held pharmaceutical comdanysed on developing high value, medicailgeded products. ANIP entered into
Merger to secure additional capital and gain actesapital market opportunities as a public conypan

In addition, in July 2013, our stockholders appbaad we subsequently effected (i) a one-for-sierge stock split of our common stock
and class C special stock, with a proportional céida in the number of authorized shares of ourrmom stock, class C special stock and blan
check preferred stock, and (ii) a change of nam fiBioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” to “ANI Pharmaticals, Inc.” Unless otherwise
required by the context, references in this anredrt on Form 10-K to the "Company," "we," us,ddour" refer to ANI Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., a Delaware corporation formed in April 20@drmerly known as BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Ina. @incipal executive offices are
located at 210 Main Street West, Baudette, Minreess8623, our telephone number is (218) 634-3500 cair website address is
www.anipharmaceuticals.com.

Mission and Strategy

We are an integrated specialty pharmaceutical cognpaith our own research and development teamufiaaturing facilities, and sales
and regulatory compliance personnel. Our two féedihave a combined manufacturing, packaging abparatory capacity totaling 173,000
square feet. The facilities are specialized witredie capabilities, enabling us to manufacturdadigqouowder, and oral solid-dose products,
topicals, narcotics, and products required to beufactured in a fully contained environment. Weogdsrform contract manufacturing for
other pharmaceutical companies.

In addition to laboratories that support the regmients of raw material, finished product, and $italiesting, we have a 1,000 square foot
pilot laboratory offering liquid, suspension andidaose development capabilities. This pilot laddory offers a full range of analytical
capabilities including method development, validatand de-formulation, and is licensed by the CEafprcement Administration (“DEA”).
Finally, a separate development suite located withir high-potency manufacturing facility offersditbnal capabilities for product
development.

Our strategy is to use our assets to develop, exguanufacture, and market branded and generaiadiyeprescription pharmaceuticals.
By executing this strategy, we believe we will idesto continue to grow the business, expand aversify our product portfolio, and create
long-term value for our investors.




Product Development Considerations

We consider a variety of criteria in determiningiethproducts to develop or acquire, all of whiclate to the level of potential
competition and expected profitability upon prodiacinch. These criteria include:

Formulation Complexity. Our development and manufacturing capabilitiedknas to manufacture pharmaceuticals that aredliff
to produce, including highly potent, extended re¢e@ombination, and low dosage products. Thistalbd manufacture a variety of
complex products is a competitive strength thattend to leverage in selecting products to develomanufacture

Patent Status We seek to develop products whose branded bivalgmits do not have long-term patent protectioexisting patent
challenges

Market Size. When determining whether to develop or acquiréndividual product, we review the current and extpd market size
for that product at launch, as well as forecastéazkperosion upon conversion from branded to gergiting. We endeavor to
manufacture products with sufficient market sizenable us to enter the market with a strong likeedtl of being able to price our
product both competitively and at a pro

Profit Potential. We research the availability and cost of activarptaceutical ingredients in determining which prdduo develop
or acquire. In determining the potential profitaoproduct, we forecast our anticipated market shmieing, which includes expected
price erosion caused by competition from other gemeanufacturers, and the estimated cost to matwiathe product:
Manufacturing. We generally seek to develop and manufactureymtsdat our own manufacturing plants in order tximée the
capacity and utilization of our facilities, to emswuality control in our products, and to maximgefit potential.

Competition. When determining whether to develop or acquirendividual product, we research the existing axgeeted market
share of generic competitors. We seek to develodyats for which we can obtain a large market shand may decline to develop a
product if we anticipate that many generic compeditvill be entering that product’s market. Ourhtigspecialized manufacturing
facilities provide a means of entering niche makstich as hormone therapies, in which fewer geernpanies would be able to
compete

We believe our strategies are effective in levarggiur human and capital assets and will resutiéasurable growth of our business.
Since 2011, we have successfully:

Increased prescription product sales through mathate gains on established products.

Acquired the New Drug Application (“NDA”) for andelgan marketing Reglan .

Developed two new contract manufacturing custorakationships.

Established three external product developmenhpestips to bolster the internal pipeline.

Filed six Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDAsand developed and purchased a pipeline of eidtitional ANDAs.
Acquired from Teva ANDAs for 31 previously marketgeheric drug products for $12.5 million and a petage of gross profits.
Closed a public offering of common stock, nettid@F million.

Acquired the NDA for and began marketing Lithobid.

Acquired the NDA for and began marketing Vancocin .

Launched Methazolamide, the first of the Teva podsiu

Closed a public offering of $143.8 million of comtible debt, with simultaneous bond hedge and wartransactions.

We believe that our cash resources and forecaatduftows from operations are sufficient to enaldéo meet our operational needs for
the foreseeable future.




Products and Markets
Products

As of December 31, 2014, our products include tboimded and generic pharmaceuticals, specifically:

Generic Products Branded Products
Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterc Cortenems
Fluvoxamine Maleat Lithobid
Hydrocortisone Enem Reglan
Methazolamide Vancocin

Metoclopramide
Opium Tincture

Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone (“EENITS used to treat moderate to severe vasomotopteyns of menopause that are not
improved by estrogen alone. For the year endedreee31, 2014, EEMT comprised 42% of our net salessus 33% of net sales in 2013. In
the third quarter of 2013, a significant competitopped producing EEMT, which led to a materiatéase in our market share and enabled (
to significantly increase the price we charge far product. However, in the second quarter of 2@ielsame competitor re-entered the marke
which negatively impacted our EEMT unit sales aswenues during the period, which impact we expdttantinue.

Fluvoxamine Maleate is used to treat patients withessivesompulsive disorder. It is generally used whendbgessions and compulsic
interfere with the patient’s ability to function@ally and occupationally.

Hydrocortisone Enema and its branded equivalente@ema are used for the treatment of ulceratiliés;@specially distal forms,
including ulcerative proctitis, ulcerative proctsioiditis, and left-sided ulcerative colitis. Thegucts have also proved useful in some cases
involving the transverse and ascending colons.

Methazolamide is indicated in the treatment of acebnditions where lowering intraocular pressarkkely to be of therapeutic benefit,
such as chronic open-angle glaucoma, secondargatzas and preoperatively in acute angle-closurecglana where lowering the intraocular
pressure is desired before surgery.

Metoclopramide and its branded equivalent Reglarpagscribed for periods of four to twelve weekadinlts with symptomatic,
documented gastroesophageal reflux who fail tomedpo conventional therapy. The products relieagiche heartburn and heartburn after
meals and also help ulcers in the esophagus to Hiealproducts also relieve symptoms associatduacitite and recurrent diabetic gastric
stasis and help treat symptoms such as nauseaimgpnhieartburn, feeling full long after a mealddass of appetite.

Opium Tincture is used is to treat diarrhea in tdioy slowing the movement of the intestines ardehesing the number and frequency of
bowel movements.

Lithobid is indicated in the treatment of manicseples of bipolar disorder. Lithobid is also indézhes a maintenance treatment for
individuals with a diagnosis of bipolar disorderaivtenance therapy reduces the frequency and ityterisnanic episodes.

Vancocin is indicated for the treatment of C. difé-associated diarrhea, as well as enterocalitissed by staphylococcus aureus
(including methicillin-resistant strains). The cales are not effective for other types of infecipas the drug is not systematically absorbed.




Markets

In determining which products to pursue for develept, we target products that are complex to mawrfa and therefore have higher
barriers to entry. These factors provide opporiesitor growth consistent with our competitive stgths at the same time that they decrease tl
number of potential competitors in the marketstfi@se products. These markets currently includmboe and steroidal drugs, oncolytics, anc
narcotics and complex formulations, including exexh release and combination products.

Hormone and Steroidal Drug

The market for hormone and steroidal drugs inclideaone therapy to alleviate menopausal symptomgimen, contraceptives,
testosterone replacement therapies for men, amdpies for treating hormone-sensitive cancers.

Hormone Therapy (“HT”) has been an accepted mettieatment for alleviating the symptoms of menopagiace the 1930s, with formal
FDA approval for that use granted in 1942. InitiaHT consisted of estrogen only, but has evoleeith¢lude combination therapies of
estrogen, progesterone and androgens. We tardmt pioducts in the HT and steroidal products mdiketeveral reasons, including:

« Hormone and steroid products are a core competesssd on our manufacturing and product developteants' long history of
manufacturing these types of products;
» The aging baby boom population, of which womenespnt a majority, is expected to support contirgredvth in the HT market.

Oncolytics

We are positioned to develop and manufacture rocieelytic (anti-cancer) drugs due to the capabsinf our containment facility and our
expertise in manufacturing segregation. In paréicule are targeting products subject to priostyiew by the FDA — those with no blocking
patents and no generic competition. In additioarte such product for which we filed an ANDA wittetRDA in 2014, we have identified
additional priority review opportunities in oncaba.
Narcotics

Our main manufacturing facility in Baudette, Minng&sis licensed by the DEA for the manufacture distribution of Schedule I
narcotics, i.e., drugs considered to have a higis@bisk but that also have safe and accepted aledies. In addition to our existing pipeline
of four ANDAS, we have identified additional produtevelopment opportunities in this market.
Contract Manufacturing

We manufacture pharmaceutical products for seveeaided and generic companies, who outsource piiodun order to:

« Free-up internal resources to focus on sales amkletirag as well as research and development;
« Employ internal capacity to manufacture higher waduor more critical products; and
« Utilize our specialized equipment and expertise.

Given our highly specialized manufacturing capéibsi, we are focused on attracting niche contraiufacturing opportunities that fill
idle capacity and offer high margins.




Manufacturing, Suppliers and Raw Materials

We require a supply of quality raw materials, imthg active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”), asamponents to manufacture and
package our pharmaceutical products. In order toufa@ture Opium Tincture, we must submit a reqteetite DEA each year for a quota to
purchase the amount of opium needed to manufatttarproduct for the following year. Without an apyed quota from DEA, we would not
be able to purchase this ingredient from our seppli

We source the raw materials for our products frarhldomestic and international suppliers that wect®n the basis of their quality,
reliability of supply, and long-term financial sthtty. Generally, we qualify only a single sourceARPI for use in each product due to the cost
and time required to validate and qualify a secemutce of supply. Any change in one of our API digpp must usually be approved through &
Prior Approval Supplement by the FDA. Certain of &Pl for our drug products, including those theg enarketed without approved NDAs or
ANDAs, such as EEMT, are sourced from internatiaugdpliers. From time to time, we have experierteatporary disruptions in the supply
of certain of such imported API due to FDA inspecs.

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulatedh®yfederal government and we are subject to exteasid complex regulation,
including physical inspection of our facilities,der multiple federal statutes, which are subjecttasion from time to time. While we have
experience with these regulations, there can beseorance that we will be able to fully comply wathapplicable regulations.

Branded and Generic Pharmaceutical Produc

Prescription pharmaceutical products in the UnBtates are generally marketed as either brandgédrnaric drugs. Branded products are
generally patent protected, which provides a peoiotharket exclusivity during which time they amdsby the developer of the product with
little or no competition for the compound, althoughically there are other products in the sameatheutic area.

All prescription pharmaceutical products, whethemided or generic, must be approved by the FDAap{lllications for FDA approval
must contain information relating to product foraidn, raw material suppliers, stability, manufaictg processes, packaging, labeling and
quality control. Information to support the bioeeplence of generic drug products or the safetyedfettiveness of new drug products for their
intended use is also required to be submitted.éraer generally two types of applications usedhtaining FDA approval of new products:

New Drug Application (“NDA”)—An NDA is filed when approval is sought to markenewly developed branded product and, in
certain instances, for a new dosage form, a neivatglsystem or a new indication for an approvathdiVe market Cortenema, generic
Hydrocortisone Enema, Lithobid, generic Fluvoxanmif@eate, Reglan, and Vancocin under approved NDAs.

Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA’An ANDA is filed when approval is sought to markegeneric equivalent of a drug
approved under an NDA. We market Metoclopramide Methazolamide under approved ANDAs. We have subkohigix ANDAs and he
an additional eight ANDAS in our pipeline as of Beter 31, 2014.

The ANDA development process is generally less-ttmesuming and less complex than the NDA developmetess. It typically does
not require new preclinical and clinical studiescéuse it relies on the studies establishing safatyefficacy conducted for the branded drug
approved through the NDA process. The ANDA prochesiever, typically requires one or more bioequenak studies to show that the
ANDA drug is bioequivalent to the previously appedweference listed drug (“RLD").




The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraict of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Actprovides that generic drugs may enter
market after the approval of an ANDA, which reqgif&) that bioequivalence to the branded produddmonstrated through clinical studies,
and (2) either the expiration, invalidation or cintvention of any patents or the end of any othlewest market exclusivity periods related to
the branded drug.

Accordingly, generic products generally provideateseffective, and cost-efficient alternative sets of branded products. Growth in the
generic pharmaceutical industry has been drivethéyncreased market acceptance of generic dreggelhas the number of branded drugs
which patent terms and/or other market exclusisitiave expired.

Generic products are generally introduced to thekatplace after the expiration of patent protecfimmthe branded product and after the
end of a period of non-patent market exclusivityatidition to patent exclusivity, the holder of thBA may be entitled to a period of non-
patent market exclusivity, during which the FDA pahapprove an application for a generic prodddhd NDA also is a new chemical entity
(“NCE"), the FDA may not approve an ANDA for a geiegoroduct for up to five years following approwaithe NDA for the NCE. If it is not
an NCE, but the holder of the NDA conducted clihtdals essential to approval of the NDA or a sieppent thereto, the FDA may not appr
an ANDA for the branded product before the expiratf three years. Certain other periods of exeitysmay be available if the branded drug
is indicated for treatment of a rare disease studied for pediatric indications.

In order to obtain FDA approval of NDAs and ANDAwr manufacturing procedures and operations mugbon to FDA requirements
and guidelines, generally referred to as “cGMP.& Téquirements for FDA approval encompass all asm#c¢he production process, including
validation and recordkeeping, the standards arehidh are continuously changing and evolving. Assult, we must consistently keep pace
and comply with these changes.

Our facilities, procedures, operations and testingroducts are subject to periodic inspectioni®yEDA, the DEA, and other authorities.
In addition, the FDA conducts pre-approval and {aggiroval reviews and plant inspections to determihether our systems and processe:!
in compliance with cGMP and other FDA regulatioDsir suppliers are subject to similar regulationd periodic inspections.

Controlled Substances

The DEA regulates certain drug products contaimioigtrolled substances, pursuant to the U.S. Cdett@ubstances Act (“CSA”).
Opium, which is a significant component of one of ourrent products, Opium Tincture, is classifésda controlled substance. The CSA and
DEA regulations impose specific requirements on ufiacturers and other entities that handle thesstanbes including registration,
recordkeeping, reporting, storage, security, asttidution. Recordkeeping requirements include anting for the amount of product receiv
manufactured, stored, and distributed. Companiadiimg controlled substances also are requiredamtain adequate security and to report
suspicious orders, thefts, and significant los§as. DEA periodically inspects facilities for comgolice with the CSA and its regulations. Fai
to comply with current and future regulations af DEA could lead to a variety of sanctions, inchgdievocation or denial of renewal of DEA
registrations, injunctions, or civil or criminal megties.

In addition, we must submit an annual requestéddBA for a quota to purchase the amount of opitemeed to manufacture Opium
Tincture for the year. Without an approved quotafiDEA, we would not be able to purchase this idgmet from our supplier. As a result, we
are dependent each year upon the DEA to approveta fpr opium large enough to support our contiheranufacture of Opium Tincture.




Unapproved Products

Two of our products, EEMT and Opium Tincture, ar@rketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs. The FDAigy with respect to the
continued marketing of unapproved products appedise FDA's September 2011 Compliance Policy G&de. 440.100 titled "Marketed
New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Undeiigtpolicy, the FDA has stated that it will followrigk-based approach with regard to
enforcement against marketing of unapproved pradddte FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforcemaetion on a case-by-case basis, but
gives higher priority to enforcement action agajmstducts in certain categories, such as thosepuitbntial safety risks or that lack evidenc
effectiveness. While we believe that, so long asemply with applicable manufacturing standards,FBDA will not take action against us
under the current enforcement policy, we can affeassurances that the FDA will continue this potic not take a contrary position with any
individual product or group of products.

Medicaid/Medicare

Medicaid and Medicare, both United States fedegalth care programs, are major purchasers of pleautiaal products, including those
we produce.

Medicaid is administered by the states and joifuthded by the federal and state governments. tissfis on low income populations. St
drug coverage policies under Medicaid may varyificantly state by state. The Patient Protectiod Affordable Care Act (“PPACA"), as
amended by the Health Care and Education and Riietioa Act of 2010, together known as the Affobdia Care Act ("ACA"), required stat
to expand their Medicaid programs to individualstwicomes up to 138% of the federal poverty leséthough the United States Supreme
Court in 2011 made the Medicaid expansion optiamalny states are expanding their Medicaid progrdimis. expansion of Medicaid cover
may increase usage of pharmaceutical products.

On the other hand, the ACA also made changes taddiedaw that could negatively impact us. In pautar, pharmaceutical
manufacturers must enter into rebate agreemerttsstéte Medicaid agencies, which require rebatesdan the drugs dispensed to Medicaid
beneficiaries. The ACA raised the rebate percestégeboth generic and branded pharmaceuticalsteéféeJanuary 1, 2010. The required
rebate is currently 13% of the average manufacfuiee for sales of Medicaid-reimbursed productskated under ANDAs. Sales of
Medicaid-reimbursed products marketed under NDAsiire manufacturers to rebate the greater of 22fifbe average manufacturer price or
the difference between the average manufacturers and the "best price” (as defined in the Medicdiatute) during a specific period. We
believe that federal and/or state governments roatirue to enact measures aimed at reducing thetdsugs to the Medicaid program.

Medicare is run entirely by the federal governnmamd is largely focused on the elderly and disablé@. Medicare Modernization Act of
2003 (“MMA") created Medicare Part D to provide geeption drug coverage for Medicare beneficiaridse MMA has increased usage of
pharmaceuticals, which is a trend that we belieillecantinue to benefit the generic pharmaceutindustry. The ACA made some changes to
Part D to make it easier for Medicare beneficiaresbtain drugs, such as reducing coinsurance atao0n the other hand, the ACA also
required pharmaceutical companies to provide distsoio Medicare Part D beneficiaries for the cddiranded prescription drugs. Under the
Medicare Coverage Gap Discount Program authorigatddd ACA, any pharmaceutical product marketed uateNDA, regardless of whether
the product is marketed as a "generic," is sultgetiie discount requirement. Our Hydrocortisonern@and Fluvoxamine Maleate, while
marketed as "generics," are actually marketed uaplproved NDAs and, therefore, are subject to theodnt requirement. We benefit from
Medicare changes that have reduced obstacles goudage. However, resulting sales increases maffset by existing and future legislative
efforts to curb the cost of drugs to the Medicaxegpam.

Several of our products are covered by MedicaidMadicare. Our reporting and payment obligationdasrthe Medicaid rebate program
and other governmental purchasing and rebate pregase complex and may involve subjective decisidny determination that we have
failed to comply with those obligations could sudbjes to penalties and sanctions, and we couldibjest to federal or state false claims
litigation.




Research and Development

We develop new generic products through a comlmnaif internal development and fee-for-servicersgeanents with other firms.
Additionally, we license and co-develop productetiyh collaborations with other companies as nbeddw. During the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, our research and geweld expenses were $2.7 million and $1.7 millrespectively.

Dexcel

In June 2014, we entered into a collaboration agezs with Dexcel Pharma Technologies Ltd ("Dexctd"fommercialize and sell a
generic drug product (the "June 2014 Dexcel AgredifieThe product is subject to FDA approval of EXDA filing. In general, Dexcel will
be responsible for the manufacturing and regulasaiymission of the product, including obtaining rmwal of the ANDA, and we will provide
payments based on the completion of certain mitestoUpon approval, Dexcel will manufacture thegdand we will be responsible for the
marketing and distribution, under our label, of ineduct in the United States, providing a perogataf profits from sales of the drug to
Dexcel.

Under the June 2014 Dexcel Agreement, Dexcel with all the rights, title and interest in the prodluring the term of the June 2014
Dexcel Agreement, both parties are prohibited fadmweloping, selling, or distributing any productlie United States that is identical or
bioequivalent to the product covered under the i@l Dexcel Agreement. The June 2014 Dexcel Agee¢itan be terminated or amended
under certain specified circumstances. The Jund P@kcel Agreement has an initial term of five yefmom the launch of the product, which
term can be renewed for two year terms if bothipadgree, until either party terminates the agesgm

Sofgen Pharmaceutical
August 2013 Sofgen Agreem

In August 2013, we entered into an agreement watflgéh Pharmaceuticals (“Sofgen”) to develop an soétl gel prescription product
indicated for cardiovascular health (the “August2&ofgen Agreement”). The product will be subjecain ANDA filing once developed. In
general, Sofgen will be responsible for the develept, manufacturing and regulatory submission eftoduct, including preparation of the
ANDA, and we will provide payments based on the plation of certain milestones. Upon approval, Sofgél manufacture the drug and we
will be responsible for the marketing and distribot under our label, of the product in the Unifddtes, providing a percentage of profits fron
sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen will own alltights, title and interest in the product. Durthg term of the Agreement, both part
are prohibited from developing, manufacturing,ieglior distributing any product in the United Statkat is identical or bioequivalent to the
product covered under the Sofgen Agreement. ThgeBoAgreement may be terminated or amended und@ircepecified circumstances.

April 2014 Sofgen Agreeme

In April 2014, we entered into a second collabaratgreement with Sofgen to develop an oral sdfpgescription product (the "April
2014 Sofgen Agreement”). The product will also bleject to an ANDA filing once developed. In gene&dfgen will be responsible for the
development, manufacturing and regulatory submissfahe product, including preparation of the ANDa#xd we will provide payments bas
on the completion of certain milestones. Upon apgikdSofgen will manufacture the drug and we wéldesponsible for the marketing and
distribution, under our label, of the product ie tdnited States, providing a percentage of prérfits sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the April 2014 Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen @il all the rights, title and interest in the prodWuring the term of the April 2014
Sofgen Agreement, both parties are prohibited fd@weloping, selling or distributing any productlie United States that is identical or
bioequivalent to the product covered under the |14 Sofgen Agreement. The April 2014 Sofgen A&grent can be terminated or amendec
under certain specified circumstances. The April28ofgen Agreement has an initial term of ten yéa@m the launch of the product, which
term will automatically renew for two year termgtilimither party terminates the agreement.




RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, we entered into a collaborative ageament with RiconPharma LLC (“RiconPharma”). Unther parties' master product
development and collaboration agreement (the “R¢amma Agreement”), we and RiconPharma have agoesullaborate in a cost, asset and
profit sharing arrangement for the development, ufecturing, regulatory approval and marketing adiphaceutical products in the United
States.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for devalpghie products and we are responsible for manuiagt sales, marketing and
distribution of the products. The parties are jginésponsible for directing any bioequivalencedgts. We are responsible for obtaining and
maintaining all necessary regulatory approvalduitiog the preparation of all ANDAs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless othespiscified in an amendment, the parties will oguadly all the rights, title and
interest in the products. To the extent permittgabplicable law, we will be identified on the pumd packaging as the manufacturer and
distributor of the product. During the term of tigreement, both parties are prohibited from dewetppnanufacturing, selling or distributing
any products that are identical or bioequivalergrimducts covered under the RiconPharma Agreerfibetagreement may be terminated or
amended under certain specified circumstances.

Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

We own the trademark names for each of our brapdediicts, Cortenema, Lithobid, Reglan, and Vancdsenerally, the branded
pharmaceutical business relies upon patent proteti ensure market exclusivity for the life of freent. We do not own or license any
patents associated with these products. Furtheghpprotection and market exclusivity for thesargled products have expired. Therefore, we
consider the trademark names to be of materiakevahd we act to protect these rights from infringetnHowever, our business is not
dependent upon any single trademark. Trademarlegioh continues in some countries as long as usedher countries, as long as
registered. Registration is for fixed terms and hayenewed indefinitely. We believe that saleswfbranded products have benefited and
will continue to benefit from the value of the pumtl name.

We have licensed the right to manufacture and méafkeoxamine Maleate, an authorized generic versioLuvox® IR, from Jazz
Pharmaceuticals, which in turn acquired the rightsuvox® IR from Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. This licerssamiaddition to a
manufacturing and supply agreement with Jazz Phagutizals, under which we manufacture and supply Pdarmaceuticals' requirements
for Luvox ® IR. Under the license agreement, Jazz Pharmacksutiaasferred responsibility for the related NbAus. The license agreement
may be terminated by Jazz Pharmaceuticals if thea@dicense agreement is terminated, if we bremathefault in the performance or
observance of any material provisions of the agesgrar the related supply agreement and such b@adéfault is not cured within 60 days
after written notice is received, in the case dbmtary or involuntary bankruptcy filings by/agdins, if we do not make royalty payments
when due, or in the event we receive an adversinfinletter from the FDA relating to the NDA andeisher not able to cure or provide
evidence of a reasonable plan to cure within 3G ddiyeceipt of such adverse finding letter, amotigr events. We may terminate the
agreement with the consent of Jazz Pharmaceutstath, consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

Customers
Our customers purchase and distribute our prod@ats products are sold by four major retail pharynettains: Walgreens, CVS, RiteAid
and WalMart, and are included in the source programs wif foajor national wholesalers: Cardinal, McKesgamgerisourceBergen and Mor

Dickson, which are also wholesale customers. Intiaahgl our customers include national mail ordeug®s, including Anda, ExpressScripts,
and Omnicare, as well as group purchasing orgaairat
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In recent years, the wholesale distributor networkpharmaceutical products has been subject te@sing consolidation, which has
increased the concentration of our wholesale custenin addition, the number of retail market ckand, in particular, the number of
independent drug stores and small chains, hasaksdes retail consolidation has occurred, alseasing the concentration of our retail
customers. As a result of this trend toward codsibn, a smaller number of companies each coatlaiger share of pharmaceutical
distribution channels. For the year ended Decer8beP014, approximately 65% of our net revenueswaributable to three key wholesale
McKesson Corporation (27%), Cardinal Health, Ir&1%), and AmerisourceBergen Corporation (17%).tReryear ended December 31, 2!
these three wholesales accounted for approxim&tty of our net revenues. In addition, as notedvbedmr customers also distribute our
products. The loss of any of these customers, diguin their role as distributors, could have aeral adverse effect on our business.

Consistent with industry practice, we maintain tame policy that allows customers to return produithin a specified period prior to and
subsequent to the expiration date. Generally, miehay be returned for a period beginning six msmhor to its expiration date to up to one
year after its expiration date. See "Managemenssu3sion and Analysis of Results of Operationskindncial Conditio—Critical
Accounting Estimates" for a discussion of our aatgdior chargebacks, rebates, returns, and otlwvaices.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution
We sell and market our products in the United Stadaur products are distributed through the follmyvchannels:

« Wholesalers. We have contracts with four major wholesalerthsUnited States: Cardinal, McKesson, AmerisouecgBn, and Morris
Dickson, as well as access to their respectivél sgiarce programs

« Retail Market Chains. We conduct business with four major retail chamthe United States: Walgreens, CVS, RiteAid, Whal-Mart.

« Distributors and Mail Order Pharmacies We have contracts with several major distributord mail order pharmacies in the United
States, including Anda, ExpressScripts, and Omai

« Hospital Market. We have contracts with group purchasing orgainiaatin the United States, such as Premiere, Mestdshlinnesota
Multi-State, and the Federal Supply Sched"FS¢£”).

Competition

Our products face limited competition due to comjties in formulation, active pharmaceutical ingesd sourcing, materials handling ¢
manufacturing, and regulatory hurdles. Neverthelesscompete with numerous other pharmaceuticapeones, including large, global
pharmaceutical manufacturers capable of addre#isesg complexities and hurdles with respect to yetsdthat we currently produce and
products that are in our pipeline. In addition, ptwducts are subject to competition from otheregiernproducts and noprescription alternati
therapies.

Our branded pharmaceutical products currently éarepetition from generic products and may contittuiace competition from generic
products in the future. In order to launch a genproduct, a manufacturer must apply to the FDAafo ANDA showing that the generic
product is therapeutically equivalent to the RLBe¢ “Government Regulation.”)

The primary means of competition among generic dnagufacturers are pricing, contract terms, senéeels, and reliability. To compete
effectively, we seek to consistently produce higialiyy, reliable, and effective products. We alstablish active working relationships with
each of our customers, continually gather impontaatket information in order to respond succesgfallrequests for proposals, maintain
sufficient inventories to assure high service Isyahd work to reduce product costs by sourcingouadifying alternative suppliers whenever
possible and rebidding product components on ameliasis.
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Our sales can be impacted by new studies thatatelibat a competitor's product has greater effitia@n one of our products. If
competitors introduce new products with therapeatticost advantages, our products can be subj@cotressive price reductions and/or
decreased volume of sales.

Principal competitors for pharmaceutical marketa/iich we do business are as follows:

Hormones and SteroidsCompetition for hormone and steroidal drugs istkieh because of the small number of plants in thi¢dd States
capable of safely manufacturing these high-poterypounds. Current generic participants in hormamkesteroidal drugs include Amneal
Pharmaceuticals, Creekwood Pharmaceuticals, EndorRiteuticals, Glenmark Pharmaceuticals, Watsomiftauticals, and Teva
Pharmaceuticals USA.

Oncolytics. Competitors for oncolytic products include both-tter generic pharmaceutical companies as wealia®e players. Current
market participants include Mylan, Par Pharmacau@mmpanies, Sandoz, the generic pharmaceutinassoth of Novartis AG, Watson
Pharmaceuticals, and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA.

Narcotics. Although market share in narcotic products is emiated among two principal companies, i.e., Paiffluarma and
Mallinckrodt, several other companies with mateniarket share in specific product categories witfarcotics include Lannett, Endo
Pharmaceuticals, Roxane Laboratories, and Watsamiiteuticals.

Pharmaceutical Industry Trends

In recent years, the pharmaceutical industry hasranced significant consolidation, particulanydistribution channels and amongst
generic and brand drug companies.

The wholesale distributor network for pharmaceluicaducts has been subject to increasing congs@itavhich has increased the
concentration of our wholesale customers. In agigjitihe number of retail market chains and, inipaldr, the number of independent drug
stores and small chains, has decreased as ratablodation has occurred, also increasing the aonagon of our retail customers. As a result
of this trend toward consolidation, a smaller numifecompanies each control a larger share of pheentical distribution channels.

In addition, consolidation amongst pharmaceutioahiganies has created opportunities by reducinguhgber of competitors. However,
competitors grow larger through consolidation, sdhkir resources. Larger competitors may be abéggressively decrease prices in order tc
gain market share on certain products and may tesairces that would allow them to more effectivabrket their products to potential
customers.

Product Liability

Product liability litigation represents an inhereisk to all firms in the pharmaceutical industWe utilize traditional third-party insurance
policies with regard to our product liability cladmSuch insurance coverage at any given time teftaerent market conditions, including cost
and availability, when the policy is written.

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan and its genequivalent metoclopramide, including ANI, areifay allegations from plaintiffs in
various states, including California, New Jerseg Bennsylvania, claiming bodily injuries as a resfiingestion of metoclopramide or its
brand name, Reglan, prior to the FDA's Februan®ZB@ck Box warning requirement. In August 2012, were dismissed with prejudice frc
all New Jersey cases. We consider our exposutadditigation to be limited due to several factdi) the only generic metoclopramide that
manufactured prior to the implementation of the F#arning requirement was an oral solution intastbafter May 28, 2008; (2) our market
share for the oral solution was a very small portibthe overall metoclopramide market; and (3)eowe received a request for change of
labeling from the FDA, we submitted our proposedraes within 30 days, and such changes were sulrsiygapproved by the FDA.
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At the present time, we are unable to assesskily butcome of the cases in the remaining st@eas.insurance company has assumed tf
defense of this matter. However, our current prodability insurance policy contains absolute axgibns for claims related to Reglan and
metoclopramide. We cannot provide assurancestibaiutcome of these matters will not have an aéveffect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results. Furthermore, éikgpharmaceutical manufacturers, we may be exptisether product liability claims in the
future, which could further limit our coverage unfigure insurance policies or cause those polimdsecome more expensive, which could
harm our business, financial condition, and opegatesults.

Backlog

We had a backlog of $1.2 million and $2.1 millicrDeecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, rgJatrcontract manufacturing
purchase orders from customers.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 our workforce included @Rtfme employees, including 49 salaried employeesl a flexible direct labor pool
of 40 experienced pharmaceutical manufacturingmauttaging staff. Of the 92 full-time employees,a8é in selling, general and
administrative, 23 in production and five in restsand development.
Seasonality of Business

We do not believe our business is subject to sedisprHowever, our business can be subject toadfetted by the business practices of
our business partners. To the extent that theahiliiy of inventory or materials from or developmigractices of our partners is seasonal, our
sales may be subject to fluctuations quarter tatquar year over year.
Segment Information

We operate in one segment and all our operatiansghe United States. Total revenues from extennstomers for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $56.0 million @@I$million, respectively. Net income for the yeanded December 31, 2014 and 2013

was $28.7 million and $0.3 million, respectivelytal assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were®&6Bion and $44.5 million,
respectively.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

The following are significant factors known to h&t could materially harm our business, finanataidition or operating results or could
cause our actual results to differ materially froom anticipated results or other expectationsyiticlg those expressed in any forward-looking
statement made in this report. The risks descrévedot the only risks facing us. Additional risksd uncertainties not currently known to us,
or that we currently deem to be immaterial, alsy adversely affect our business, financial conditmd operating results. If any of these r
actually occur, our business, financial conditiang operating results could suffer significantlhg. &result, the market price of our common
stock could decline and investors could lose aflat of their investment.

Risks Related to our Industry

Two of our products, which together comprised 53%oar total revenue in 2014, are marketed withoyt@oved New Drug
Applications (NDAs") or Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDA") and we can offer no assurances that the U.S.délcand Drug
Administration (‘FDA”) will not require us to either seek approvdbr these products or withdraw them from the markét either case, our
business, financial position, and operating resulteuld be materially adversely affected.

Two of our products, Esterified Estrogen with Mdtagtosterone (“EEMT”) and Opium Tincture, are neded without approved NDAs or
ANDAs. During the years ended December 31, 201428, revenues for EEMT were 42% and 33% of t@atnue, respectively and
revenues from Opium Tincture were 11% and 16% tai trevenue, respectively.

The FDA's policy with respect to the continued negirkg of unapproved products appears in the FDAfgeSnber 2011 Compliance Pol
Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs with&pproved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, ti®A has stated that it will follow
a riskbased approach with regard to enforcement agaiatating of unapproved products. The FDA evaluatesther to initiate enforceme
action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higlanitgrto enforcement action against products irtaia categories, such as those with potentiz
safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiven&ghile we believe that, so long as we comply veifiplicable manufacturing standards, the
FDA will not take action against us under the cotienforcement policy, we can offer no assurancasthe FDA will continue this policy or
not take a contrary position with any individuabguct or group of products.

In addition, we manufacture a group of productdehalf of a contract manufacturing customer andivecroyalties on the customer’s
sales of products, which are marketed by that custavithout an FDA-approved NDA or ANDA. If the FDtok enforcement action against
such customer, the customer may be required toBékapproval for the group of products or withdrthvem from the market, which could
materially adversely affect our contract manufaomand royalty revenues. Our contract manufacturé@venues from this group of
unapproved products for the years ended Decemh&@03% and 2013 were 2.2% and 6.5% of total revemespectively. Our royalties on the
net sales of these unapproved products for thesysated December 31, 2014 and 2013 were 0.5% a#iedf.total revenues, respectively.

Imported active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API'are subject to inspection by the FDA and the FDAnceefuse to permit the
importation of API for use in products that are mieted without approved NDAs or ANDAs. We are ertirdependent on imported API to
make EEMT. If the FDA detained or refused to allothie importation of such API, our revenues from EEMWould be reduced or
eliminated and our business, financial position, droperating results could be materially adverseffeated.

We source some of the API for our products, inalgdhose that are marketed without approved NDASNDAS, from international
suppliers. From time to time, due to FDA inspecsione have experienced temporary disruptions irstipply of imported API, including for
EEMT. Any prolonged disruption in the supply of iorfed API could materially affect our ability to m#acture and distribute our products,
such as EEMT, reduce or eliminate our revenues #&WT, and have a material adverse effect on osiness, financial position, and
operating results. In addition, as regulatory f@&ed compliance oversight of APl manufacturers iaseg this could result in certain companies
discontinuing their supply of API to ANI, which wiabmaterially affect ANI's ability to manufacturésiproducts.
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The FDA does not provide guidance on safety labglfior products that are marketed without approved®Ns or ANDAs. As a result,
we are dependent on our internal post-approval drsafety surveillance program to identify necessaafety-related changes to the labels
for EEMT and Opium Tincture.

Pharmaceutical product labels contain importargtgahformation including Black Box warnings, caaitrdications, dosing and
administration, adverse reactions, drug interastiose in specific populations such as pregnantempipediatric, and geriatric patients, and
other warnings and precautions. Pharmaceutical faaturers may change product labels when ppsgtoval drug safety surveillance progr:
identify previously unknown side-effects, drug matetions, and other risks. Manufacturers may atemge product labels after conducting
post-approval clinical studies and may receiveesksgyuidance from the FDA regarding updating sdtdigling information. However, the
FDA does not provide guidance on labeling for peiduhat are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs a result, we are dependen
our internal post-approval drug safety surveillapoegram to identify necessary safety-related charng the labels for EEMT and Opium
Tincture, which could increase our potential ligpilvith respect to failure-to-warn claims for tieegroducts. Such claims, even if successfully
defended, could have an adverse impact on our éssifinancial condition, and operating results.

We are entirely dependent on periodic approval bg Drug Enforcement Administration for the supplyf the APl needed to make
Opium Tincture and an inability to obtain such appval would reduce or eliminate our revenues fromi®m Tincture, and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finangmisition, and operating results. In addition, weesubject to strict regulation by the Drug
Enforcement Administratiorand are subject to sanctions if we are unable torqay with related regulatory requirements.

The Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) reguéatproducts containing controlled substances, asdpium, pursuant to the U.S.
Controlled Substances Act (“CSA”). The CSA and Diegulations impose specific requirements on marufacs and other entities that
handle these substances including registratiooyd&eeping, reporting, storage, security and distion. Recordkeeping requirements include
accounting for the amount of product received, nfactured, stored and distributed. Companies hagdiontrolled substances also are
required to maintain adequate security and to teqwmpicious orders, thefts and significant lossbs. DEA periodically inspects facilities for
compliance with the CSA and its regulations. Failtw comply with current and future regulationshaf DEA could lead to a variety of
sanctions, including revocation or denial of renegfdEA registrations, injunctions, or civil oriotinal penalties.

In addition, each year, we must submit a requestddEA for a quota to purchase the amount of dddded to manufacture Opium
Tincture. Without an approved quota from DEA, weuldonot be able to purchase this ingredient fromsupplier. As a result, we are entirely
dependent upon the DEA to approve, on an annué,l@aquota of API that is sufficiently large tgoport our plans for the continued
manufacture of Opium Tincture at commercial levels.

Pharmaceutical product quality standards are stelgdncreasing and all products, including those alady approved, may need to meet
current standards. If our products are not able toeet these standards, we may be required to discoatmarketing and/or recall such
products from the market

Steadily increasing quality standards are appletdipharmaceutical products still under develograed those already approved and on
the market. These standards result from produditgusitiatives implemented by the FDA, such agemia for residual solvents, and updated
U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention (“USP") Reference@&eds. The USP is a scientific nonprofit organarathat sets standards for the identity,
strength, quality, and purity of medicines, foodriedients, and dietary supplements manufactursttjliited, and consumed worldwide.
Pharmaceutical products approved prior to the impl&ation of new quality standards, including thpeduced by us, may not meet these
standards, which could require us to discontinugkatang and/or recall such products from the mar&ither of which could adversely affect
our business, financial position, and operatingltes

15




The continuing trend toward consolidation of cust@ngroups could result in declines in the saleswole and prices of our products,
and increased fees charged by customers, each affwbould have a material adverse effect on our lmess, financial position, and
operating results.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chairgdtores, and group purchasing organizationsdsasted in a smaller number of
companies, each controlling a larger share of phaeutical distribution channels. For example, airravenues are concentrated among thre
customers representing 27%, 21% and 17% of nehteee respectively, during the year ended DeceBibe2014. As of December 31, 2014,
accounts receivable from these three customerap@®ximately 73% of our net accounts receivableigivholesalers and retail pharmacy
chains, which represent an essential part of thtilolition chain for generic pharmaceutical produbive undergone, and are continuing to
undergo, significant consolidation. This consolidlatmay result in declines in our sales volumesélistomer is consolidated into another
company that purchases products from a competit@ddition, the consolidation of drug wholesalansl retail pharmacy chains could resu
these groups gaining additional purchasing leveaagkconsequently increasing the product pricirggures facing our business and enablin
those groups to charge us increased fees. Addityptize emergence of large buying groups reprasgrihdependent retail pharmacies and the
prevalence and influence of managed care orgaoimtnd similar institutions potentially enablesd@roups to extract price discounts on ou
products. The result of these developments may hamaterial adverse effect on our business, fidpasition, and operating results.

Our reporting and payment obligations under the Medid rebate program and other governmental purciagand rebate programs
are complex and may involve subjective decisionsy Aletermination that we have failed to comply witiose obligations could subject us to
penalties and sanctions, which could adversely affeur business, financial position, and operatimgsults.

The regulations regarding reporting and paymerigabbns with respect to Medicaid rebates and offeeernmental programs are
complex. Because our processes for these calandatiod the judgments involved in making these tatlicuns involve subjective decisions and
complex methodologies, these calculations are sttiyehe risk of errors. Our calculations and rodtflogies are subject to review and
challenge by governmental agencies, and it is plesgat such reviews could result in changes. datgrmination by governmental agencies
that we have failed to comply with our reportinglgrayment obligations could subject us to penaltres sanctions, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finammaltion, and operating results.

We may become subject to federal and state falagrd litigation brought by private individuals anthe government.

We are subject to state and federal laws that gother submission of claims for reimbursement. Téddral False Claims Act (“FFCA”),
also known as Qui Tam, imposes civil liability agritninal fines on individuals or entities that kniogly submit, or cause to be submitted, f
or fraudulent claims for payment to the governm¥inlations of the FFCA and other similar laws mragult in criminal fines, imprisonment,
and civil penalties for each false claim submied exclusion from federally funded health caregpams, including Medicare and Medicaid.
The FFCA also allows private individuals to bringuat on behalf of the government against an irtligl or entity for violations of the FFCA.
These suits, also known as Qui Tam actions, mayrdeght by, with only a few exceptions, any priveitizen who has material information of
a false claim that has not yet been previouslyloisa. These suits have increased significanttg@ent years because the FFCA allows an
individual to share in any amounts paid to the fablgovernment from a successful Qui Tam actiooulf past or present operations are found
to be in violation of any of such laws or other kggble governmental regulations, we may be suligectvil and criminal penalties, damages,
fines, exclusion from federal health care prograansl/or the curtailment or restructuring of ourpiens, any of which could materially
adversely affect our business, financial positanm operating results. Actions brought against fiXViolations of these laws, even if
successfully defended, could also have a matatiadrae effect on our business, financial conditeord operating results.
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We face significant uncertainty with respect to thigation brought against us and other manufactars of metoclopramide and cannot
provide assurances that the outcome of the mattél mot have an adverse effect on our business dintial position, and operating result
In addition, we may be exposed to other producblldy claims in the future.

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan and its geneguivalent metoclopramide, including ANI, areif@callegations from plaintiffs in
various states, including California, New Jerseg Bennsylvania, claiming bodily injuries as a restiingestion of metoclopramide or its
brand name, Reglan, prior to the FDA's FebruangZBiack Box warning requirement. In August 2012, were dismissed with prejudice frc
all New Jersey cases. We consider our exposutagditigation to be limited due to several factdil) the only generic metoclopramide thai
manufactured prior to the implementation of the FDWarning requirement was an oral solution intaetlafter May 28, 2008; (2) our market
share for the oral solution was a very small portbthe overall metoclopramide market; and (3)eowe received a request for change of
labeling from the FDA, we submitted our proposedraes within 30 days, and such changes were sutrstyapproved by the FDA.

At the present time, we are unable to assesskbly lbutcome of the cases in the remaining st&@es.insurance company has assumed th
defense of this matter. However, our current prodability insurance policy contains absolute ersibns for claims related to Reglan and
metoclopramide. We cannot provide assuranceshbaiutcome of these matters will not have an aéveffect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results. Furthermore, #ikgpharmaceutical manufacturers, we may be exptsether product liability claims in the
future, which could further limit our coverage unfigure insurance policies or cause those polimdsecome more expensive, which could
harm our business, financial condition, and opegatesults.

A proposed FDA rule allowing generic companies tstribute revised labels that differ from the cogponding reference listed drug
(“RLD”) could have an adverse effect on our operatis because of a potential increase in litigatiorp@sure.

On November 13, 2013, the FDA issued a proposed(Rdcket No. FDA-2013-N-0500) titled "Supplemeriabplications Proposing
Labeling Changes for Approved Drugs and Biologi€tsuant to the proposed rule, the FDA is progptirchange existing regulations to
allow generic drug application holders, in advaotthe FDA's review, to distribute revised labeljng reflect safety-related changes based ol
newly acquired information. Currently, the labelgeneric drugs must conform to those of the cpoading RLD and any failure-to-warn
claims against generic companies are preempted Uwh8e Federal law. If this rule is issued, we cbioé found liable under such failure-to-
warn claims. The FDA has not yet issued a fina.rifithis proposed regulatory change is adoptezhuild increase our potential liability with
respect to failure-to-warn claims, which, evenu€sessfully defended, could have an adverse ingraour business, financial condition, and
operating results.

The use of legal, regulatory, and legislative segtes by competitors, both branded and genericluding "authorized generics,"
citizen's petitions, and legislative proposals, magrease the costs to develop and market our genproducts, could delay or prevent new
product introductions, and could reduce significdgtour profit potential. These factors could havenaaterial adverse effect on our busine
financial position, and operating result:

Our competitors, both branded and generic, oftesymilegal, regulatory, and/or legislative stratedd prevent or delay competition from
generic alternatives to branded products. Theaéesfies include, but are not limited to:

« entering into agreements whereby other generic aniep will begin to market an authorized generigemeric equivalent of a
branded product, at the same time generic compeiiitially enters the marke

« launching a generic version of their own brandemtipct at the same time generic competition initiathters the market;

« filing citizen's petitions with the FDA or otherg@latory bodies, including timing the filings sotaghwart generic competition by
causing delays of generic product approv

» seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstahkgswould make it more difficult to demonstratedgjuivalence or meet other
approval requirement
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« initiating legislative and regulatory efforts toniit the substitution of generic versions of branghdrmaceuticals;

« filing suits for patent infringement that may delagulatory approval of generic products;

« introducing "next-generation" products prior to thepiration of market exclusivity for the referemm®duct, which often materially
reduces the demand for the first generic proc

- Obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by coctihg clinical trials of branded drugs in pediatpigcpulations or by other potential
methods

« persuading regulatory bodies to withdraw the apgrro¥ branded name drugs for which the patentaboait to expire, thus allowing
the branded company to obtain new patented prodecting as substitutes for the products withdraavd

« seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for whidbmigrotection is about to expire.

If we cannot compete with such strategies, ourrtass, financial position, and operating resultddcbe adversely impacted.

If third-party payers deny coverage, substitute d@mer company’s product for our product, or offer adequate levels of reimbursement,
we may not be able to market our products effediive we may be required to offer our products atqes lower than anticipated.

Third-party payers are increasingly challengingghiees charged for medical products and servieesexample, third-party payers may
deny coverage, choose to provide coverage for gettuar’s bioequivalent product rather than ourduat, or offer limited reimbursement if
they determine that a prescribed product has rmeived appropriate clearances from the FDA, isusetd in accordance with cost-effective
treatment methods as determined by the third-geayer, or is experimental, unnecessary or inapatrPrices also could be driven down by
health maintenance organizations that controlgmiicantly influence purchases of healthcare smwiand products. If third-party payers deny
coverage or limit reimbursement, we may not be &blmarket our products effectively or we may bguieed to offer our products at prices
lower than anticipated.

We are subject to federal, state and local laws aedulations, and complying with these may causetasncur significant additional
costs.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regutebip various federal authorities, including the FEDi#e DEA, and state governmental
authorities. Federal and state statutes and régudagovern or influence the testing, manufacturpagking, labeling, storing, record keeping,
safety, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, disttibution of our products. Noncompliance wittpicable legal and regulatory requireme
can have a broad range of consequences, includingivg letters, fines, seizure of products, prodecalls, total or partial suspension of
production and distribution, refusal to approve NDgk other applications or revocation of approyasviously granted, withdrawal of product
from marketing, injunctions, withdrawal of licensasregistrations necessary to conduct businesgudlification from supply contracts with
the government, civil penalties, debarment and ioahprosecution.

All U.S. facilities where prescription drugs aremaéactured, tested, packaged, stored, or distribotest comply with FDA current good
manufacturing practices (“cGMPs"). All of our praris are manufactured, tested, packaged, stored]isiniduted according to cGMP
regulations. The FDA performs periodic audits tswer that our facilities remain in compliance wathapplicable regulations. If it finds
violations of cGMP, the FDA could make its concepublic and could impose sanctions including, ameothgrs, fines, product recalls, total
partial suspension of production and/or distriboitisuspension of the FDA's review of product appians, injunctions and civil or criminal
prosecution. If imposed, enforcement actions cbialee a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition, and operating results.
Under certain circumstances, the FDA also has utigoaity to revoke previously granted drug apprevallthough we have internal compliar
programs in place that we believe are adequatd;Bifemay conclude that these programs do not neggtlatory standards. If compliance is
deemed deficient in any significant way, it coulit/b a material adverse effect on our business.
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The U.S. government has enacted the Federal DrpglChain Security Act ("DSCSA") that requires dmpment of an electronic
pedigree to track and trace each prescription dtulge salable unit level through the distributsystem, which will be effective incrementally
over a 10-year period. Compliance with DSCSA aridr21U.S. federal or state electronic pedigreeireqents may increase the Company's
operational expenses and impose significant adtratige burdens.

Our research, product development, and manufagtagtivities involve the controlled use of hazarslawaterials, and we may incur
significant costs in complying with numerous lawsl aegulations. We are subject to laws and reguiatenforced by the FDA, the DEA, and
other regulatory statutes including the Occupati@adety and Health Act (“OSHA”), the EnvironmenRxotection Act, the Toxic Substances
Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recoietyand other current and potential federal estatcal and foreign laws and regulations
governing the use, manufacture, storage, handhdgdésposal of our products, materials used to ldgva@nd manufacture such products, and
resulting waste products. For example, some opoadlucts, including EEMT, must be manufactured fally contained environment due to
their potency and/or toxicity, and compliance wittated OSHA requirements is costly.

We cannot completely eliminate the risk of contaation or injury, by accident or as the result démtional acts, from these materials. In
the event of an accident, we could be held liabteahy damages that result, and any resultinglifalsiould exceed our resources. We may als
incur significant costs in complying with environntal laws and regulations in the future. We are alshject to laws generally applicable to
businesses, including but not limited to, fedestdfe and local regulations relating to wage and hmatters, employee classification,
mandatory healthcare benefits, unlawful workplaiserémination and whistle-blowing. Any actual otegjed failure to comply with any
regulation applicable to our business or any wéibtbwing claim, even if without merit, could resinl costly litigation, regulatory action or
otherwise harm our business, financial conditiowd aperating results.

Uncertainties associated with the impact of publeshstudies regarding the adverse health effectsetain forms of hormone therapy
could affect adversely the market for our hormonsogucts.

The market for hormone therapy products has bdentafl negatively by the Women's Health Initiatf\/HI") study and other studies
that have found that the overall health risks fittm use of certain hormone therapy products magezkthe benefits from the use of those
products among postmenopausal women. In July 2862\ ational Institutes of Health (“NIH") releasddta from its WHI study on the risks
and benefits associated with long-term use of looainone therapy by women. The NIH announced thaa# discontinuing the arm of the
study investigating the use of oral estrogen/priige®mbination hormone therapy products afterarage follow-up period of 5.2 years
because the product used in the study was showawtge an increase in the risk of invasive breasteraThe study also found an increased
of stroke, heart attacks and blood clots and caleziithat overall health risks exceeded benefits fuse of combined estrogen plus progestin
among postmenopausal women. Also, in July 2002/tsesf an observational study sponsored by théoNat Cancer Institute on the effects
estrogen therapy were announced. The main finditigeostudy was that postmenopausal women who estedgen therapy for 10 or more
years had a higher risk of developing ovarian cati@ women who never used hormone therapy. Inl2et2002, a significant hormo
therapy study being conducted in the United Kingddso was halted. In March 2004, the NIH annouribatithe estrogen-alone study was
discontinued after nearly seven years because ltHedhcluded that estrogen alone does not afféittgeincrease or decrease) heart disease,
the major question being evaluated in the stude. fifldings indicated a slightly increased risk wbke as well as a decreased risk of hip
fracture and breast cancer. Preliminary data fiosemtemory portion of the WHI study suggested tkt&ibgen alone may possibly be associ
with a slight increase in the risk of dementia didraognitive impairment.

Researchers continue to analyze data from both afithe WHI study and other studies. Some repodiate that the safety of estrogen
products may be affected by the age of the womanitgition of therapy. The markets for female homa therapies for menopausal symptoms
declined as a result of these published studies.rélease of any follow-up or other studies thaishdverse effects from hormone therapy,
including in particular, hormone therapies simt@the our products, also could adversely affecthmsiness, financial position, and operating
results .
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Continuing studies of our products could producegaive results, which could require us to implemetgk management programs, or
discontinue product marketing. In addition, ongoingost-approval drug safety surveillance of our prexls could result in the submission of
adverse event reports to the FDA.

Studies of the proper utilization, safety, andagffiy of pharmaceutical products are being condumydatie industry, government agencies,
and others on a continuous basis. Such studieshvitnireasingly employ sophisticated methods ackinigues, can call into question the
utilization, safety, and efficacy of current an@éypusly marketed products, including those thapwaluce. In addition, we are required by the
FDA to submit reports of adverse events involving tise of our products. In some cases, studiesadaty surveillance programs have
resulted, and in the future may result, in the enmore of the following:

» product label changes including FDA-mandated BBok warnings;

« risk management programs such as patient registries

» reduced product sales due to concerns among pa#adtphysicians; and
« discontinuance of product marketing.

These situations, should they occur with respeanioof our products, could have a material adveffezt on our business, financial
position, and operating results.

Companies with greater resources than us could Iglitongress and other regulators for additional rdgtions that would benefit their
businesses and negatively affect us.

We are at the early stages of growth and currelgtipot engage in lobbying activities. In the Us®me companies have lobbied Congres:
for amendments to the Drug Price Competition artériRa erm Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Wax#et”) that would give them
additional advantages over generic competitorseikample, although the term of a company's drugrpatan be extended to reflect a portion
of the time an NDA is under regulatory review, sarnenpanies have proposed extending the patenttigtime full amount of time spent in
clinical trials rather than by only one half of tfie that is currently permitted.

If proposals like these were to become effective,emtry into the market and our ability to genenatvenues associated with new product
may be delayed, reduced, or eliminated, which chalee a material adverse effect on our businasandial position, and operating results.

Healthcare reform legislation could have a materiatlverse effect on our business, financial positji@md operating results.

In recent years, there have been numerous inigiatm the federal and state levels for comprehemsiorms affecting the payment for,
availability of, and reimbursement for healthcagevices in the U.S., and it is likely that fedemall state legislatures and health agencies will
continue to focus on health care reform in therfutihe Patient Protection and Affordable Care PACA”) and the Health Care and
Education and Reconciliation Act of 2010, which aaethe PPACA (collectively, “the ACA"Wwere signed into law in March 2010. While -
ACA may increase the number of patients who haseramnce coverage for our products and may otheimésease drug coverage, it also
includes provisions such as, among others, thessigsmnt of a pharmaceutical manufacturer fee, tipginement that manufacturers provide
discounts to Medicare beneficiaries through the ikl@ Coverage Gap Discount program, and an iner@athe amount of rebates that
manufacturers pay for coverage of their drugs byliwkEd programs.

The cost-containment measures that governmentgragand healthcare insurers are instituting bothrasult of general cost pressure in
the industry and healthcare reforms containeden®6A may prevent us from maintaining prices for products that are sufficient for us to
realize profits and may otherwise harm our businf@sancial condition, and operating results. ldiéidn, to the extent that our products are
marketed outside of the U.S., foreign governmeiging controls and other regulations may preverfram maintaining prices for such
products that are sufficient for us to realize fisodind may otherwise harm our business, finamoadition, and operating results.
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We are unable to predict the future course of fadmr state healthcare legislation. The ACA andhfeir changes in the law or regulatory
framework that reduce our revenues or increaseasts could have a material adverse effect on osinbss, financial condition, and operat
results.

Risks Related to our Business

63% of our net revenues in the third and fourth grars of 2014 resulted from sales of EEMT, Lithobidnd Vancocin. During the
same period, these products accounted for only 1&%ur cost of sales. If we experience increasedhgetition for EEMT, or increasec
prescription erosion for Lithobid or Vancocin, oyprofitability could be reduced significantly and elusiness, financial position, an
operating results could be materially adverselyeadted.

We sell EEMT without an approved NDA or ANDA anchgarovide no assurances that the FDA will not rezjus to seek approval for t
product or withdraw it from the market. If the FD&quired us to obtain an approved NDA or ANDA iderto sell EEMT, our business,
financial condition, and operating results wouldnb&terially adversely affected. The costs of angetinvolved in obtaining an approved NDA
or ANDA would be significant and we may determirgg to pursue such approvals. Unless we were suat@sincreasing sales of other
products to replace any revenue lost from the sfabeir EEMT product, whether due to competition A-&ctions or otherwise, our business,
financial condition, and operating results wouldnbeterially harmed.

Lithobid and Vancocin are no longer patent-pradand face intense competition from lower-pricedagics. In addition, both products
compete with different drugs that treat the sameitions. These factors have resulted in a cordisége of decline in the number of
prescriptions for Lithobid and Vancocin. The intnation of additional competing generic and branpiestiucts could result in an even faster
rate of prescription erosion, which could have aemal adverse affect on our business, financiaitfmn, and operating results.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for ABenerally, only a single source of APl is qualifi€or use in each product due to
the costs and time required to validate a secondrse of supply. Changes in API suppliers must uslydbe approved through a Prior
Approval Supplement by the FD/

Our ability to manufacture and distribute produstdependent, in part, upon ingredients and compsrspplied by others, including
entities based outside the U.S. We purchased ajppately 42% and 37% of our inventory from two suerd during the years ended Decen
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Any disruptiothia supply of these ingredients or components pipaoblems in their quality could
materially affect our ability to manufacture andtdbute our products and could result in legdliliies that could materially affect our ability
to realize profits or otherwise harm our businéissncial, and operating results. Virtually allaifr contracts for the supply of pharmaceutical
products to customers contain "failure to supplgses. Therefore, our ability to source sufficignantities of API for manufacturing is
critical. We source the raw materials for our pratgduincluding API from both domestic and internatil suppliers. As the API typically
comprises the majority of a product's manufactwest, and qualifying an alternative is costly aimtetconsuming, API suppliers must be
selected carefully based on quality, reliabilitysapply and long-term financial stability.

Our anticipated revenue growth and profitabilityf, achieved, is dependent upon our ability to deyglticense, or acquire, and
commercialize new products on a timely basis iratén to our competitors' product introductions, anto address all regulatory
requirements applicable to the development and caneralization of new products. Our failure to do smccessfully could impair our
growth strategy and plans and could have a mateadlverse effect on our business, financial positji@nd operating results

Our future revenues and profitability are dependgain our ability to successfully develop, licens@cquire, and commercialize,
pharmaceutical products in a timely manner. Prodagelopment is inherently risky and time-consumitigewise, product licensing involves
inherent risks, including uncertainties due to eratthat may affect the achievement of milestoagsyell as the possibility of contractual
disagreements with regard to the supply of procheting specifications and terms such as licensigesor termination rights. The
development and commercialization process alsanegjgubstantial time, effort and financial res@stdVe may not be successful in
commercializing products on a timely basis, iflgtwahich could adversely affect our business, ficial position, and operating results.
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The FDA must approve any new prescription prodedébi® it can be marketed in the U.S. The procesbtzining regulatory approval to
manufacture and market branded and generic phattieaieproducts is rigorous, time consuming, coathgl largely unpredictable. We may be
unable to obtain requisite approvals on a timekiv#or branded or generic products that we magldgy license or acquire. Moreover, if we
obtain regulatory approval for a drug, we may b&tkd with respect to the indicated uses and delimeethods for which the drug may be
marketed, which in turn could restrict the potdntiarket for the drug. Also, for products pendippeoval, we may obtain raw materials or
produce batches of inventory. In the event thatilsgry approval is denied or delayed, we coul@xgosed to the risk of any such inventory
becoming obsolete. The timing and cost of obtaimegulatory approvals could adversely affect omdpict introduction plans, business,
financial position, and operating results.

The approval process for generic pharmaceuticalymis often results in the FDA granting simultareboal approval to a number of
generic pharmaceutical products at the time a pataim for a corresponding branded product or otharket exclusivity expires. This often
forces a generic firm to face immediate competitidren it introduces a generic product into the raarrkdditionally, further generic approv:
often continue to be granted for a given produbssquent to the initial launch of the generic patdiihese circumstances generally result in
significantly lower prices, as well as reduced nr@sgfor generic products compared to branded prisddlew generic market entrants
generally cause continued price and margin erasian the generic product life cycle. As a result,esould be unable to grow or maintain
market share with respect to our generic pharma@yroducts, which could have a material advefect on our ability to market that
product profitably and on our business, financ@ipon, and operating results.

Furthermore, if we are unable to address all regnfaequirements applicable to the developmentammercialization of new products
in a timely manner, our product introduction plamssiness, financial position, and operating restduld be materially adversely affected.

The FDA regulates and monitors all promotion andeaiising of prescription drugs after approval. plbmotion must be consistent with
the conditions of approval and submitted to thenageFailure to adhere to FDA promotional requiretsecan result in enforcement letters,
warning letters, changes to existing promotionatemal, and corrective notices to healthcare psiéesls. Promotion of a prescription drug
uses not approved by the FDA can have serious qaesees and result in lawsuits by private parttge governments and the federal
government, significant civil and criminal penadti@nd compliance agreements that require a contpathyange current practices and preven
unlawful activity in the future.

Future acquisitions and investments could disrupirdbusiness and harm our financial condition and epating results.

Our growth will depend, in part, on our continuddility to develop, commercialize, and expand owdurcts, including in response to
changing regulatory and competitive pressuresoiinescircumstances, we may determine to accelewitgrowth through the acquisition of
complementary businesses and technologies ratheitiihough internal development. The identificatidisuitable acquisition candidates or
products can be difficult, time-consuming and ggsthd we may not be able to successfully commetuccessfully execute strategies for
identified acquisitions. The risks faced in coni@tivith acquisitions include:

« diversion of management time and focus from opegatur business to addressing acquisition andfmymt integration challenges;

« coordination of research and development and salésnarketing functions;

« retention of key employees from the acquired corgpan

« integration of the acquired company’s accountirigrimation, management, human resources and otheinatrative systems;

« the need to implement or improve controls, procesluand policies at a business that prior to tiqeiaition may have lacked effecti
controls, procedures and polici
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« liability for activities of the acquired companydiar products before the acquisition, includinggpainfringement claims, violations
of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities artdey known and unknown liabilitie
- unanticipated write-offs or charges; and

- litigation or other claims in connection with theqaiired company or product, including claims froraquct users, former stockhold
or other third parties

In any acquisition that we may undertake, our failto address these risks or other problems enemdin connection with any
acquisitions and investments could cause us tadagalize the anticipated benefits of these agitijomns or investments, cause us to incur
unanticipated liabilities, and harm our businessegelly. Future acquisitions could also resultilntiie issuances of our equity securities, the
incurrence of additional debt, contingent liabélgtj amortization expenses, incremental operatipgreses or the write-off of goodwill, any of
which could harm our financial condition or opengtresults.

Our Medicaid rebate accruals have increased sigeéifintly due to our acquisitions of Lithobid and Vanocin and the estimates on which
our accruals are based are subject to change. Aagtschange could have a material adverse affectaur business, financial position, and
operating results.

Our Medicaid rebate accruals have increased sigmifiy due to our acquisitions of Lithobid and Vacion. We accrue for these rebates at
the time of sale based on our estimates of the atradwour product that will be prescribed to Mediicheneficiaries. The resulting accruals are
significant, and as Medicaid utilization trends @, we cannot guarantee that we will be able thicoe to estimate these rebates accurately
In addition, the Patient Protection and AffordaBlrre Act (“PPACA”) included a significant expansiofstate Medicaid programs. As more
individuals become eligible for coverage under ¢heograms, Medicaid utilization of our productsilcbincrease, resulting in a corresponding
increase in our rebate payments. Increases in Miediebate payments could decrease our revenuaspiraduct sales, including Lithobid and
Vancocin, which in turn could adversely affect business, financial position, results of operati@ms cash flows.

Although our male testosterone gel is approved g EDA, it does not have a bioequivalence ratingttallows automatic substitution
for the RLD. If Teva does not begin to market orlsthe product, or is not successful in such effsrtthe value of our associated intangit
asset could be impaired.

We licensed our male testosterone gel product W@ &ad pursuant to the license, we would receiyelties from Teva's sales of our male
testosterone gel. The FDA did not grant the produgibequivalency rating that allows automatic sitison for the RLD. As a result, we are
uncertain as to when or if Teva will begin to madr&ed sell the product and thus when or if we wdaddin to receive royalties from such se
Our intangible asset related to the Teva licenseshzarrying value of $9.4 million at December3114. If Teva does not begin to market or
sell the product, or is not successful in suchreffahe fair value of the intangible asset mayelss than its carrying value, which could resu
an impairment charge that could have a materiahtinagimpact on our business, financial positiord aperating results.
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We face vigorous competition from other pharmatieal manufacturers that threatens the commerciat@ptance and pricing of our
products. If we are unable to successfully competach competition could have a material adverseseffon our business, financial positio
and operating results.

The generic pharmaceutical industry is highly cetitive. We face intense competition from U.S. &mreéign manufacturers, many of
whom are significantly larger than us. Our compegitmay be able to develop products and processegatitive with or superior to ours for
many reasons, including but not limited to the fobty that they may have:

« greater financial resources;

« proprietary processes or delivery systems;

« larger research and development and marketingsstaff
« larger production capabilities;

« more products; or

« more experience in developing new drugs.

Any of our significant competitors, due to one arrmof these and other factors, could have a nahi@diverse effect on our business,
financial position, and operating results.

Our approved products may not achieve commercidlmaat levels of market acceptance that allow osachieve profitability, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busisiefnancial position, and operating results.

We seek to develop, license or acquire productsihacan commercialize at levels of market acceggtdhat would allow us to recoup our
costs, grow market share, and achieve profitabititsen if we are able to obtain regulatory apprevai our pharmaceutical products, if we fail
to predict accurately demand for such productsposiness, financial position, and operating restdiuld be adversely affected. Levels of
market acceptance for our products could be impaayeseveral factors, including but not limited to:

« availability of alternative products from our contipa's;

« our products’ pricing relative to that of our cortipm@s;

« our marketing effectiveness relative to that of competitors;

« timing of our market entry;

« our ability to market our products effectively teetretail level; and
« acceptance of our products by government and jgrificmularies.

Some of these factors are outside of our contrd] d@rany arise, our profitability, business, firgal position, and operating results coulc
materially adversely affected.

We expect to spend a significant amount of resowaos research and development efforts that may mesult in marketable products.
Failure to successfully introduce products into thearket could have a material adverse effect on duisiness, financial position, and
operating results.

We conduct research and development primarily &bknus to manufacture and market approved produetscordance with applicable
regulations. Research and development is expeasidd¢ime-consuming. As we seek to develop new mtsgdour research expenses will
increase, potentially significantly, and may naui¢in the successful introduction of new produEtsrther, after submitting an ANDA for a
generic product, the FDA may change its ANDA reguients and/or request that we conduct additiondiest and, as a result, we may incur
costs in excess of what we anticipated. Finally carenot be certain that we will recover our investirin a product, even if that product is
commercialized. If we spend significant resourcesasearch and development efforts and are notalitéroduce new products, our business
financial position, and operating results may béemially adversely affected.
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We have entered into several collaborative arranggs that may not result in marketable products.

We have entered into several collaborative arramgesto develop generic products for us to markété U.S. We can offer no
assurances that these arrangements will resutlditi@nal approved products, or that we will beeatdl market the products at a profit. In
addition, any expenses related to clinical triatsadditional studies required by the FDA, thatmasy incur in connection with these
collaborative arrangements may negatively affectomsiness, financial position, and operating tss@pecifically:

« clinical trials could be more costly than we antate;
« formulation development could take longer and beenostly than we expect; and
« we may be required to obtain specialized equiprireatder to manufacture products on a commerciiesc

Any of these events could have a material advdfeeten our business, financial position, and atiag results.

We own two manufacturing facilities that producedtmajority of our products. Production at either dwoth of these facilities could be
interrupted, which could cause us to fail to deliveufficient product to customers on a timely basisd have a material adverse effect on «
business, financial position, and operating results

Our manufacturing operations are based in twoifeesl While these facilities are sufficient forrazurrent needs, the facilities are highly
specialized and any damage to or need for replateof@ll or any significant function of our fatiés could be very costly and time-
consuming and could impair or prohibit productiow ahipping. A significant disruption at eithertbé facilities, even on a short-term basis,
whether due to a labor strike, adverse qualityoonliance observation, vandalism, natural disasterm or other environmental damage, or
other events could impair our ability to produce ahip products on a timely basis and, among atbesequences, could subject us to “failure
to supply” claims from our customers, as discudssdw. Although we believe we carry commerciallgsenable business interruption and
liability insurance, we might suffer losses becanfSleusiness interruptions that exceed the coveamg#able under our insurance policies ol
which we do not have coverage. Any of these evemitd have a material adverse effect on our busjrifamncial position, and operating
results.

Virtually all our contracts for the supply of prarts to our customers contain "failure to supplhdudes. Under these clauses, if we are
unable to supply the requested quantity of produittin a certain period after receipt of a custompurchase order, the customer is entitled t
procure a substitute product elsewhere and we raimburse the customer for the difference betwegrcontract price and the price the
customer was forced to pay to procure the substfitiduct. This difference can be substantial bezatithe much higher spot price at which
the customer must cover its requirements, and egarin excess of the revenue that we would ottserivave received on the sale of our own
product. Therefore, our ability to produce and shiufficient quantity of product on a consisteasib is critical. Failure to deliver products
could have a material adverse effect on our busjfemncial position, and operating results.

We rely on third parties to assist with our clinicatudies. If these third parties do not perforns aequired or expected, or if they are not
in compliance with FDA rules and regulations, oulinical studies may be extended, delayed or terntd@th or may need to be repeated, and
we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval @ commercialize the products being tested in Bistudies. Further, we may be requir
to audit or redo previously completed trials or edcalready-approved commercial products.

We rely on third parties, such as medical ingtfs, clinical investigators and contract labora®, to assist with our clinical studies. We
are responsible for confirming that our studies@meducted in accordance with applicable regulatamd that each of our clinical studies is
conducted in accordance with our general investigat plan and protocol. The FDA requires us to pymvith regulations and standards,
commonly referred to as good clinical practicesdmnducting, monitoring, recording and reporting thsults of clinical studies, to assure that
data and reported results are accurate and thatitheal study participants are adequately pradcOurreliance on these third parties does
relieve us of these responsibilities. If the tipatties assisting us with our clinical studies doperform their contractual duties or obligations,
do not meet expected deadlines, fail to comply WithFDA's good clinical practice regulations, @d adhere to our protocols or otherwise fail
to generate reliable clinical data, we may neeghter into new arrangements with alternative tpadies and our clinical studies may be
extended, delayed or terminated or may need tepeated, and we may not be able to obtain regylagproval for or commercialize the
products being tested in such studies. For ouadyr@pproved commercial products, we may be redquaeudit or redo previously completed
trials or recall our products from the market.
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We do not own or license any material patents asat@al with our products, and our ability to proteahd control unpatented trade
secrets, kno-how, and other technological innovation is limited

Generally, the branded pharmaceutical businesssrafpon patent protection to ensure market exdtyson the life of the patent. We do
not own or license any material patents associattdour products and therefore do not enjoy thaeséevel of intellectual property protection
with respect to such products as would a pharmaadumanufacturer that markets a patented prodethave limited ability to protect and
control trade secrets, know-how, and other techgicé innovation, all of which are unpatented. @shedependently may develop similar or
better proprietary information and techniques aisdldse them publicly. In addition, others may gaggess to our trade secrets, and we may
not be able to protect our rights to our unpatetitede secrets. In addition, confidentiality agreats and other measures may not provide
protection for our trade secrets in the event afutiorized use or disclosure of such informatiailufe to protect and control such trade
secrets, know-how and innovation could harm theealf our trade secrets, know-how and other teciyicdl innovation.

Inability to protect our intellectual property inhte U.S. and foreign countries could negatively affesales of our branded products.

We own trademarks for each of our branded produmthjding Cortenema, Reglan, Lithobid, and Vanoo@vhile we will seek to protect
those trademarks through timely renewal in apple@lrisdictions, we may not be able to renew cadémarks in a timely manner or to
prevent third parties from using our trademarks.

We have very limited staffing and are dependent nx@y employees, the loss of whom could adversgcaour operations.
Competition for talent is intense, especially inmioern Minnesota, where the population is small. Wfe cannot attract and retain qualified
personnel, the growth and success of our businessld be adversely affecte

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of tivellasmall management team and staff. We havgl@yment arrangements in place
with our executive and other officers, but non¢hafse executive and other officers are bound kegaliemain employed with ANI for any
specific term. We do not have key person life iagge policies covering our executive and othacef§ or any of our other employees. If |
individuals were to leave ANI, our business coutddffected adversely if suitable replacement peavsbare not recruited quickly. The
population in northern Minnesota, where our manuwfiéag resources are located, is small, and aswdtrehere is a limited number qualified
personnel available in all functional areas, wtdohld make it difficult to retain and attract theadjfied personnel necessary for the
development and growth of our business.

Our Vancocin product and its generic equivalent,n@mycin, are manufactured by a third party, whiehe cannot control.

We rely on a third party to manufacture our Vanoqmioduct and its generic equivalent, vancomyamwbich we receive royalties. We
expect our reliance on third party manufactureristoease in the future as we receive approvalsder products to be manufactured through
our collaborative arrangements, and as we seeki@ulli growth opportunities outside of the capaieiti of our current manufacturing
facilities. If we are unable to secure third-partginufacturers for these products on commercialtgpiable terms, we may not be able to
market and distribute such products at a profity Aalays or difficulties with thirgparty manufacturers could adversely affect the etamg an
distribution of Vancocin and future products, whaduld have a material adverse effect on our bagsirfenancial position, and operating res
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We rely significantly on information technology anany failure, inadequacy, interruption or securitapse of that technology, includin
any cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability operate the business effectively.

We rely significantly on our information technologpd manufacturing infrastructure to effectivelymage and maintain inventory and
financial reports, manufacture and ship productd,iavoice customers in a timely manner. Any faluaccidents, inadequacy, or interruption
of that infrastructure or security lapse of thahigology, including cybersecurity incidents, cobim our ability to operate our business
effectively. Our ability to manage and maintainentory and financial reports, manufacture and phiplucts, and invoice customers timely
depends significantly on our general ledger, outreated electronic data interface system, andr atiiermation systems. Cybersecurity
attacks in particular are evolving and include, dm&t not limited to, malicious software, attemptgain unauthorized access to data and other
electronic security breaches that could lead trugisons in systems, misappropriation of confidaindir otherwise protected information and
corruption of data. Cybersecurity incidents resigltin the failure of our information systems to @e effectively or to integrate with other
systems, or a breach in security or other unautbdraccess of these systems, may affect our atuilityanage and maintain inventory and
financial reports, and result in delays in produtfillment and reduced efficiency of operationsbfeach in security, unauthorized access
resulting in misappropriation, theft, or sabotagdwespect to proprietary and confidential infotioa, including research or clinical data co
require significant capital investments to remeslety such failure, problem or breach, all of wtdohild adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results.

Risks Related to Accounting, Tax, and SEC Rules aridegulations

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss andt credit carryforwards in the future is subject gubstantial limitations and we may not
be able to use some identified net operating losd tax credit carryforwards, which could result imcreased tax payments in future periot

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code cibrporation undergoes an ownership change (dgneedined as a greater than 50%
change (by value) in its equity ownership overradhyear period), the corporation’s ability to itsepre-change net operating loss (“NOL")
carryforwards and other pre-change tax attribudesffset its post-change income may be limited.JOme 19, 2013, BioSante experienced an
ownership change. Accordingly, our ability to w#iBioSante’s NOL and tax credit carryforwardsilattiable to periods prior to June 19, 2013
is subject to substantial limitations. In additias,a result of our common stock offering thatetben March 10, 2014, we believe that ANIP
Acquisition Company experienced an ownership chaAgeordingly, our ability to utilize ANIP Acquisidn Company's NOL and tax credit
carryforwards attributable to periods prior to tifering is subject to substantial limitations. Shdimitations, in turn, could result in increased
future tax payments, which could be material.

We use a variety of estimates, judgments, and aggions in preparing our consolidated financial s&tents. Estimates, judgments,
and assumptions are inherently subject to changedany such changes could result in correspondirttpages to the amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Anylsabanges could have a material adverse effect on lousiness, financial position, and
operating results.

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) requires us to make estimates, judgmentd,asumptions that affect the reported amountss#ta and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effiteancial statements and the reported amourdwaues and expenses during the period. 1
are inherent uncertainties involved in estimatedgiments and assumptions, and any changes in éstimadgments and assumptions used
could have a material adverse effect on our busjfemncial position, and operating results.

In the consolidated financial statements includethé periodic reports filed with the SEC, estirsajedgments, and assumptions are uset
for, but not limited to, revenue recognition, allmee for doubtful accounts, accruals for chargehaebates, returns and other allowances,
allowance for inventory obsolescence, stock-baseapensation, valuation of financial instruments artdngible assets, allowances for
contingencies and litigation, deferred tax valuatdlowance, and the depreciable lives of fixed auahgible assets. Actual results could diffel
from those estimates. Estimates, judgments andrggns are inherently subject to change in therytand any such changes could result ir
corresponding changes to the amounts of assdisitiés, revenues, expenses and income. Any shahges could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position, andrafieg results.
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Changes in estimates regarding the fair value ofoglwill or intangible assets may result in an advernsnpact to our business, financial
position, and operating result:

We test goodwill for impairment annually, or moreduently if changes in circumstances indicate tiiratcarrying amount of goodwill
might not be recoverable. Judgment is used in ohéémg when these events and circumstances arisgékform our review of goodwill bas
on our one reporting unit. If we determine that¢herying value of our assets may not be recoveraid assess, using judgment and estimate
the fair value of our assets and to determine theust of any impairment loss, if any. Changes dgjuents and estimates may result in the
recognition of an impairment loss, which could havwaaterial negative impact on our business, filduposition, and operating results. While
our testing in fiscal 2014 did not result in an amment charge related to goodwill, there can basgurances that our goodwill won't be
impaired in the future.

Our material definite-lived intangible assets cehef product rights for the 31 previously markegesheric products we acquired from
Teva, product rights for our branded products Uiideand Vancocin, and the Teva license relatedutantale testosterone gel. These assets al
being amortized over their useful lives of ten loykars. For these definite-lived intangible asse¢sperform an impairment analysis when
events or circumstances indicate that the carryalge of the assets may not be recoverable. Aninmeat loss is recognized if, based on our
impairment analysis, the carrying amount of thetissnot recoverable and its carrying amount edgdés fair value. Any significant change in
market conditions, estimates or judgments useeterchine expected future cash flows that indicatedaction in carrying value may give rise
to impairment in the period that the change becdmesvn. An impairment charge could have a mate®gjative impact on our business,
financial position, and operating results. While aig not recognize an impairment charge relatenliointangible assets in 2014, there can be
no assurances that our intangible assets wontnpaired in the future.

Our management is required to devote substantiaidito comply with public company regulations. If aee unable to comply with
these regulations, investors could lose confidemte&s, which could have a material adverse affect our stock price, business, financial
position, and operating result:

As a public company, we are required to comply withificant legal, accounting and other requireta¢hat ANIP Acquisition Company
did not face as a private company and as suchinbaged significant regulatory compliance-relagaghbenses. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and ConsuPnetection Act as well as rules implemented ey $EC and The NASDAQ Global
Market, impose various requirements on public camgs including those related to corporate goveragmactices. Our management and
other personnel devote a substantial amount of tintkese requirements. Some members of managelnertt have significant experience in
addressing these requirements. Moreover, thesg anlé regulations have increased our legal anddiahcompliance costs relative to those of
previous years and make some activities more timnswming and costly.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgsé we maintain effective internal controls fimancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, we musfoper system and process evaluation and testingiointernal controls over financial
reporting to allow management to report on theatiffeness of our internal controls over financeparting, as required by Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Committee of Sponsoringa@irations of the Treadway Commission (“COS@r9vides a framework for compan
to assess and improve their internal control systé€bur compliance with these requirements has redjtinat we incur substantial accounting
and related expenses and expend significant maregefforts. Moreover, if we are not able to coypith the requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, are unable to asserbtivainternal controls over financial reporting affective, or identify deficiencies that are
deemed to be material weaknesses, investors amsgdcbnfidence in the accuracy and completenessrdfnancial reports, the market price
our common stock could decline and we could beesithp sanctions or investigations by The NASDAQIal Market, the SEC or other
regulatory authorities. Any of these events cowdeha material adverse affect on our businessdiabposition, and operating results.
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Our policies regarding returns, allowances and clygbacks, and marketing programs adopted by wholesaimay reduce revenues in
future fiscal periods

We, like other generic drug manufacturers, haveagents with customers allowing chargebacks, ptagtrns, administrative fees, and
other rebates. Under many of these arrangementsjayenatch lower prices offered to customers bypetitors. If we choose to lowers our
prices, we generally give the customer a credithemproducts that the customer is holding in inggntwhich could reduce sales revenue and
gross margin for the period the credit is providdgle our competitors, we also give credits for rgfebacks to wholesalers with whom we have
contracts for their sales to hospitals, group pasatg organizations, pharmacies or other custom®ichargeback is the difference between
price at which we invoice the wholesaler and thiegpthat the wholesaler’s end-customer pays faodyct. Although we establish reserves
based on prior experience and our best estimatibe dmpact that these policies may have in sules#oqeriods, we cannot ensure that our
reserves are adequate or that actual product sgtalfowances, and chargebacks will not exceectstimates.

Risks Related to our Debt

Making principal and interest payments on our Cormtible Senior Notes due 2019 (the “Notes”), whicleve issued as of December 10,
2014, will require a significant amount of cash, drwe may not have sufficient cash flows from ourdiness to make those payments.

Our ability to make scheduled principal and intepss/ments or to refinance our indebtedness, ifafuthe Notes, depends on our future
performance, which is subject to economic, financampetitive, and other factors beyond our cdntBar business may not continue to
generate cash flows from operations sufficientetwise our debt and make necessary capital experditlf we are unable to generate such
cash flows, we may be required to adopt one or ralbeenatives, such as selling assets, restrugta@t, or obtaining additional equity capital
on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutiver &hility to refinance our indebtedness will depemdthe capital markets and our financial
condition at such time. We may not be able to eaga@ny of these activities or engage in theseites on desirable terms, which could
result in a default on our debt obligations, inéhgdthe Notes, which would have a material advaffect on our business, financial position,
and operating results.

The conditional conversion feature of the Notestifggered, may adversely affect our financial rd&i In addition, if we were to
undergo a fundamental change, we would need to negiiase the Notes, which could adversely affect financial results.

In the event the conditional conversion featuréhefNotes is triggered, holders of Notes will bétkd to convert the Notes at any time
during specified periods at their option. If onenwore holders elect to convert their Notes, omié @r more holders elect to require us to
repurchase their Notes in case of a fundamentalgehaas described below, unless we elect to satisfgonversion obligation by delivering
solely shares of our common stock (other than gagash in lieu of delivering any fractional shareg} would be required to settle a portiol
all of our conversion obligation through the paytnaincash, which could adversely affect our liqtydi
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In addition, holders of the Notes have the righteguire us to repurchase their Notes upon therosece of a fundamental change, as at ¢
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of laes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpeiet, if any. A “fundamental change” is
deemed to occur if: (i) a person or group, othantbs, directly or indirectly becomes the beneffioiener of common equity representing more
than 50% of or voting power, (i) consummation dfansaction that would result in the conversioexxhange of our common stock into othe
securities, cash, or assets, (iii) the sale oftsubiglly all our assets, (iv) a change in the migjof our board of directors, (v) our stockholger
approve a plan of liquidation, or (vi) our commdack ceases to be listed on the New York Stock Brgk, the Nasdaq Global Select Market,
or the Nasdaq Global Market. If one or more holdecpiires us to repurchase their Notes, unlesdewet te satisfy our conversion obligation
by delivering solely shares of our common stockéothan paying cash in lieu of delivering any fiatal shares), we would be required to
make cash payments as a result of the Notes bemgeded, which could adversely affect our liquiditowever, we may not have enough
available cash or be able to obtain financing attitme we are required to repurchase the Notesrmsdered or being converted. In addition, our
ability to repurchase the Notes or to pay cash wmmversions of the Notes may be limited by lawrdxyulatory authority, or by agreements
governing any future indebtedness. Our failureefmurchase Notes at a time when the repurchasguged by the indenture or to pay any cast
payable on future conversions of the Notes as redqudy the indenture would constitute a defaultauritle indenture. If the repayment of the
related indebtedness were accelerated after arigalple notice or grace periods, we may not hayicgent funds to repay the indebtedness
and repurchase the Notes or make cash paymentscopwarsions thereof, which would have a negativasict on our business, financial
position, and operating results

Provisions in the indenture for the Notes may det@rprevent a business combination.

If a fundamental change occurs prior to the matutiétte of the Notes, holders of the Notes will htheeright, at their option, to require us
to repurchase all or a portion of their Notes. ddidon, if a fundamental change occurs prior t tiaturity date of Notes, we will in some
cases be required to increase the conversionaatelfolder that elects to convert its Notes innemtion with such fundamental change. Also,
the indenture for the Notes prohibits us from emggin certain mergers or acquisitions unless, agrather things, the surviving entity
assumes our obligations under the Notes. Thesethrd provisions could prevent or deter a thirdyprom acquiring us even where the
acquisition could be beneficial to our stockholders

The convertible note hedge and warrant transactiangy affect the value of our common stock.

In connection with the pricing of the Notes, weezatl into a convertible note hedge transaction Wamura Global Financial Products
Inc. (“Nomura”). The convertible note hedge trarniacreduces the potential dilution to our commtotk upon any conversion of Notes
and/or offsets any cash payments we are requirethi@ in excess of the principal amount of congkNetes, as the case may be. We also
entered into a warrant transaction with Nomura. Wherant transaction could separately have a déutifect on our common stock to the
extent that the market price of our common stoaleerls the applicable strike price of the warrants.

Nomura, or an affiliate thereof, established iifahhedge position on the convertible note hedge warrant transactions by entering into
various derivative transactions with respect to@ammon stock concurrently with or shortly aftes hricing of the Notes. Nomura, or an
affiliate thereof, may modify its hedge position daytering into or unwinding various derivativesiwiespect to our common stock and/or
purchasing or selling our common stock or otheus#es of ours in secondary market transactiorengttime prior to the maturity of the No
(and is likely to do so during any observation pénielated to a conversion of Notes). This actieityld either cause or help avoid an increase
or a decrease in the market price of our commorksto

Accounting for the Notes could have a material effeon our reported financial results.

Accounting for the Notes will impact our balancesh income statement, and earnings per sharectuating for the Notes, we will
recognize non-cash interest expense, which willcedur net income and earnings per share.

In addition, under certain circumstances, convirtilebt instruments (such as the Notes) that maetiked entirely or partly in cash are
accounted for utilizing a modified treasury stoc&thod to determine diluted earnings per shareeffeet of which is that the shares issuable
upon conversion of the Notes are not included éncilculation of diluted earnings per share extefte extent that the conversion value of
Notes exceeds their principal amount. Under theifieadtreasury stock method, for diluted earnings ghare purposes, the transactic
treated as if the number of shares of common dtwkwould be necessary to settle such excess élected to settle such excess in share
issued. Under the current standards, if we wesetitbe some or all of the Notes with shares ofaaummon stock instead of with cash, we
would be unable to use the treasury method. If igauaable to use the treasury stock method in atowufor the shares issuable upon
conversion of the Notes, then our diluted earnpgysshare would be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to our Common Stock

Our principal stockholders, directors, and execugivfficers own a significant percentage of our skoand will be able to exercise
meaningful influence over our business.

Our current principal stockholders, directors akeogtive officers beneficially own approximately?8df our outstanding capital stock
entitled to vote as of December 31, 2014. As altehese stockholders, if acting together, woudable to influence or control matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, includihg election of directors and the approval of mexgacquisitions or other extraordinary
transactions. They may also have interests thégrdiiom stockholders generally and may vote inay with which other stockholders disagree
and which may be adverse to their interests. Tteentration of ownership may have the effect ddylag, preventing, or deterring a change
of control of ANI, could deprive stockholders of apportunity to receive a premium for their comnsbock as part of a sale of ANI, and might
ultimately affect the market price of our commoockt

Shares of our common stock are relatively illiquighich may affect the market price of our common sko

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2014avtkeage daily trading volume of our common stocklenNASDAQ Global Sele
market was approximately 210 thousand shares. Beaafwour relatively small public float, our commstock may be less liquid than the st
of companies with broader public ownership anditrgabf a relatively small volume of our common $tagnay have a greater impact on
market price for our shares than would be the dfane public float were larger.

Raising additional funds by issuing additional edyisecurities may cause dilution to our current skholders. Raising additional funds
by issuing new debt financing may restrict our opdions.

We may seek to raise additional funds throughgsbkaance of equity or equity-linked securities. & were to raise funds through the
issuance of equity or equity-linked securities, peecentage ownership of our stockholders couldiloéed, potentially significantly, and these
newly issued securities may have rights, prefergnmeprivileges senior to those of our existimackholders. In addition, the issuance of any
equity securities could be at a discount to thegmevailing market price of our common stock.

If we require new debt financing, there is no aasoe that such a transaction will be availableeoms$ acceptable to us, or at all. In
addition, we could be subject to onerous repayrtegnis or covenants that restrict our ability torape our business and make distributions to
our stockholders. These restrictive covenants imelyde limitations on additional borrowing and sifie restrictions on the use of our assets,
as well as prohibitions on our ability to creatmb, pay dividends, redeem our stock, or make imargts. We can offer no assurance that any
equity or debt financing transaction will be avhiaon terms acceptable to us, or at all.

The market price of our common stock has been vitdatand an investment in our common stock couldctiee in value.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuatettie past, has increased significantly sincectirapletion of the Merger, and is
likely to continue to fluctuate in the future. Frdime to time, the securities of small capitaliaatipharmaceutical companies, including ANI,
experience significant market price fluctuatiorfsei unrelated to these companieperating performance. In particular, the marketgoof ou
common stock may fluctuate significantly due toasiety of factors, many of which are beyond ourtogirand that may not be related to our
operating performance, including, but not limited t

- general stock market and general economic condiiiotthe U.S. and abroad, even if not directlytegldo our business;

- any inability to manufacture EEMT, whether due idA-determinations or otherwise;

« disruptions in the supply of API and other ingredéeused in our current and future products;

- actual or anticipated governmental agency actioetyding decisions or actions by the FDA or FDAvigdry committee panels with
respect to our current products, products in deraknt, or our competitc’ products;

« changes in anticipated or actual timing of our piidievelopment programs;
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« competition in our industry;

« the entering into of new strategic partnering ageanents or termination of existing strategic paitigearrangements;

« public concern as to the safety or efficacy of praducts;

« our need and ability to obtain additional finanging

« changes in laws or regulations applicable to oadpcts or business;

o  period-to-period fluctuations in our financial résu

« changes in key management;

» issuance of shares of our common stock or salesrofommon stock by our stockholders;

» failure of securities analysts to initiate and ntaiim coverage on our business and, with respestyanalyst coverage, our failure to meet
analyst estimates or the expectations of inves

« announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsdur services;

« the public’s reaction to our press releases, gihblic announcements and filings with the SEC;

« rumors and market speculation involving us or otteenpanies in our industry;

« actual or anticipated changes in our operatingltesu fluctuations in our operating results;

« actual or anticipated developments in our busin@sscompetitors’ businesses or the competitivesaape generally;

« litigation involving us, our industry or both, aniestigations by regulators into our operationthose of our competitors;

« announced or completed acquisitions of businesspsoducts by us or by our competitors;

« new laws or regulations or new interpretationsx$ting laws or regulations applicable to our besy

« changes in accounting standards, policies, guigglimterpretations or principles; and

« slow or negative growth of our products or markets.

In addition, the occurrence of any of the risksctié®d in this report or in subsequent reports ileewiith the SEC could have a material
adverse impact on the market price of our commockstSecurities class action litigation is somesrheought against a company following
periods of volatility in the market price of itscseities or for other reasons. Securities litigatiwhether with or without merit, could result in
substantial costs and divert management’s atteatioiresources, which could harm our businessiaaddial condition, as well as the market
price of our common stock.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delawaravda@ould discourage or prevent a takeover, everuifls a transaction would be
beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation amdaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, daukke it more difficult for a third
party to acquire ANI, even if doing so would be éfcial to our stockholders. These provisions e

« authorizing the issuance of “blank check” prefersedres that could be issued by our board of aire¢od increase the number of
outstanding shares and thwart a takeover atte

« prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofei¢tors, which would otherwise allow less than gomity of stockholders to elect
director candidate:

« advance notice provisions in connection with statttbr proposals and director nominations that nraygnt or hinder any attempt
our stockholders to bring business to be consideyenlir stockholders at a meeting or replace oardbof directors; an

- as a Delaware corporation, we are also subjeatatgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203tté Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents certain stockhadeslding more than 15% of our outstanding comntooksfrom engaging in
certain business combinations without approvaheftiolders of at least two-thirds of our outstagdiommon stock not held by such
15% or greater stockholde

Any provision of our certificate of incorporation@bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ddylag, preventing or deterring a

change in control could limit the opportunity farrcstockholders to receive a premium for their shaf our common stock, and could also
affect the price that some investors are willing#&y for our common stock.

32




Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate offices are located at 210 Main $Wéest, Baudette, Minnesota 56623. The facilityijohwe own, includes oral solid dose
and liquid manufacturing and packaging, warehoastities, analytical, stability and microbiologldaboratory space, and employee, office
and mechanical space. We also own a manufactuamitity that includes oral solid dose manufacturamgl packaging for pharmaceutical
products that must be manufactured in a fully coeh environment, warehouse facilities, and empdopéfice and mechanical space. This
facility is also located in Baudette, Minnesota.

We have leased office space for our financial haadgrs in Wilmington, Delaware. The lease will iegpn September 2018. We also
lease office space in Laguna Beach, Californiaafoexecutive office. This lease will expire in Fedmy 2016.

We consider our leased and owned properties saitaid adequate for our current and foreseeablesneed
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

A discussion of legal matters as of December 31426llows:
Louisiana Medicaid Lawsuit

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General oftate of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisianatsteourt against numerous
pharmaceutical companies, including us, under vargate laws, alleging that each defendant caheestate’s Medicaid agency to provide
reimbursement for drug products that allegedly wereapproved by the FDA and therefore allegedlyramnbursable under the federal
Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three toaigd cold prescription products manufactured atditsy our former Gulfport, Mississippi
operation, which was sold in September 2010. THnatgylawsuit, the state seeks unspecified damat@sitory fines, penalties, attornejees
and costs. On October 15, 2013, the defendantsvexniibe lawsuit to the U.S. District Court. On Noweer 14, 2013, the state filed a motion
to remand the lawsuit to the Louisiana state cduntSeptember 30, 2014, the U.S. District Courtaneded the case from the federal to the
court. While we cannot predict the outcome ofl#tvesuit at this time, we could be subject to maletamages, penalties and fines. We intend
to vigorously defend against all claims in the laiks

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan and its geneguivalent metoclopramide, including ANI, areif@callegations from plaintiffs in
various states, including California, New Jerseg Bennsylvania, claiming bodily injuries as a resifiingestion of metoclopramide or its
brand name, Reglan, prior to the FDA's Februan®ZB@ck Box warning requirement. In August 2012, were dismissed with prejudice frc
all New Jersey cases. We consider our exposutagditigation to be limited due to several factdil) the only generic metoclopramide that
manufactured prior to the implementation of the FDWarning requirement was an oral solution intaetbafter May 28, 2008; (2) our market
share for the oral solution was a very small portbthe overall metoclopramide market; and (3)eowe received a request for change of
labeling from the FDA, we submitted our proposedraes within 30 days, and such changes were sulrsigapproved by the FDA.

At the present time, we are unable to assesskbly lbutcome of the cases in the remaining st&@es.insurance company has assumed th
defense of this matter. However, our current prodability insurance policy contains absolute ersibns for claims related to Reglan and
metoclopramide. We cannot provide assurancestbaiutcome of these matters will not have an aéveffect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results. Furthermore, #ikgpharmaceutical manufacturers, we may be exptsether product liability claims in the
future, which could further limit our coverage unfigure insurance policies or cause those polimdsecome more expensive, which could
harm our business, financial condition, and opegatesults.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skdwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Matketer the symbol “ANIP.” The following table shott® high and low sales
price for ANIP common stock as reported by the NAEDGIlobal Market for each quarter in the years enbdecember 31, 2014 and 2013, as
adjusted for the one-for-six reverse stock spét thccurred on July 17, 2013:

Common Stock Price
2014 2013
High Low High Low
38.7¢ % 18.52 $ 9.4¢ $ 6.6(
37.7¢ % 19.9C $ 8.64 $ 4.8(
38.17 $ 2517 $ 9.94 $ 5.4¢
61.4: $ 24.2¢ % 23.0C $ 9.7t

First Quarte!
Second Quarte
Third Quartel
Fourth Quarte

& HH P

Stockholder Information

As of February 12, 2015, there were approximat@ly hareholders of record of our common stock, wdimes not include stockholders
that beneficially own shares held in a “nomineefrofstreet” name, and six holders of record ofSI& stock.

Dividends

We have not paid cash dividends in the years ebdegmber 31, 2014 and 2013. We do not anticipatm@aash dividends in the near
term.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and UseRioceeds from Registered Securities
None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Performance Graph

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company st

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company st
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion in conjunctioth Item 1A. (“Risk Factors”) and our audited cswlidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report. Soméefstatements in the following discussion are fodAlaoking statements. See the discussion
about forward-looking statements in Item 1. (“Blesig”).

Executive Overview

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated mlidas/, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, “ANIthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”) is an integrated specialty pharmaceuticahpany developing, manufacturing, and marketing dedrand generic prescription
pharmaceuticals. Our targeted areas of producticiewvent currently include narcotics, oncolyticst{aancers), hormones and steroids, and
complex formulations involving extended release emahbination products. We have two pharmaceuti@iufacturing facilities located in
Baudette, Minnesota that are capable of produdiabswolid dose products, as well as liquids andctdp, narcotics, and potent products that
must be manufactured in a fully-contained environine

Our strategy is to use our assets to develop, exgquanufacture, and market branded and gener@adiyeprescription pharmaceuticals.
By executing this strategy, we believe we will idesto continue to grow the business, expand aversify our product portfolio, and create
long-term value for our investors.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, IBio$ante”) acquired ANIP Acquisition Company (“AN)Rn an all-stock, tax-free
reorganization (the “Merger”), in which ANIP becamevholly-owned subsidiary of BioSante. BioSantes wabsequently renamed ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accountedd@r reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP ezasidered the acquiring entity for
accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historicallteof operations replace BioSante's historicalilts of operations for all periods prior to
Merger. The results of operations of both compaaresncluded in our consolidated financial statetméor all periods after completion of the
Merger.

In 2014 we achieved the following:

« Acquired ANDAs for 31 generic products.

« Entered into development agreements for generigsdnith Sterling Pharmaceutical Services.

« Completed a follow-on public offering of commondtasielding net proceeds of $46.7 million.

- Entered into a collaborative arrangement for aseégeneric drug product with Sofgen Pharmaceuticals
« Entered into a collaborative arrangement for a gemgug product with Dexcel Pharma Technologies. Lt
« Acquired the Lithobid NDA.

« Acquired the Vancocin NDA and related ANDAs.

« Filed an ANDA with the FDA for an anti-cancer drwghich was granted an expedited review.

« Launched Methazolamide USP 25 mg and 50 mg orkdtab

« Closed a public offering of $143.8 million of 3.0%0nvertible Senior Notes due 2019 (the “Notes"thvwgimultaneous bond hedge
and warrant transactior
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General

The following table summarizes our results of ofiers for the years ended December 31, 2014 and.201

(in thousands Years Ended December 31
2014 2013
Net revenue $ 55,97( $ 30,08:
Operating expenst
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and arnatitin) 11,47: 9,97¢
Research and developmt 2,67¢ 1,71z
Selling, general and administrati 17,93t 16,38¢
Depreciation and amortization 3,87¢ 1,11(
Operating income from continuing operatic 20,00¢ 89¢
Interest expens (787) (467)
Other income/(expense) 16C (30%)
Income from continuing operations before providionincome
taxes 19,37¢ 12¢
Benefit/(provision) for income taxes 9,36¢ (20)
Net income from continuing operatio 28,74, 10¢€
Gain on discontinued operation, net of provisionifitcome taxes - 19t
Net income $ 28,747 $ 301

The following table sets forth, for the periodsioaded, the percentage that items in our cons@itiatatements of operations bear to net
revenues.

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013

Net revenues 100.(% 100.(%
Operating expenst

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and arnatitin) 20.5% 33.2%

Research and developmt 4.£% 5.7%

Selling, general and administrati 32.1% 54.5%

Depreciation and amortization 6.S% 3.€%
Operating income from continuing operatic 35.7% 3.(%

Interest expens (1.4% (1.6©%

Other income/(expense) 0.2% (1.0%
Income from continuing operations before incomes 34.€% 0.4%
Benefit/(provision) for income taxes 16.£% -%
Net income from continuing operatio 51.4% 0.4%
Gain on discontinued operation, net of provisionifitome taxes -% 0.€%
Net income 51.4% 1.C%
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decemb&l, 2014 and 2013

Net Revenue

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31
%
2014 2013 Change Change
Generic pharmaceutical produ $ 35,85 $ 19,287 $ 16,57: 85.9%
Branded pharmaceutical produ 11,01¢( 3,37( 7,64( 226.1%
Contract manufacturin 5,931 6,01¢ (87) (1.9%
Contract services and other income 3,177 1,417 1,764 124.%
Total net revenues $ 55,97( $ 30,08: $ 25,88t¢ 86.1%

We derive substantially all of our revenues fronesaf generic and branded pharmaceutical prodoetgract manufacturing, and contr
services , which include product development sesjitaboratory services, and royalties on net {rofi certain products .

Net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2@td $56.0 million compared to $30.1 million for $eme period in 2013, an increase
of $25.9 million, or 86.1%, primarily as a resulltbe following factors:

Net revenues for generic pharmaceutical producte %85.9 million during the year ended December2B814, an increase of 85.€
compared to $19.3 million for the same period it20The primary reason for the increase was a $18l®n increase in sales of
EEMT, which was the result of increases in bothkatshare and prices. In addition, we experienoerkased sales for our Opium
Tincture, HC Enema, and Fluvoxamine products. éntttird quarter of 2013, a significant competitipped producing EEMT, whic
led to an increase in our market share and enaisléd significantly increase the price we chargelie product. However, in the first
half of 2014, the same competitor re-entered theketawhich negatively impacted our EEMT unit sdbeginning in the second
quarter of 2014, which impact may continue in 2EEMT revenues for the year ended December 31, a@&bdwere reduced by $:
million in charges related to price protection cant obligations

As described in Item 1. Business — Government Reiguls — Unapproved Products, we market EEMT and®Fincture without
FDA-approved NDAs. The FDA's policy with respectlte continued marketing of unapproved product®appin the FDA's
September 2011 Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 44Gifl6d "Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAsANDAS." Under this
policy, the FDA has stated that it will follow aki-based approach with regard to enforcement agaiadketing of unapproved
products. The FDA evaluates whether to initiateos#ment action on a case-by-case basis, but bighsr priority to enforcement
action against products in certain categories, sisanose with potential safety risks or that leecklence of effectiveness. While we
believe that, so long as we comply with applicablnufacturing standards, the FDA will not take @tthgainst us under the current
enforcement policy, we can offer no assurancestligalEDA will continue this policy or not take antrary position with any
individual product or group of products. Our condzimet revenues for these products for the yeatsdeDecember 31, 2014 and
2013 were $29.8 million and $14.6 million, respeey.
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« Netrevenues for branded pharmaceutical produate $&1.0 million during the year ended Decembe2B14, an increase of 226.
compared to $3.4 million for the same period in20lhe primary reasons for the increase were $3l®mof sales from our
Lithobid product, representing six months of saed $4.4 million of sales from our Vancocin produepresenting five months of
sales. The product rights to Lithobid and Vancagére acquired during the third quarter of 2014.sehecrease were partially offset
by a decrease in sales of Reg|

« Contract manufacturing revenues were $5.9 milliorirdy the year ended December 31, 2014, a decoédsé% compared to $6.0
million for the same period in 2013, due to deceelasrders from contract manufacturing customersd#014. As described in Item
1. Business — Government Regulations — Unapproveduets, we contract manufacture a group of pradaotbehalf of a customer
that are marketed by that customer without an FPpraved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action mgasuch customer, the
customer may be required to seek FDA approvalfergroup of products or withdraw them from the rearlour contract
manufacturing revenues for the group of unapprgreducts for the years ended December 31, 2012618 were $1.2 million and
$2.0 million, respectively

« Contract services and other income were $3.2 millioring the year ended December 31 , 2014, araserof 124.8% from $1.4
million for the same period in 2013, due primatiyroyalties received on sales of the authorizetege of Vancocin, the product
rights to which were acquired in the third quadeR014. This increase was partially offset by &%aillion non-recurring payment in
December 2013 from Teva in relation to the Tevange agreement acquired in the Meras well as decreased contract serv.

As described in Item 1. Business — Government Reiguls — Unapproved Products, we receive royattiethe net sales of a group of
contract-manufactured products, which are markbkyetthe customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If #2A took enforcement
action against such customer, the customer magdpéred to seek FDA approval for the group of padwr withdraw them from the
market. Our royalties on the net sales of thesppmmaed products were $0.3 million for each of ykars ended December 31, 2014
and 2013

Cost of Sales (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amaetiion)

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31

%
2014 2013 Change Change

Cost of sales (excl. depreciation and
amortization) $ 11,47 $ 9,97/ $ 1,49¢ 15.(%

Cost of sales consists of direct labor, includirgnofacturing and packaging, active and inactivephaeutical ingredients, freight costs,
and packaging components. Cost of sales does clatmdepreciation and amortization expense, wisicaported as a separate component of
operating expenses on our consolidated stateméofseaoations.

For the year ended December 31 , 2014, cost of gatecased to $11.5 million from $10.0 million foe same period in 2013, an increase
of $1.5 million or 15.0%, primarily as a resultasf increase in sales of generic pharmaceuticalustedas well as royalties due on proceeds
from sales of Vancocin and its authorized gendifi@ contractual requirement to pay these royattieted December 31, 2014. Cost of sales «
a percentage of net revenues decreased to 20.580 dine year ended December 31, 2014, from 33.28hg same period in 2013, primarily
as a result of a favorable shift in product mix &mavhigher margin products, including our two newartdled products, Lithobid and Vancocin,
and price increases for EEMT.
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We source the raw materials for our products, ididg active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API1”)qrin both domestic and international
suppliers. As discussed in Item 1. Business — Magtufing, Suppliers and Raw Materials, only a srgglurce of API is qualified for use in
each product due to the cost and time requiredlidate a second source of supply. Changes in Agpleers usually must be approved by the
FDA, which can take 18 months or longer. As a tesvg are dependent upon our current vendors i@biglsupply the API required for
ongoing product manufacturing. In addition, cert@firour API for our drug products, including thdkat are marketed without approved NC
or ANDAs, are sourced from international suppli€émom time to time, we have experienced temporamnugtions in the supply of certain of
such imported APIs due to FDA inspections. Durimg year ended December 31 , 2014, we purchasedf@ds inventory from two
suppliers. As of December 31 , 2014, amounts pay@itihese suppliers were immaterial. In the yaded December 31, 2013, we purchasec
37% of our inventory from three suppliers.

We have supply agreements with three vendorsitichide purchase minimums. Pursuant to these agresnee will be required to
purchase a total of $5.8 million of API from thekeee vendors during the year ended December 35.20

Each year, we must submit a request to the DEA fpuota to purchase the amount of API needed taifaeture Opium Tincture. Witho
an approved quota from the DEA, we would not be &blpurchase API from our supplier. As a resudt,are dependent upon the DEA to
annually approve a sufficient quota of API to supploe continued manufacture of Opium Tincture.

Other Operating Expenses

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31
%
2014 2013 Change Change
Research and developme $ 2,67¢ $ 1,712 $ 96€ 56.4%
Selling, general and administrati 17,93t 16,38¢ 1,543 9.4%
Depreciation and amortization 3,87¢ 1,11( 2,76¢ 249.%%
Total other operating expenses $ 24,49, $ 19,21( $ 5,281 27.5%

Other operating expenses consist of research aredaggnent costs, selling, general and administeagixpenses, and depreciation and
amortization.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, other opgrakipenses increased to $24.5 million from $19IBom for the same period in 2013,
an increase of $5.3 million, or 27.5%, primarilysasesult of the following factors:

« Research and development expenses increased fr@dnmdilion to $2.7 million, an increase of 56.4%iedprimarily to work on new
development projects, including the Teva produntsrnally-developed products, new collaboratiars] a filing fee for an ANDA
submission of an anti-cancer drug. We anticipa&¢ thsearch and development costs will continuedeease in support of our
strategy to expand our product portfo

« Selling, general and administrative expenses iseealightly, from $16.4 million to $17.9 millioan increase of 9.4%, primarily due
to the increases in personnel and consulting, |egal other fees related to becoming a public compas well as increased stock-
based compensation expense, including a $1.3 mitich-up charge for non-cash stock-based comp@nsahich was recognized
upon shareholder approval of an increase in stevatable for issuance under our stock compensalam These increases were
partially offset by the lack of $6.2 million of Mger-related expenses incurred in the prior yeareWect selling, general and
administrative expenses to continue to increasledriuture to support anticipated additional reveegrtowth.
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« Depreciation and amortization increased from $1lilliam to $3.9 million, an increase of 249.4%, doeamortization of the ANDAS
purchased from Teva in the first quarter of 20Igdization of product rights for Lithobid and Varwin purchased during the third
quarter of 2014, and a full year of amortizatiorthaf Teva license acquired in the Merger. We exgepteciation and amortization
expense to increase in 2015 as we recognize gdatl of amortization expense related to the Litbaid Vancocin product right

Other Income/(Expense)

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 Change % Change
Interest expens $ (787) $ (467) $ (320 68.5%
Other income/(expense) 16C (30%) 46¢ (152.5%
Total other income/(expense) $ (627) $ (772) $ 14~ (18.9%

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recogothed expense of $0.6 million versus other expef§®.8 million for the same
period in 2013, a decrease of $0.1 million, or ¥B.8his change resulted primarily from the follogifactors:

« Interest expense increased from $0.5 million t@ $0illion as a result of $0.8 million of interestpense incurred on our Notes, issuec
in December 2014. This interest expense was pgrtieibet by interest earned on our cash balan@9i¥. Interest expense in the y
ended December 31, 2013 included a terminatiorieeaccelerated amortization of deferred loan csgeciated with retiring our
revolving line of credit in conjunction with the Ivtger.

« Other income/(expense) changed from $0.3 milliootber expense to $0.2 million of other income, drimarily to the absence of
payments of $0.4 million to certain of our investfor monitoring and advisory fees in 2013. Upompéetion of the Merger, our
obligation to pay monitoring and advisory fees waminated. Other income of $0.2 million relatednarily to the receipt of an
abatement for prior year property taxes resultiogfa reassessment of the property value for omufaaturing facilities and the
reimbursement, pursuant to a legal settlemenggdlifees incurred in prior yea

Benefit/(Provision) for Income Taxe

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 Change % Change
Benefit/(Provision) for income taxt $ 9,36¢ $ (20) $ 9,38¢ (47,175.9%

The benefit/(provision) for income taxes consigtewr current tax provision and our deferred incdareprovision, which includes
changes in our deferred tax assets (“DTASs"), defétax liabilities (“DTLs"), and our valuation all@nce.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recogai®8d4 million income tax benefit, compared with 20 thousand income tax
provision for the same period in 2013, a chang®9o4 million, primarily as a result of a $16.7 naiit reversal of the valuation allowance
previously recorded against our DTAs. This revevgd the result of our determination that it is enlikely than not that we will realize the
benefits of our DTAs as a result of our expectatibfuture profitability, among other factors. Tteversal of the allowance was partially offset
by a $5.1 million current income tax provision the 2014 fiscal year, and $2.3 million of changeeur DTAs and DTLs.
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Gain on Discontinued Operation

(in thousands) Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 Change % Change
Gain on discontinued operation, net of $ - $ 19t $ (19%) (100.0%

Gain on discontinued operation consists of reveaneeexpenses associated with our over-the-couhtenaceutical products operation in
Gulfport, Mississippi. This operation was sold epfember 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the@anfiscontinued operation, net of $38 thousanaduafresulted from finalizing a portic
of the discontinued operation’s remaining liabht

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table highlights selected liquiditpchworking capital information from our ¢ onsoliddtbalance sheets.

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalel $ 169,03° $ 11,10¢
Accounts receivable, n 17,29° 12,51
Inventories 7,51¢ 3,51¢
Deferred Tax Assets, net of valuation allowa 7,64: 0
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,98: 58C
Total current assets $ 203,47¢ $ 27,71¢
Accounts payabl $ 2,65¢ $ 1,42¢
Accrued expense 1,26¢ 327
Accrued compensation and related expe 1,34¢ 773
Accrued income taxe 4,25¢ 2C
Accrued Medicaid rebate 2,26¢ 252
Returned goods reser 1,44t 73€
Accrued royaltie: - -
Deferred revenue - 47
Total current liabilities $ 13,231 $ 3,53¢

At December 31, 2014, we had $169.0 million in strieted cash and cash equivalents. At Decembe2@13, we had $11.1 million in
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. We receiweproceeds of $122.6 million from our Decemi@&issuance of the Notes and related
purchased bond hedge and warrants issued in cdigjowith the debt issuance, net proceeds of $4#llion from a follow-on public offering
that closed in March 2014, and generated $22.0amitf cash from operations in the year ended Déesr@l, 2014. In the first quarter of
2014, we acquired ANDAs related to 31 productshtiz.5 million from Teva. In the third quarter of120) we acquired the intellectual property
rights and NDA associated with Lithobid, as welras material inventory, for $11.0 million, not Inding the $1.0 million contingent paym:
that was paid in January 2015, and also acquiredUtB. intellectual property rights and NDA asstadawvith Vancocin, two related ANDAs,
and certain equipment and inventory for $11.0 orilli

41




We believe that the combination of our current casth cash equivalents and other financial resopcoesisting of cash proceeds from
issuance of the Notes, current working capital amticipated future operating revenue, will be suéfint to enable us to meet our working
capital requirements for at least the next 12 marftour assumptions underlying estimated reveamgeexpenses are wrong, or if our cash
requirements change materially as a result ofshifour business or strategy, we could requirétiaddl financing. If in the future we do not
remain profitable or generate cash from operatamanticipated and additional capital is needesifpport operations, we may be unable to
obtain such financing, or obtain it on favorablerts, in which case we may be required to curtaietioment of new products, limit expans
of operations or accept financing terms that ateas@ttractive as desired.

Our primary cash requirements are to fund operatimtiuding research and development programsaltaborations, to support general
and administrative activities, and to expand ougitess and product pipeline through acquisitiongroflucts and companies. We are
continually evaluating potential asset acquisitiand business combinations. Our future capitalirements will depend on many factors,
including, but not limited to:

« product mix and pricing for product sales and caecttmanufacturing;

« pricing and payment terms with customers;

« costs of raw materials and payment terms with seppl

« capital expenditures and equipment purchases fwosuproduct launches; and
« business and product acquisitions.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chairgdtores and group purchasing organizationsdssted in a smaller number of
companies each controlling a larger share of pheenitécal distribution channels. Our net revenueewencentrated among three customers
representing 27%, 21%, and 17% of net revenugsectisely, during the year ended December 31, 28%4f December 31, 2014, accounts
receivable from these three customers totaled appetely 73% of our net accounts receivable. Asslt, negotiated payment terms with
these customers have a material impact on ourdityuand working capital.

Two of our generic pharmaceutical products, EEMd@ @pium Tincture, accounted for approximately 428 1% of our net revenues
2014, respectively, versus 33% and 16% of net naeeim 2013, respectively. As a result, marketipgi¢or these products, combined with the
costs of raw materials and payment terms with sepplhave a material impact on our liquidity anarking capital. The increase in revenue
related to EEMT has had a significant impact onfmancial results and if revenues from EEMT wearelécrease substantially or entirely, it
would have a material, negative impact on our ¢msts and liquidity.

Our consolidated financial statements have beegpaped on a basis that assumes that we will contisteegoing concern and which
contemplates the realization of assets and thefaetiion of liabilities and commitments in the natroourse of business. These statements do
not include any adjustments that might resultéf ¢larrying amount of recorded assets and lialsilaie not realized.

Sources and Uses of Ca
Debt Financing

In December 2014, we issued $143.8 million of 30éhvertible Senior Notes in a registered publieoffy (the “December 2014
Offering”), which includes the $18.8 million of Next issued pursuant to the full exercise of the-alletment option granted to the
underwriters in the December 2014 Offering. Afteddcting the underwriting discounts and commissand other expenses (including the ne
cost of the bond hedge and warrant, discussed hellog/net proceeds from the offering were appraxaty $122.6 million. The Notes were
issued in order to raise funds to research, devahojocommercialize our drug products; to acquirapementary businesses, products, and
technologies that we may identify from time to tiraed for other working capital and general corpwpurposes. The Notes pay 3.0% interes
semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and Decembé&edah year, starting on June 1, 2015. The Notesamvertible into 2,068,792 shares of
common stock, based on an initial conversion pofcg69.48 per share.
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A portion of the offering proceeds was used to $iameously enter into “bond hedge” (or purchasdl) aad “warrant” (or written call)
transactions with an affiliate of one of the offeriunderwriters (collectively, the “Call Option Qlay”). We entered into the Call Option
Overlay to synthetically raise the initial conversiprice of the Notes to $96.21 per share and ethe& potential common stock dilution that
may arise from the conversion of the Notes. Thease price of the bond hedge is $69.48 per shdtk,an underlying 2,068,792 common
shares; the exercise price of the warrant is $96e2 5hare, also with an underlying 2,068,792 comsiwres.

At December 31, 2013, we had no debt outstanding.
Equity Financing

In March 2014, we completed a follow-on public oiffigg of 1.6 million shares of our common stock gudlic offering price of $31.00 per
share (the “March 2014 Offering”). We received grpsoceeds of $50.0 million, or net proceeds of B4illion after deducting costs of $3.3
million, including the underwriters’ fees and conssions, as well as expenses directly related td/dveh 2014 Offering. The 1.6 million
shares sold in the March 2014 Offering includesetkercise in full by the underwriters of their @ptito purchase an additional 0.2 million
shares of common stock.

Warrant Exercises

In January 2014, a warrant-holder exercised wasrgmpurchase 20 thousand shares at $9 per shareedaived $0.2 million as a result of
this exercise. In December 2014, a warrant-holgeraised warrants to purchase 63 thousand shafSspr share. We received $0.5 million
as a result of this exercise.
Uses of Cash

In the first quarter of 2014, we acquired ANDAsateld to 31 products for $12.5 million from Tevathe third quarter of 2014, we
acquired the intellectual property rights and ND¥#aciated with Lithobid, as well as raw materiakintory, for $11.0 million, not including
the $1.0 million contingent payment that was paidanuary 2015, and also acquired the U.S. intatproperty rights and NDA associated
with Vancocin, two related ANDAs, and certain equgnt and inventory for $11.0 million.

Discussion of Cash Flow

The following table summarizes the net cash anH egsiivalents provided by/(used in) operating &, investing activities and
financing activities for the periods indicated:

(in thousands) Years ended December 3!
2014 2013
Operating Activities $ 22,03: $ (5,489
Investing Activities $ (35,759 $ 20,26
Financing Activities $ 171,65. $ (3,689

Net Cash Provided By/Used In Operatic

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2&illon for the year ended December 31, 2014 caexgbéo $5.5 million used in the
same period in 2013, a change of $27.5 million ketwthe periods. This increase was primarily duaddncrease in net income from 2013 to
2014 and to changes in current assets and cuiaéilities. There was a $16.1 million increase @slt provided by net income from continuing
operations, after adjusting for non-cash expengeas.increase was primarily due to the $28.4 milliocrease in net income in 2014, as well a
increases in non-cash expenses, including an isereia$3.4 million in stock-based compensation agpever 2013 and $2.8 million more in
depreciation and amortization expense than the pear. These increases were partially offset by-cesh changes to deferred tax assets of
$14.5 million and the absence of $4.4 million ohrmash expenses related to the Merger in 2013.
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Increases in current assets and decreases in cliat@lities (in each case a use of cash) fontbar ended December 31, 2014 totaled $0.
million compared to $11.4 million for the same perin 2013, a decrease of approximately $11.3 onilbetween the periods. Accounts
receivable increased by $2.3 million less in 201aht2013. Accrued compensation, income taxes, agdiddid rebates increased by $3.4
million, $4.2 million, and $1.9 million more than the prior year, respectively. Accounts payable aler accrued expenses increased by $0
million and $1.7 million more than in the prior yeeespectively. These increases in cash provigezplerations were partially offset by
increases in inventory and prepaid expenses, wharkased by $2.8 million and $0.4 million morehe year ended December 31, 2014,
respectively, than in the prior year periods.

Net Cash Used in/Provided by Investing Activi

Net cash used in investing activities was $35.8onilfor the year ended December 31, 2014 , pralbiplue to the $12.5 million asset
acquisition of the Teva ANDA products, an $11.0lianl asset purchase related to Lithobid, an $11llom asset purchase related to
Vancocin, and $1.1 million of capital expenditudesing the period . Net cash provided by investntyvities for the year ended December 31
2013 was $20.3 million, principally due to $18.dlion of cash acquired in the Merger and the redeafs$2.2 million of restricted cash held
severance payments, partially offset by $0.2 mmillad capital expenditures during the period.

Net Cash Provided/Used in by Financing Activi

Net cash provided by financing activities was $X#illion for the year ended December 31, 2014ulteng primarily from $122.6
million of net proceeds received for the Notes éskin our December 2014 offering and $46.7 millibmet proceeds received in our March
2014 Offering. We also received $0.8 million of geeds for stock options exercised in 2014 and 8@l®n of proceeds for warrants
exercised in 2014 . Net cash used in financingiiets was $3.7 million for the year ended Decen®r2013, resulting primarily from the
$4.1 million repayment in June 2013 of our revadyime of credit in connection with the Merger é@l4 million of treasury stock repurcha:
partially offset by $0.8 million of proceeds reasivfor a warrant exercised in December 2013.

Critical Accounting Estimates

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Firgu@ondition and Results of Operations is basedunrfinancial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United State&roérica (“U.S. GAAP”). The
preparation of financial statements in conformifybviJ.S. GAAP requires management to make estimatdsassumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andafisice of contingent assets and liabilities atdhte of the financial statements and the repc
amount of revenues and expenses during the reggeéiriod. In our consolidated financial statemeassimates are used for, but not limited to,
stock-based compensation, allowance for doubtfubats, accruals for chargebacks, Medicaid rebedasns, and other allowances,
allowance for inventory obsolescence, valuatiofirancial instruments and intangible assets, adsfioa contingent liabilities, fair value of
long-lived assets, deferred taxes and valuati@walhce, and the depreciable lives of long-livecttsss

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimateassumptions, including those described belowb#dse our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions théelieve to be reasonable under the circumstaitese estimates and assumptions form
the basis for making judgments about the carryalges of assets and liabilities that are not rgaparent from other sources. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. Due to the eatiom processes involved, the following summariaecounting policies and their application
are considered to be critical to understandingomsiness operations, financial condition and opegaesults.
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Revenue Recoghnitio

Revenue is recognized for product sales and atintranufacturing product sales upon passing ofaigktitle to the customer, when
estimates of the selling price and discounts, eshatromotional adjustments, price adjustmentarmst chargebacks, and other potential
adjustments are reasonably determinable, colle@iogasonably assured, and we have no furtheoqpeaice obligations. Contract
manufacturing arrangements are typically less thanweeks in duration, and therefore the revenuedsgnized upon completion of the
aforementioned factors rather than using a proguatiperformance method of revenue recognition. 8dtenates for discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, retuainargebacks, and other potential adjustmentseegross revenues to net revenues in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatinsare presented as current liabilities or rédastin accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (seeUAlscior Chargebacks, Rebates, Returns, and Offmwvances”).Historically, we have nt
entered into revenue arrangements with multiplmelgs.

Occasionally, we engage in contract services, wimclude product development services, laborateryises, and royalties on net sales of
certain contract manufactured products. For thesdces, revenue is recognized according to thadaf the agreement with the customer,
which sometimes include substantive, measuraliebased milestones, and when we have a contraighalto receive such payment, the
contract price is fixed or determinable, the cdllat of the resulting receivable is reasonably es$uand we have no further performance
obligations under the agreement . We recognize? i$#lion and $1.4 million of revenue related tt@act services in 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Our revenue recoghnition accounting methodologiegain uncertainties because they require manageimamtke assumptions and to
apply judgment to estimate the amount of discouetsates, promotional adjustments, price adjustspeeturns, chargebacks, and other
potential adjustments, which are accounted foedsations to revenue. We make these estimates badadtorical experience.

We have not made any material changes to our reveraognition policies during the years ended Déegr8l, 2014 and 2013. We
believe it is unlikely that there will be a matéithange in the future estimates or assumptiond tismeasure estimates for discounts, rebates
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, retuinargebacks, and other potential adjustments.edexy if actual results were not consisten
with our estimates, we could be exposed to lossgsias that could be material, as any changdsagetestimates could cause an increase or
decrease in revenue recognized during the yeameXamnple, if there were a 10% change to these s throughout the year, Net
Revenues and Net Income from Continuing Operati@iere Benefit/(Provision) for Income Taxes for ffear ended December 31, 2014
would be affected by $4.7 million.

Accruals for Chargebacks, Rebates, Returns and @tAlowances

Our generic and branded product revenues are thpgject to agreements with customers allowihgrgebacks, Medicaid rebates,
product returns, dministrative fees, and otherte=band prompt payment discounts. We accrue feethems at the time of sale based on the
estimates and methodologies described below. ladlgeegate, these accruals, reflected as a dedregeess sales, exceed 50% of generic an
branded gross product sales, reduce gross revemuoesrevenues in the consolidated statementpartions, and are presented as current
liabilities or reductions in accounts receivabléhia consolidated balance sheets. We continuallyiteioand re-evaluate the accruals as
additional information becomes available, whichukes, among other things, updates to trade invetgoels, customer product mix, and
trends in Medicaid rebates experience. We makesadgnts to the accruals at the end of each repgotniod, to reflect any such updates to
the relevant facts and circumstances. Accrualsedieved upon receipt of payment from or issuarfosredit to the customer, or payment of
rebates and fees to customer and state Medicaipgans.

Chargebacks
As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated faie Statements, we estimate the amount of chagieshbased our actual historical

experience. A number of factors influence curreartqad chargebacks by impacting the average sqliicg (“ASP”) of products, including
customer mix, negotiated terms, product sales wakjme of off-contract purchases, and wholesalaia@gpn cost (“WAC").
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We have not made any material changes to our pfilicgstimating chargeback accruals during thesyeaded December 31, 2014 and
2013. We believe it is unlikely that there will Benaterial change in the future estimates or assangused to measure chargeback estimate
However, if actual results were not consistent with estimates, we could be exposed to lossesios tgat could be material, as changes to
chargeback estimates could cause an increase r@adedn revenue recognized during the year amdase or decrease accounts receivable. |
there were a 10% change in the chargeback estintategghout the year , our Net Revenues and Nenhecfrom Continuing Operations
before Benefit/(Provision) for Income Taxes woudddifected by $3.6 million for the year ended Delsen81, 2014.

Medicaid Rebate

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated i Statements, our estimate for Medicaid rebiatésised upon our average
manufacturer price, best price, product mix, lewélsiventory in the distribution channel that wepect to be subject to Medicaid rebates, and
historical experience, which are invoiced in arsday state Medicaid programs. While such experi¢raseallowed for reasonable estimation in
the past, history may not always be an accuraieatat of future rebate experience, and trends édighid enrollment and which products are
covered by Medicaid could change.

We have not made any material changes to our pfilicgstimating Medicaid rebates during the yeaideel December 31, 2014 and 2013
While we anticipate that we will have further ingses in our quarterly Medicaid rebate amountseéltt sales of our Lithobid and Vancocin
products, we do not believe that our assumptiosd ts measure estimates for Medicaid rebates thdlhge materially. However, if actual
results were not consistent with our estimatescouéd be exposed to losses or gains that coulddierial, as changes to Medicaid rebate
estimates could cause an increase or decreaseecinue recognized during the year and decrease@ase the Medicaid rebate reserve. If
there were a 10% change in the Medicaid rebatmatts throughout the year , our Net Revenues ahthbieme from Continuing Operations
before Benefit/(Provision) for Income Taxes woudddifected by $0.3 million for the year ended Delsen81, 2014.

Returns

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated i Statements, our estimate for returns is baget our historical experience with
actual returns. While such experience has allowedegasonable estimation in the past, history nwalways be an accurate indicator of fui
returns.

We have not made any material changes to our pficgstimating returns during the years ended Béaz 31, 2014 and 2013. We
believe it is unlikely that there will be a matéigaange in the future estimates or assumptiond ttismeasure estimates of goods returned.
However, if actual results were not consistent with estimates, we could be exposed to lossesins tfgat could be material, as changes to
returns estimates could cause an increase or decireaevenue recognized during the year and deemaaincrease the returned goods reserve
If there were a 10% change in the returns estinthtesighout the year , our Net Revenues and Nenhecfrom Continuing Operations before
Benefit/(Provision) for Income Taxes would be aféetby $0.1 million for the year ended December28il 4.

Administrative Fees and Other Rebs
As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolideéathncial Statements, we accrue for fees and relgteroduct by wholesaler, at the time

sale based on contracted rates, ASPs, and on-heeitory counts obtained from wholesalers.
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We have not made any material changes to our pfilicgstimating administrative fee accruals duting years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013. We believe it is unlikely that there Wil a material change in the future estimatessumaptions used to measure estimates of
administrative fees. However, if actual resultseveot consistent with our estimates, we could lppsad to losses or gains that could be
material, as changes to these estimates could eauserease or decrease in revenue recognizeagdiiné year and increase or decrease
accounts receivable. If there were a 10% changfeeimdministrative fees estimates throughout tlae yeur Net Revenues and Net Income
from Continuing Operations before Benefit/(Provigidor Income Taxes would be affected by $0.5 wrillfor the year ended December 31,
2014.

Prompt Payment Discoun

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated féia Statements, we reserve for sales discoursisdban invoices outstanding,
assuming, based on past experience, that 100%adéble discounts will be taken.

We have has not made any material changes to diay por estimating prompt payment discounts actyaaring the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013. We believe that inlikely that there will be a material change in thure estimates or assumptions used to
measure estimates of prompt payment discountsistbmers do not take 100% of available discountgeasstimate, we could need toagjus
our methodology for calculating the prompt payndietount reserve. If there were a 10% decreadeiptompt payment discounts estimates
throughout the year , our Net Revenues and Netnhecmom Continuing Operations before Benefit/(Psai) for Income Taxes would
increase by $0.2 million for the year ended Decar3tie 2014.

Intangible Asset:

Our definite-lived intangible assets have a cagyialue of $42.1 million as of December 31, 201deSe assets include product rights for
the 31 previously marketed generic products we isedirom Teva, product rights for our branded pretd Lithobid and Vancocin, fully
amortized product rights for Reglan and a genawdupct, and the Teva license related to our mal@sterone gel. These intangible assets
recorded at fair value and are stated net of actatediamortization.

The rights and licenses are amortized over theiaiging estimated useful lives, ranging from twd foyears, based on the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives directly imghetamount of amortization expense recorded faetassets on a quarterly and annual basi

In addition, we test for impairment of definitedid intangible assets when events or circumstandésake that the carrying value of the
assets may not be recoverable. Judgment is usbeténmining when these events and circumstances. dfiwe determine that the carrying
value of the assets may not be recoverable, judgamehestimates are used to assess the fair vatbe assets and to determine the amount o
any impairment loss. No events or circumstanceseairn2014 that would indicate that the carryineaf any of our definite-lived intangible
assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill
Gooduwill relates to the Merger and represents #oess of the total purchase consideration ovefainealue of acquired assets and

assumed liabilities, using the purchase methoadtodanting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subjecperiodic review for impairment. As a
result, the amount of goodwill is directly impactegthe estimates of the fair values of the assegsired and liabilities assumed.
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In addition, goodwill is reviewed annually, as oft@ber 31, and whenever events or changes in cgtamoes indicate that the carrying
amount of the goodwill might not be recoverablalghaent is used in determining when these eventgiatwimstances arise. We perform our
review of goodwill on our one reporting unit. If wletermine that the carrying value of the assetsmsbe recoverable, judgment and
estimates are used to assess the fair value afets and to determine the amount of any impairloss

The carrying value of goodwill at December 31, 20&é $1.8 million. We believe it is unlikely thaere will be a material change in the
future estimates or assumptions used to test fpaimment losses on goodwill. However, if actualiitssare not consistent with our estimate
assumptions, we may be exposed to an impairmengehhat could be material.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have a stockased compensation plan that includes stock op#indgestricted stock, which are awarded in exchdogemployee ar
non-employee director services. We recognize thimated fair value of stock-based awards and diatise expense where the underlying
salaries are classified. For the year ended Dece&ih014, $0.1 million of expense related to ktbased awards was classified as cost of
goods sold, $0.1 million was classified as researcthdevelopment expense, and $3.2 million wasified as sales, general and administre
expense in the accompanying statements of opesatiinck-based compensation cost for stock optfodstermined at the grant date using ar
option pricing model and stock-based compensatish for restricted stock is based on the closingketarice of the stock at the grant date.
The value of the award that is ultimately expedtedest is recognized as expense on a straighblises over the employee's requisite service
period.

Valuation of stock awards requires us to make apsioms and to apply judgment to determine thevalue of the awards. These
assumptions and judgments include estimating thedwolatility of our stock price, dividend yieldsiture employee turnover rates, and fut
employee stock option exercise behaviors. Changteese assumptions can affect the fair value agtim

Estimation of awards that will ultimately vest régs judgment for the amounts that will be forfditfue to failure to fulfill service
conditions. To the extent actual results or updattoates differ from current estimates, such art®are recorded as a cumulative adjustmel
in the period estimates are revised. Changes imats could affect compensation expense withiividdal periods. If there were to be a 10%
change in our stock-based compensation expensleeigrear, our net earnings would be affected bg $0llion for the year ended December
31, 2014.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accourfingncome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liagdsliare determined based on difference
between the financial reporting and tax bases sdtasand liabilities and are measured using thetedaax rates and laws that are expected to
be in effect when the differences are expectedverse. The effect on deferred tax assets anditidiof a change in tax rates is recognized ir
the period that such tax rate changes are endldtedneasurement of a deferred tax asset is redificeztessary, by a valuation allowance if it
is more likely than not that some portion or altlné deferred tax asset will not be realized.

We use a recognition threshold and a measurenteibigd for the financial statement recognition an€asurement of tax positions taken
or expected to be taken in a tax return. For thesefits to be recognized, a tax position must beerlikely-than-not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities. We have not tiieal any uncertain income tax positions that doi@ve a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements. We are subgeeidation in various U.S. jurisdictions and remsuhject to examination by taxing
jurisdictions for the years 1998 and all subsegpenibds due to the availability of net operatiogd carryforwards. To the extent we preva
matters for which a liability has been establishwdhre required to pay amounts in excess of dabished liability, our effective income tax
rate in a given financial statement period couldrizerially affected. An unfavorable tax settlemgenerally would require use of our cash
may result in an increase in our effective incomertte in the period of resolution. A favorable sattlement may reduce our effective income
tax rate and would be recognized in the periockesblution.
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We consider potential tax effects resulting fromcdntinued operations and record intra-period Baxations, when those effects are
deemed material. Our effective income tax ratdsig affected by changes in tax law, our level ahéways, and the results of tax audits.

Although we believe that the judgments and estimdigcussed herein are reasonable, actual resulis differ, and we may be exposec
losses or gains that could be material.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance requinragnagement to evaluate on a regular basis whetlyezanditions or events have
arisen that could raise substantial doubt abougthity’s ability to continue as a going concerheTguidance 1) provides a definition for the
term “substantial doubt,” 2) requires an evaluageerry reporting period, interim periods includ8fiprovides principles for considering the
mitigating effect of managementplans to alleviate the substantial doubt, 4)iregwcertain disclosures if the substantial dostatlieviated as
result of management’s plans, 5) requires an egmtadéement, as well as other disclosures, ifubstantial doubt is not alleviated, and 6)
requires an assessment period of one year froméateethe financial statements are issued. The atdris effective for our reporting year
beginning January 1, 2017 and early adoption imjited. We do not expect the adoption of this staddo have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance for revemgegnition for contracts, superseding the previeuenue recognition requirements,
along with most existing industry-specific guidanthe guidance requires an entity to review comgracfive steps: 1) identify the contract, 2)
identify performance obligations, 3) determine titamsaction price, 4) allocate the transactioneprémd 5) recognize revenue. The new
standard will result in enhanced disclosures rdaggrthe nature, amount, timing and uncertaintyesenue arising from contracts with
customers. The standard is effective for our répgigear beginning January 1, 2017 and early adopsi not permitted. We are currently
evaluating the impact, if any, that this standailtllvave on our consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardafq“FASB”) issued guidance for the presentation of an unraézedriax benefit whe
a net operating loss ("NOL") carryforward, a simiiax loss, or a tax credit carryforward existse uidance requires an entity to present ir
financial statements an unrecognized tax benefg, mortion of an unrecognized tax benefit, asdaicdon to a deferred tax asset for an NOL
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward. If the NOL carryforward, a similar téoss, or a tax credit carryforward is not
available at the reporting date under the tax lathe jurisdiction or the tax law of the jurisdioti does not require the entity to use, and the
entity does not intend to use, the deferred tagtdes such purpose, the unrecognized tax bendfibe presented in the financial statements a
a liability and will not be combined with deferrtak assets. This guidance does not require anyialali recurring disclosures and is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 20t®# adoption of this standard in 2014 did not heveaterial impact on our consolidated
financial statements.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of each of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we dichage any off-balance sheet arrangements, asadkiinitem 303(a)(4)(ii) of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company statu
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

As of December 31, 2014, our only debt obligatiaswelated to our Notes. In order to reduce thergial equity dilution that would res
upon conversion of the Senior Convertible Notedssaed in December 2014, we entered into note hiedgsactions with a financial
institution affiliated with one of the underwrites§the Senior Convertible Note offering. The nbéglge transactions are expected generally,
but not guaranteed, to reduce the potential ditutioour common stock and/or offset the cash paysnea are required to make in excess of
the principal amount upon any conversion of Se@ionvertible Notes, in the event that the marketeoper share of our common stock, as
measured under the terms of the Convertible Nottgel§ ransactions, is greater than the conversiop pf the Senior Convertible Notes,
which is initially approximately $69.48. In additipin order to partially offset the cost of theembedge transactions, we issued warrants to th
hedge counterparty to purchase approximately 2lliomshares of our common stock at a strike pat896.21. The warrants would separa
have a dilutive effect to the extent that the maviedue per share of our common stock exceedstiike price of the warrants. In addition, non-
performance by the counterparties under the hadgsdctions would potentially expose us to dilubbour common stock to the extent our
stock price exceeds the conversion price.

Interest on the Notes accrues at a fixed rate@%3n the outstanding principal amount of the Nates is paid semi-annually every
December 1st and June 1st until the Notes matuiesember 1, 2019. Since the interest rate islfime have no interest-rate market risk
related to the Notes. However, if our stock priveréases, the fair value of our Notes, and thigdtihood of being converted, will increase
accordingly.

We are exposed to risks associated with changesarest rates. The returns from certain of ouhaasd cash equivalents will vary as

short-term interest rates change. A 100 basis-painerse movement (decrease) in short-term inteattet would decrease the interest income
earned on our cash balance in the year ended Dece8hp2014 by approximately $2 thousand.

50




Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subgidthe “Company”as of Decemb:
31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidatéeinséats of operations, changes in stockholdsgsity, and cash flows for each of the yea
the two-year period ended December 31, 2014. Ttaniial statements are the responsibility of then@any's management. Our responsib
is to express an opinion on these financial statgsngased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggéments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disas in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respecdhi® tonsolidated financial position of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary as of Dece®be?2014 and 2013, and the consolidated resultsedf operations and their cash flows
each of the years in the twear period ended December 31, 2014 in conformitii accounting principles generally accepted in lthetec
States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bodtnited States), Al
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidianjiternal control over financial reporting as odde@mber 31, 2014, based on criteria establisheke

2013Internal Control - Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtee Treadway Commission (“COSP”
and our report dated February 23, 2015 expressedgumlified opinion thereon.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
February 23, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We have audited ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Slidnsi's (the “Company”)internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31
2014, based on criteria established in the 201&nal Control - Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO"). The Compangianagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financ
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiser@ internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management’
Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opingn the Compang’internal control ovi
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aalli@ing the design and operating effectivenesatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestawée believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranagiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateisidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclsdiose policies and procedures that (i) pertaithéomaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readdaaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaif unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sdlzsly maintained, in all material respects, effextinternal control over financial report
as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria estedlig the 201&ternal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolida
balance sheets of ANI Pharmaceutical, Inc. and iSislpg as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and ttatexk consolidated statements
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, asth §@ws for each of the years in the tywar period ended December 31, 2014, and our |
dated February 23, 2015 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York

February 23, 2015
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Current Asset
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable, net of $8,708 and $5,104 pfsiichents for chargebacks and other

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets

allowances at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respéc

Inventories, ne

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total Current Assets

Property and equipment, r
Deferred financing costs, n

Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowa

Intangible assets, n
Goodwill

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and ott

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equi

Accrued compensation and related expe

Current income taxes payal

Accrued Medicaid rebate
Returned goods reserve
Total Current Liabilities

Long-term Liabilities

Convertible notes, net of discount

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note

Stockholders' Equit

Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 33,333,334 slardwrized; 11,387,860 shares issued ar
outstanding at December 31, 2014; 9,629,174 shssved and 9,619,941 shares outstandir
December 31, 201

Class C Special Stock, $0.0001 par value, 781,R8fes authorized; 10,864 shares issued an
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respéc

Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,666,667 sharthorized; 0 shares issued and outstand
at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respecti

Treasury stock, 0 shares of common stock at Decefihe2014 and 9,233 shares of common
stock, at cost, at December 31, 2!

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated deficit
Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

December 31,

December 31,

2014 2013
$ 169,03 $ 11,10
17,29 12,51

7,51¢ 3,51¢

7,64 -

1,98 58(

203 47t 27,71¢

5,22t 4,53

3,307 -

7,79¢ -

42,06 10,40

1,83¢ 1,83

$ 263,70¢ $ 44,50(
$ 2,65¢ $ 1,42
1,26¢ 327

1,34 772

4,25: 2¢

2,26¢ 25¢

1,448 73€

13,23 3,53¢

110,69: -

$ 123,92: $ 3,53¢
1 1

- (68)

159,50 89,50
(19,729 (48,47))

139,78t 40,96

$ 263,70¢ $ 44,50(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofermmsolidated financial statements.
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years ended December :

2014 2013
Net Revenue $ 55,97 $ 30,08:
Operating Expense
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amoitinj 11,47: 9,97¢
Research and developme 2,67¢ 1,712
Selling, general and administrati 17,93t 16,38t
Depreciation and amortization 3,87¢ 1,11(C
Total Operating Expenses 35,96¢ 29,18«
Operating Income from Continuing Operatic 20,00¢ 89¢
Other Income/(Expensi
Interest expens (787) (467)
Other income/(expense) 16C (305
Income from Continuing Operations Before Benefitd{ision) for Income Taxe 19,37¢ 12¢
Benefit/(Provision) for income taxes 9,36¢ (20)
Net Income from Continuing Operatio 28,74 10€
Discontinued Operatio
Gain on discontinued operation, net of provisionifitome taxes - 19t
Net Income $ 28,74, $ 301
Computation of Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operatons Attributable to Common
Stockholders and Participating Securities:
Net Income from Continuing Operatio ¢ 28,741 $ 106
Preferred stock dividends - (4,979
Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations Attribde&ato Common Stockholders and Participati
Securities $ 28,747 $ (4,869
Basic Income/(Loss) Per Share:
Continuing operation $ 261 $ (0.9¢)
Discontinued operation - 0.0
Basic Income/(Loss) Per She¢ $ 261 $ (0.92)
Basic Weighte-Average Shares Outstandi 10,94 5,071
Diluted Income/(Loss) Per Share
Continuing operation $ 25¢ % (0.9¢)
Discontinued operation - 0.04
Diluted Income/(Loss) Per She $ 25¢ % (0.92)
Diluted Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding 11,05: 5,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderSquity
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands)

Common Common Class C Additional Treasury

Stock Stock Specia Paid-in Stock Treasury  Accumulatec
Par Value  Shares  Stock Capital Shares Stock Deficit Total

Balance, December 31, 20 - 4,07( - 1,08: - - (43,799  (42,71%)
Preferred Stock Dividenc - - - - (4,979 (4,97%)
Non-cash Compensation Relating to Business Combin - - - 4,41¢ - - - 4,41¢
Cancellation of Convertible Preferred Stc - - - 53,72¢ - - - 53,72¢
Shares Issued in Merg 1 5,46¢ - 29,79« - - - 29,79
Stocl-based Compensation Expel - - - 36 - - - 36
Purchase of Common Stock for Treas - - - - 59 (439) - (43¢
Issuance of Common Stock upon Warrant Exel - 9C - 80¢ - - 80¢
Treasury Stock Shares Issued as Restricted ! - - - (365) (5C) 36E - -
Net Income - - - - - 301 301
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1 9,62¢ $ - $ 89,50 9 $ 68 $ (48,477 $ 40,96:
Stocl-based Compensation Expel - - 3,42: - - - 3,42:
Issuance of Common Stock in Equity Offer - 1,61 - 46,68( - - - 46,68(
Allocation of proceeds from sale of Convertible &oto Embedde

Conversion Optiol - - - 20,19¢ - - - 20,19t
Cost of Bonr-hedge, Net of Proceeds from Sale of War - - - (2,575 - - - (2,575
Issuance of Common Stock upon Warrant Exel - 83 - 75C - - - 75C
Issuance of Common Stock upon Stock Option Exe - 43 - 81¢ - - - 81¢
Issuance of Common Stock as Restricted S - 20 - - - - - -
Treasury Stock Shares Issued as Restricted ! - - - (68) 9) 68 - -
Excess tax benefit from sh-based compensation awa - - - 784 - - - 784
Net Income - - - - - - 28,74, 28,74,
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 1 11,38¢ $ - $ 159,50¢ - $ - $ (19,72%) $139,78!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 2014 2013
Cash Flows From Operating Activiti
Net income $ 28,747 $ 301
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash asti equivalents provided by/(used in)
operating activities
Stoclk-based compensatic 3,42: 3€
Deferred taxe (14,459 -
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,87¢ 1,11C
Non-cash interest relating to eqt-linked securities and loan cost amortizai 55¢ 217
Non-cash compensation relating to business combin. - 4,41¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nétage acquired in business combinat
Accounts receivabl (4,789 (7,087
Inventories (3,46%) (70¢)
Prepaid expenst (55¢) (18¢)
Accounts payabl 22t (56~
Accrued compensation and related expe 57¢ (2,859
Current income taxes payal 4,23: 2C
Accrued Medicaid rebate 2,011 72
Accrued expenses, returned goods reserve and other 1,651 (67)
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by/(Use@am}inuing Operation 22,03 (5,289
Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operation - (195)
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by/(Use@m@rating Activities 22,03 (5,489
Cash Flows From Investing Activiti
Cash acquired in business combina - 18,19¢
Acquisition of product rights and other relatedets (34,639 -
Release of restricted ca - 2,26(
Acquisition of property and equipment (1,120) (197
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in)/Providelgsting Activities (35,759 20,26"
Cash Flows From Financing Activitis
Net proceeds from equity offerir 46,68( -
Net proceeds from convertible debt offer 138,24: -
Purchase of call option overlay, r (15,627 -
Repayment of line of credit, n - (4,06%)
Proceeds from stock option exerci: 81¢ -
Proceeds from warrant exerc 75C 80¢
Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensation awal 784 -
Treasury stock purchases - (439)
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by/(UseBiirgncing Activities 171,65: (3,689
Change in Cash and Cash Equivale 157,93. 11,09
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 11,10¢ 11
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 169,03 $ 11,10¢
Supplemental disclosure for cash flow informati
Cash paid for intere: $ - $ 25C
Cash paid for income tax $ 147  $ -
Supplemental nc-cash investing and financing activiti
Issuance of common stock in connection with busireesnbinatior $ - $ 40,03«
Cancellation of Series D, Series C, Series B, ®1tS A preferred stoc $ - $ 53,72¢
Acquired noi-cash net asse $ - % 11,597
Preferred stock dividends accrued $ - $ 4,97¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Business

” o

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated mlidas/, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, “ANIthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our”) is a specialty pharmaceutical company, dep&lg and marketing generic and branded prescrigtioducts. ANI was organized as a
Delaware corporation in April 2001. At our two fétiés located in Baudette, Minnesota, which hawembined manufacturing, packaging anc
laboratory capacity totaling 173,000 square feetymanufacture oral solid dose products, as wdihails and topicals, including those that
must be manufactured in a fully contained environtaieie to their potency. We also perform contraghufacturing for other pharmaceutical
companies.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, IBio$ante”) acquired ANIP Acquisition Company (“AN)Rn an all-stock, tax-free
reorganization (the “Merger”) (Note 2), in which ANbecame a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioSanteSinte was renamed ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accountedd@ar reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP ezasidered the acquiring entity for
accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historicallte®f operations replace BioSante's historicaliits of operations for all periods prior to
Merger. The results of operations of both compaaiesncluded in our consolidated financial statetsiéor all periods after completion of the
Merger.

Our operations are subject to certain risks an@tainties including, among others, current aneépitdl competitors with greater
resources, dependence on significant customefspfamperating history and uncertainty of futurefitability and possible fluctuations in
financial results. The accompanying consolidatedritial statements have been prepared assumingehaill continue as a going concern,
which contemplates continuity of operations, reslan of assets, and satisfaction of liabilitiegtie ordinary course of business. The propriet
of using the going-concern basis is dependent ugmiong other things, the achievement of futureifadole operations, the ability to generate
sufficient cash from operations, and potential pfbhading sources, including cash on hand, to maebbligations as they become due. We
believe the going-concern basis is appropriatéhferaccompanying consolidated financial statemies$éed on our current operating plan
through December 31, 2015.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP"). Certain@rperiod information has been reclassified to oamfto the current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its whaolNyned subsidiary, ANIP. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactaasliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimatesasslimptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andalisice of contingent assets and liabilities atdhte of the financial statements and the repc
amount of revenues and expenses during the reggeéiriod. In the accompanying consolidated findrat@tements, estimates are used for, bt
not limited to, stock-based compensation, allowdnceloubtful accounts, accruals for chargebacksdighid rebates, returns and other
allowances, allowance for inventory obsolescenaiijation of financial instruments and intangibleets, accruals for contingent liabilities, 1
value of long-lived assets, deferred taxes andat@ln allowance, and the depreciable lives of lbmed assets. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Credit Concentration
Our customers are primarily wholesale distributohgin drug stores, group purchasing organizatiamg,other pharmaceutical compan

During the year ended December 31, 2014, thre@st represented approximately 27%, 21%, and f#¥étaevenues, respectively.
As of December 31, 2014, accounts receivable floead customers totaled 73% of net accounts redeiMabring the year ended
December 31, 2013, three customers representedxapgately 27%, 18%, and 10% of net revenues, resdy.

Vendor Concentration

We source the raw materials for its products, iditlg active pharmaceutical ingredients (“API”),frdoth domestic and international
suppliers. Generally, only a single source of APdjualified for use in each product due to thescast time required to validate a second
source of supply. As a result, we are dependem opo current vendors to supply reliably the ARjuieed for ongoing product manufacturii
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we puechagproximately 42% of our inventory from two sligns. As of December 31, 2014,
amounts payable to these suppliers were immaté&naing the year ended December 31, 2013, we paechapproximately 37% of our
inventory from three suppliers.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for product sales and atintranufacturing product sales upon passing ofaigktitle to the customer, when
estimates of the selling price and discounts, eshatromotional adjustments, price adjustmentsrmef chargebacks, and other potential
adjustments are reasonably determinable, colle@iosasonably assured, and we have no furtheonqpeaice obligations. Contract
manufacturing arrangements are typically less thanweeks in duration, and therefore the revenuedsgnized upon completion of the
aforementioned factors rather than using a proguatiperformance method of revenue recognition. 8dtenates for discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returinargebacks, and other potential adjustmentseedross revenues to net revenues in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatanmtsare presented as current liabilities or rédaostin accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (seeUAlscior Chargebacks, Rebates, Returns, and Oftewances”).Historically, we have n
entered into revenue arrangements with multiplmelgs.

Occasionally, we engage in contract services, winiclude product development services, laborateryises, and royalties on net sales of
certain contract manufactured products. For theegces, revenue is recognized according to thagaf the agreement with the customer,
which sometimes include substantive, measuralitebased milestones, and when we have a contraighalto receive such payment, the
contract price is fixed or determinable, the cdllat of the resulting receivable is reasonably ss$uand we have no further performance
obligations under the agreement .

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid instruments with maties of three months or less when purchased twash equivalents. All interest bear
and noninterest bearing accounts are guaranteed by th€ EPlto $250 thousand. We may maintain cash badanoexcess of FDIC covera
We consider this to be a normal business risk.

In conjunction with the Merger, we acquired res&itcash, none of which remained at December 313 202014.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Accounts Receivable

We extend credit to customers on an unsecured.Msisise the allowance method to provide for dadlsicounts based on our
evaluation of the collectability of accounts reedile, whereby we provide an allowance for doutdfidounts equal to the estimated
uncollectible amounts. Our estimate is based aiofitsl collection experience and a review of therent status of trade accounts receivable.
We determine trade receivables to be delinquentvgneater than 30 days past due. Receivables @temoff when it is determined that
amounts are uncollectible. We determined that lowaince for doubtful accounts was necessary asoember 31, 2014 and 2013.

Accruals for Chargebacks, Rebates, Returns and Othe\llowances

Our generic and branded product revenues are thpgject to agreements with customers allowihgrgebacks, Medicaid rebates,
product returns, administrative fees, and otheateand prompt payment discounts. We accrue ésethiems at the time of sale based on the
estimates and methodologies described below. ladigeegate, these accruals exceed 50% of genafibranded gross product sales and
reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the aeeing consolidated statements of operations, emgr@sented as current liabilities or
reductions in accounts receivable in the accompangdnsolidated balance sheets. We continually tnoand re-evaluate the accruals as
additional information becomes available, whicHukes, among other things, updates to trade invetgeels, claims data from recent peric
and customer product mix. We make adjustmentsg@dticruals at the end of each reporting periotkftect any such updates to the relevant
facts and circumstances. Accruals are relieved upogipt of payment from or upon issuance of criedihe customer.

Chargebacks

Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, resulirfrarrangements we have with indirect customerdbsiéng prices for products which
the indirect customer purchases through a wholesaliernatively, we may pre-authorize wholesalgreffer specified contract pricing to
other indirect customers. Under either arrangenveatprovide a chargeback credit to the wholesaleafy difference between the contracted
price with the indirect customer and the wholesal@voice price, typically Wholesale Acquisitiom& ("WAC").

Chargeback credits are calculated as follows:

Prior period chargebacks claimed by wholesaleraaatyzed to determine the actual average selliicg §'ASP") for each product. This
calculation is performed by product by wholesa#8Ps can be affected by several factors such as:

« A change in customer mix

« A change in negotiated terms with customers

« A change in product sales mix

« A change in the volume of off-contract purchases
« Changes in WAC

As necessary, we adjust ASPs based on anticiphgethes in the factors above.

The difference between ASP and WAC is recordedraslaction in both gross revenues in the consaitlatatements of operations and
accounts receivable in the consolidated balancetshat the time we recognize revenue from theymioshle.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

To evaluate the adequacy of our chargeback ac¢mualsbtain oriiand inventory counts from the wholesalers. Thigintory is multiplies
by the chargeback amount, the difference betwed? &% WAC, to arrive at total expected future cbbegks, which is then compared to the
chargeback accruals. We continually monitor chaagklactivity and adjust ASPs when we believe tbaial selling prices will differ from
current ASPs.

Medicaid Rebate

We participate in certain qualifying federal andtstMedicaid rebate programs whereby discountseimates are provided to participating
programs after the final dispensing of the prodyca pharmacy to a Medicaid plan participant. Maiticebates are typically billed up to
135 days after the product is shipped. Medicaidtemounts per product unit are established bybaged on the Average Manufacturer
Price (“AMP"), which is reported on a monthly andagterly basis, and, in the case of branded prsgbesst price, which is reported on a
quarterly basis. Our Medicaid reserves are basaxkpacted claims from state Medicaid programsnizgts for expected claims are driven by
patient usage, sales mix, calculated AMP or basepas well as inventory in the distribution chathat will be subject to a Medicaid rebate.
As a result of the delay between selling the prégland rebate billing, our Medicaid rebate resémekides both an estimate of outstanding
claims for end-customer sales that occurred buivfach the related claim has not been billed ad ashn estimate for future claims that will
be made when inventory in the distribution chanssbld through to plan participants.

To evaluate the adequacy of our Medicaid rebag&rveswe review the reserve on a quarterly basifhagactual claims data to ensure the
liability is fairly stated. We continually monitaur Medicaid rebate reserve and adjust our estsrifitee believe that actual Medicaid rebates
may differ from our established accruals. AccrdaisMedicaid rebates are recorded as a reductigndss revenues in the consolidated
statements of operations and as an increase tdetiaid rebate reserve in the consolidated balaheets.

Returns

We maintain a return policy that allows customereeturn product within a specified period priomiod subsequent to the expiration date
Generally, product may be returned for a periodriggg six months prior to its expiration date {oto one year after its expiration date. Our
product returns are settled through the issuaneecoédit to the customer. Our estimate for retisrmased upon historical experience with
actual returns. While such experience has allowedegfasonable estimation in the past, history nwalways be an accurate indicator of fui
returns. We continually monitor our estimates &turns and make adjustments when we believe thadlgroduct returns may differ from the
established accruals. Accruals for returns arerdsebas a reduction to gross revenues in the ddased statements of operations and as an
increase to the return goods reserve in the catwtelil balance sheets.

Administrative Fees and Other Reba

Administrative fees or rebates are offered to wkallers, group purchasing organizations and indoestomers. We accrue for fees and
rebates, by product by wholesaler, at the timeatef based on contracted rates and ASPs.

To evaluate the adequacy of our administrativeafauals, we obtain on-hand inventory counts froewtholesalers. This inventory is
multiplied by the ASPs to arrive at total expedhetire sales, which is then multiplied by contractates. The result is then compared to the
administrative fee accruals. We continually moné@dministrative fee activity and adjust our accsughen we believe that actual
administrative fees will differ from the accruadsccruals for administrative fees and other rebatesrecorded as a reduction in both gross
revenues in the consolidated statements of opesatind accounts receivable in the consolidatedhbalsheets.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Prompt Payment Discoun

We often grant sales discounts for prompt paynigmt.reserve for sales discounts is based on ins@igtstanding. We assume, based on
past experience, that all available discounts lvaltaken. Accruals for prompt payment discountsecerded as a reduction in both gross

revenues in the consolidated statements of opesatind accounts receivable in the consolidatedhbalsheets.

The following table summarizes activity in the colidated balance sheets for accruals and allowafiocéke years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013:

(in thousands) Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowaes
Administrative Prompt
Medicaid Fees and Othe Payment

Chargeback:  Returns Rebates Rebates Discounts
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 5,66 $ 411 $ 18C $ 231 % 24z
Accruals/Adjustment 28,00¢ 1,59¢ 33: 2,35¢ 1,12¢
Credits Taken Against Reserve (29,59%) (1,270) (260) (1,85)) (1,039
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 4,07¢ $ 73€ $ 25z $ 73 $ 332
Accruals/Adjustment 35,74( 1,49: 2,692 5,212 1,82(
Credits Taken Against Reserve (32,95) (784) (681) (4,460 (1,687)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 6,865 $ 1448 $ 2,26¢ $ 1,481 $ 471

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, packagingemals, work-in-progress, and finished goods. Inggas are stated at the lower of
standard cost or net realizable value. We peridigicaview and adjust standard costs, which geheegdproximate weighted average cost.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Exjpeesl for repairs and maintenance are chargegpense as incurred. Depreciation is
recorded on a straight-line basis over estimatetulfives as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 20- 40 year
Machinery, furniture and equipme 3- 10 year

Construction in progress includes the cost of goetibn and other direct costs attributable todbestruction, along with capitalized
interest, if any. Depreciation is not recorded onstruction in progress until such time as thetass® placed in service.

We review property and equipment for impairment méar events or changes in circumstances indibatete carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability ofahg-lived asset is measured by a comparisoneo€étirying amount of the asset to future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be gemkbgtéhe asset. If such assets are considereditogzéred, the impairment to be recognized
is measured by the amount by which the carryinguarhof the assets exceeds the estimated fair wdltiee assets. Assets held for disposal ar
reportable at the lower of the carrying amountaar ¥alue, less costs to sell. We determined tbaissets were impaired and no assets were
held for disposal as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible Assets

Intangible assets were acquired as part of the dtexgd several asset acquisition transactions.eTéesets include product rights for the
31 previously marketed generic products we acquin@d Teva, product rights for our branded produgtsobid and Vancocin, fully
amortized product rights for Reglan and a genandipct, and the Teva license related to our makesterone gel. These intangible assets
originally were recorded at fair value and areestatet of accumulated amortization.

The rights and licenses are amortized over theiaming estimated useful lives, ranging from 2 toygars, based on the straight-line
method. Management reviews definite-lived intargydsssets for impairment whenever events or changicumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable, in a masingitar to that for property and equipment.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the Merger and represents ¥oess of the total purchase consideration ovefainealue of acquired assets and
assumed liabilities, using the purchase methoatodanting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subjecperiodic review for impairment.
Goodwill is reviewed annually, as of October 31d arhenever events or changes in circumstancesatedibat the carrying amount of the
goodwill might not be recoverable. We perform caniew of goodwill on our one reporting unit.

Before employing detailed impairment testing metilodies, we first evaluate the likelihood of impaéent by considering qualitative
factors relevant to our reporting unit. When parfing the qualitative assessment, we evaluate eemgtsircumstances that would affect the
significant inputs used to determine the fair vadfithe goodwill. Events and circumstances evalliaielude: macroeconomic conditions that
could affect us, industry and market considerationshe generic pharmaceutical industry that caifdct us, cost factors that could affect our
performance, our financial performance (includihgre price), and consideration of any company-§fipemients that could negatively affect
us, our business, or the fair value of our businésge determine that it is more likely than nbat goodwill is impaired, we will then apply
detailed testing methodologies. Otherwise, we @aliclude that no impairment has occurred.

Detailed impairment testing involves comparing féie value of our one reporting unit to its carnyivalue, including goodwill. Fair value
reflects the price a market participant would bbing to pay in a potential sale of ANI. If the faialue exceeds carrying value, then it is
concluded that no goodwill impairment has occurtethe carrying value of the reporting unit exceéts fair value, a second step is require
measure possible goodwill impairment loss. The séctep includes hypothetically valuing the tangidhd intangible assets and liabilities of
our one reporting unit as if it had been acquired business combination. Then, the implied fawe@f our one reporting unit's goodwill is
compared to the carrying value of that goodwilthié carrying value of our one reporting unit's il exceeds the implied fair value of the
goodwill, we recognize an impairment loss in an ama@qual to the excess, not to exceed the carmahg.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Collaborative Arrangements

At times, we have entered into arrangements wittoua commercial partners to further business dpjpdties. In collaborative
arrangements such as these, when we are actiwalyéd and exposed to the risks and rewards oéthigities and are determined to be the
principal participant in the collaboration, we d#g third party costs incurred and revenues indbiesolidated statements of operations on a
gross basis. Otherwise, third party revenues arts@enerated by collaborative arrangements asepted on a net basis. Payments between
us and the other participants are recorded andifitxsbased on the nature of the payments.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed agdhand primarily consist of expenses relatingrmduct development. Research and
development costs totaled $2.7 million and $1.7ionilfor the years ended December 31, 2014 and,2@%Bectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have a stockased compensation plan that includes stock opindgestricted stock, which are awarded in exchdogemployee ar
non-employee director services. We recognize ttimated fair value of stock-based awards and dlasisé expense where the underlying
salaries are classified. For the year ended Dece®1h014, $0.1 million of expense related to ktbased awards was classified as cost of
goods sold, $0.1 million was classified as researchdevelopment expense and $3.2 million wasiiledss sales, general and administrative
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateroéotserations. For the year ended December 313,20lstock-based awards were
classified as sales, general and administrativeresgin the accompanying consolidated statememigashtions. Stock-based compensation
cost for stock options is determined at the grame dising an option pricing model and stock-basadpensation cost for restricted stock is
based on the closing market price of the stocheagtant date. The value of the award that is ali@tly expected to vest is recognized as
expense on a straight-line basis over the emplsyegquisite service period.

Valuation of stock awards requires us to make aptions and to apply judgment to determine thevfalue of the awards. These
assumptions and judgments include estimating thedwolatility of our stock price, dividend yieldsiture employee turnover rates, and fut
employee stock option exercise behaviors. Changtsese assumptions can affect the fair value astim

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accourfingncome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liagdsliare determined based on difference
between the financial reporting and tax bases sgtasand liabilities and are measured using theteddax rates and laws that are expected to
be in effect when the differences are expectedverse. The effect on deferred tax assets anditiediof a change in tax rates is recognized ir
the period that such tax rate changes are endldtedneasurement of a deferred tax asset is redificeztessary, by a valuation allowance if it
is more likely than not that some portion or altleé deferred tax asset will not be realized. Weutate income tax benefits related to stock-
based compensation arrangements using the witlwiihodut method.

We use a recognition threshold and a measuremigibuse for the financial statement recognition anelasurement of tax positions taken
or expected to be taken in a tax return. For tihesefits to be recognized, a tax position must besrikely-than-not to be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities. We have not tdieal any uncertain income tax positions that dduhve a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements. We are subjetetdation in various jurisdictions in the U.S. arthain subject to examination by taxing
jurisdictions for the years 1998 and all subseqpenibds due to the availability of net operatiogd carryforwards
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For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

We recognize interest and penalties accrued omargcognized tax exposures as a component of intaxmexpense. We did not have
such amounts accrued as of December 31, 2014 a&d 20

We consider potential tax effects resulting fromcdntinued operations and record intra-period Baxations, when those effects are
deemed material.

Earnings/(Loss) per Share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed bylitiginet income/(loss) available to common shawdrsl by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhiegeriod.

Our unvested restricted shares and certain of istanding warrants contain non-forfeitable rigitslividends, and therefore are
considered to be participating securities; theuaton of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) perstexcludes from the numerator net income
(but not net loss) attributable to the unvestetticted shares and to the participating warramntd, éxcludes the impact of those shares from th
denominator.

For purposes of determining diluted earnings/(Ip&s)share, we have elected a policy to assumehtairincipal portion of the Notes (!
Note 3) is settled in cash. As such, the princgation of the Notes has no effect on either thmerator or denominator when determir
diluted earnings/(loss) per share. Any conversiaim s assumed to be settled in shares and ispocated in diluted earnings/(loss) per s
using the treasury method. The warrants issueaijuoction with the issuance of the Notes (see Ntare considered to be dilutive wl
they are in-thenoney relative to our average stock price durirgpkriod; the bond hedge purchased in conjunctitim tlve issuance of tl
Notes is always considered to be -dilutive.

For periods of net income, and when the effectsatanti-dilutive, we calculate diluted earnings phare by dividing net income
available to common shareholders by the weightesteape number of shares outstanding plus the ingdadk potential dilutive common
shares, consisting primarily of common stock optjamvested restricted stock awards, stock puralvasmnts, and any conversion gain on
3.0% Convertible Senior Notes due December 1, ZIES“Notes,”’see Note 3), using the treasury stock method. Enogs of net loss, dilute
loss per share is calculated similarly to basis jo=r share.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The numerator for earnings per share for the yeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013 are calculatdzh$ic and diluted earnings per
share as follows:

Basic Diluted
Year ended Year ended
(in thousands) December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net income $ 28,747 $ 10€ $ 28,747 $ 10€
Preferred stock dividenc - (4,975 (4,975
Net income allocated to restricted stock (159 - (15¢) -
Net income/(loss) from continuing operations altecato
common shares $ 28,58( $ (4,869 $ 28,58¢ $ (4,869)
Gain on discontinued operatio $ - $ 19t $ - 3 19t
Net gain on discontinued operations allocated torawds - @ - ()
Net gain on discontinued operations allocated $triced
stock - - - -
Gain on discontinued operations allocated to comsi@nes $ - $ 194 $ - % 192
Basic Weighte-Average Shares Outstandi 10,94: 5,071 10,94: 5,071
Dilutive effect of stock option 71 -
Dilutive effect of warrants 41 -
Diluted Weighte-Average Shares Outstandi 11,05: 5,071
Earnings Per share from Continuing Operati $ 261 $ (0.9¢) $ 25¢ $ (0.9¢)
Earnings Per share from Discontinued Operation - 0.04 - 0.04
Earnings/(Loss) Per Share $ 261 $ (092 $ 25¢ $ (0.92)

Anti-dilutive shares consist of out-of-the-money&3 C Special stock, out-of-the-money common sptions, common stock options
that are anti-dilutive when calculating the impafthe potential dilutive common shares using teadury stock method , out-of-the-money
warrants exercisable for common stock, and cepaiticipating securities, if the effect of includiboth the income allocated to the
participating security and the impact of the partommon shares would be anti-dilutive. The nunmdfeanti-dilutive shares, which have be
excluded from the computation of diluted earnirigs) per share and which include the shares undgrihe Notes, were 4.7 million and 2.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2014 &kB2

As of December 31, 2014, we had 0.5 million commstmtk options, 0.1 million unvested restricted ktawards, and 2.5 million warrants
exercisable for common stock outstanding.

Stock Splits and Other Reclassifications

In July 2013, our Board of Directors and stockhaddgpproved a resolution to effect a one-for-sierse stock split of our common stock
and Class C Special stock with no corresponding@hao the par values. The number of authorizetesha common stock, Class C Special
stock and blank check preferred stock was reducagbptionally. Common stock and Class C Speciatlstor all periods presented have beer
adjusted retrospectively to reflect the one-forfeixerse stock split.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our consolidated balance sheets include varioamfial instruments (primarily cash and cash eqaival prepaid expenses, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensestlaadcurrent liabilities) that are carried attcmsd that approximate fair value. The fair
value of our long-term indebtedness is estimategdan the quoted prices for the same or simigaeis, or on the current rates we have been
offered for debt of the same remaining maturitiegr value is the price that would be received ftbmsale of an asset or paid to transfer a
liability assuming an orderly transaction in theshadvantageous market at the measurement dateGWAP establishes a hierarchical
disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranke ligvel of observability of inputs used in measgifiair value. These tiers include:

« Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markieat are accessible at the measurement datgefotidal assets or liabilities. The
fair value hierarchy gives the highest priorityLievel 1 inputs

« Level 2—Observable market-based inputs other themtegl prices in active markets for identical assetmbilities.

o Level 3—Unobservable inputs are used when littltammarket data is available. The fair value hidmrgives the lowest priority to
Level 3 inputs

See Note 7 for additional information regarding failue.
Segment Information
We currently operate in a single business segment.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the FASB issued guidance requinr@anpagement to evaluate on a regular basis whetlyeranditions or events have
arisen that could raise substantial doubt abouétitiéy’s ability to continue as a going concerheTguidance 1) provides a definition for the
term “substantial doubt,” 2) requires an evaluaBeery reporting period, interim periods includdfiprovides principles for considering the
mitigating effect of managemeatplans to alleviate the substantial doubt, 4) iregicertain disclosures if the substantial dosilatlieviated as
result of management’s plans, 5) requires an egm®dement, as well as other disclosures, iftbstantial doubt is not alleviated, and 6)
requires an assessment period of one year fromateethe financial statements are issued. The atdrsl effective for our reporting year
beginning January 1, 2017 and early adoption imjitxd. We do not expect the adoption of this staddo have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance for revemeegnition for contracts, superseding the previeusnue recognition requirements,
along with most existing industry-specific guidanthe guidance requires an entity to review comsracfive steps: 1) identify the contract, 2)
identify performance obligations, 3) determine ttamsaction price, 4) allocate the transactiongpramd 5) recognize revenue. The new
standard will result in enhanced disclosures raggrthe nature, amount, timing and uncertaintyesenue arising from contracts with
customers. The standard is effective for our répgrgear beginning January 1, 2017 and early adops not permitted. We are currently
evaluating the impact, if any, that this standailllvave on our consolidated financial statements.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardafq“FASB”) issued guidance for the presentation of an unraézedriax benefit whe
a net operating loss ("NOL") carryforward, a simiiax loss, or a tax credit carryforward existse uidance requires an entity to present i
financial statements an unrecognized tax benefa, gortion of an unrecognized tax benefit, asdaicdon to a deferred tax asset for an NOL
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward. If the NOL carryforward, a similar téoss, or a tax credit carryforward is not
available at the reporting date under the tax lathe jurisdiction or the tax law of the jurisdioti does not require the entity to use, and the
entity does not intend to use, the deferred tagtdes such purpose, the unrecognized tax bendfibes presented in the financial statements a
a liability and will not be combined with deferreak assets. This guidance does not require anyiaaali recurring disclosures and is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 201® adoption of this standard in 2014 did not heaveaterial impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

We have evaluated all other issued and unadopteduiting Standards Updates and believe the adopfitrese standards will not hav
material impact on its consolidated results of afiens, financial position, or cash flows.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On June 19, 2013, BioSante acquired ANIP in astaltk, tax-free reorganization. We are operatingeuthe leadership of the ANIP
management team and the board of directors is deetbof two former directors from BioSante and fisemer ANIP directors.

BioSante issued to ANIP stockholders shares of &S common stock such that the ANIP stockholdersed 57% of the combined
company’s shares outstanding, and the former BiSstockholders owned 43%. In addition, immediagelgr to the Merger, BioSante
distributed to its then current stockholders cageint value rights (“CVR”) providing payment riglggsing from a future sale, transfer, license

or similar transaction(s) involving BioSante’s L@#|® (female testosterone gel).

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acguigtirsuant to which ANIP was considered the agggientity for accounting purpos
As such, ANIP's historical results of operationgaee BioSante's historical results of operatiamsafl periods prior to the Merger. BioSante,
the accounting acquiree, was a publicly-traded phaeutical company focused on developing high vahesdically-needed products. ANIP
entered into the Merger to secure additional chaitd gain access to capital market opportunitiea public company.

The results of operations of both companies aredied in our consolidated financial statementsafbperiods after completion of the
Merger.

Transaction Costs

In conjunction with the Merger, we incurred approately $7.1 million in transaction costs, which eexpensed in the periods in which
they were incurred. These costs include:

Category (in thousands
Legal fees $ 1,22]
Accounting fee: 12z
Consulting fee: 11¢
Monitoring and advisory fee 39C
Transaction bonust 4,801
Other 42¢

Total transaction costs $ 7,08¢
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2. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Of the total expenses, $6.2 million was incurred expensed in the year ended December 31, 2013 ndibion as selling, general and
administrative expense, $0.3 million as interegtesse, and $0.4 million as other expense, in therapanying consolidated statements of
operations. No transaction-related expenses wetgrigd in the year ended December 31, 2014 .

Purchase Consideration and Net Assets Acquired

The fair value of BioSante's common stock usedatedmining the purchase price was $1.22 per sti@elosing price on June 19, 2013,

which resulted in a total purchase consideratiob2%.8 million. The fair value of all additionalrgideration, including the vested BioSante

stock options and CVRs, was immaterial. The follmyvpresents the final allocation of the purchasesicteration to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed on June 19, 2013:

(in thousands

Total purchase considerat 29,79t
Assets acquire

Cash and cash equivalel 18,19¢
Restricted cas 2,26(
Teva license intangible as: 10,90(
Other tangible asse 79
Deferred tax assets, r -
Goodwill 1,83¢
Total asse 33,27¢

Liabilities assume:
Accrued severanc 2,96t
Other liabilities 51E
Total liabilities 3,48(
Total net assets acquii  $ 29,79¢

The Teva license is related to our generic makesésrone gel product and is being amortized dnagghit-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 11 years. Goodwill, which is not tdgductible since the transaction was structuredtag-free exchange, is considered an
indefinite-lived asset and relates primarily taimgible assets that do not qualify for separategeition. As a result of purchase accounting
related to the Merger, we established deferrecissets of $9.6 million, deferred tax liabilitiesg¥.9 million, and a valuation allowance of §
million, netting to deferred tax assets of $0.

Former BioSante operations generated no revenua@paapense in the year ended December 31, 20ishefF@ioSante operations

generated $0.5 million of revenue in a non-recgrpayment related to the Teva license, and no esepifom the acquisition date through
December 31, 2013.
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2. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Informationunaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma condensed comtbhifreancial information summarizes the results pémtions for 2013 as if the
Merger had been completed as of January 1, 20bZXoRna information reflects adjustments relatiadi} elimination of the interest on
ANIP’s senior and equity-linked securities , (iiin@nation of monitoring and advisory fees payatdéwo ANIP investors, (i) elimination of
transaction costs, and (iv) amortization of intéhes acquired. The pro forma amounts do not purpdse indicative of the results that would
have actually been obtained if the Merger had aeduas of January 1, 2012 or that may be obtaiméuki future.

Year ended
(in thousands December 31,
2013
Net revenue $ 30,22¢
Net income/(loss $ 89

3. INDEBTEDNESS
Convertible Senior Notes

In December 2014, we issued $143.8 million of ooteN in a registered public offering. After dedngtthe underwriting discounts and
commissions and other expenses (including theasttaf the bond hedge and warrant, discussed betbenet proceeds from the offering
were approximately $122.6 million. The Notes pa3#8.nterest semi-annually in arrears on June 1Dsmawember 1 of each year, starting on
June 1, 2015 and are due December 1, 2019. The M#econvertible into 2,068,793 shares of commacksbased on an initial conversion
price of $69.48 per share.

The Notes are convertible at the option of the &o(g during any calendar quarter beginning affarch 31, 2015, if the last reported sale
price of the common stock for at least 20 tradiagsd(whether or not consecutive) during a perio8@tonsecutive trading days ending on the
last trading day of the immediately preceding caserguarter is greater than or equal to 130% ottimrersion price on each applicable tra
day, (ii) during the five business days after amg tonsecutive trading day period in which thelimg price per $1,000 principal amount of the
Notes for each trading day of such period wastlesms 98% of the product of the last reported setepf our common stock and t
conversion rate on each such trading day; andofiiipr after June 1, 2019 until the second schedudeling day immediately preceding the
maturity date.

Upon conversion by the holders, we may elect tieesstich conversion in shares of our common stoagh, or a combination thereof. A
result of our cash conversion option, we separatetpunted for the value of the embedded convergition as a debt discount (with an offset
to APIC) of $33.6 million. The value of the embeddm®mnversion option was determined based on tlmastd fair value of the debt without
the conversion feature, which was determined usiagket comparables to estimate the fair valueroflai non-convertible debt (see Note 7);
the debt discount is being amortized as additiapalcash interest expense using the effectivedstenethod over the term of the Notes.

Offering costs of $5.5 million have been allocatethe debt and equity components in proportiothéoallocation of proceeds to the
components, as deferred financing costs and etpsityance costs, respectively. The deferred fingnoists of $4.2 million are being amorti:
as additional non-cash interest expense usingithiglst-line method over the term of the debt, sitiis method was not significantly different
from the effective interest method. The $1.3 millortion allocated to equity issuance costs wasggd to APIC.
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3. INDEBTEDNESS (Continued)

A portion of the offering proceeds was used to $iameously enter into “bond hedge” (or purchasdl) aad “warrant” (or written call)
transactions with an affiliate of one of the offeriunderwriters (collectively, the “Call Option Qlay”). We entered into the Call Option
Overlay to synthetically raise the initial conversiprice of the Notes to $96.21 per share and eethepotential common stock dilution that
may arise from the conversion of the Notes. Theaise price of the bond hedge is $69.48 per shdtk,an underlying 2,068,792 common
shares; the exercise price of the warrant is $96e2 5hare of our common stock, also with an ugdeyl2,068,792 common shares. Because
the bond hedge and warrant are both indexed tcmumon stock and otherwise would be classifiedjasity we recorded both elements as
equity, resulting in a net reduction to APIC of $ fillion.

The carrying value of the Notes is as follows aBDetember 31:

(in thousands) 2014

Principal amoun $ 143,75(
Unamortized debt discount (33,059
Net Carrying value $ 110,69:

The following table sets forth the components ¢élttinterest expensefelated to the Notes recognized in the accompangamgolidate
statements of operations for the year ended Dece®ibe

(in thousands) 2014
Contractual coupo $ 2572
Amortization of debt discour 48¢
Amortization of finance fees 70
$ 811

The effective interest rate on the Notes is 7.7&0am annualized basis.
4. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following asidcember 31.:

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Raw material $ 5,05¢ $ 1,48(
Packaging materia 794 76€
Work-in-progress 411 162
Finished goods 1,36¢ 1,152
7,62¢ 3,56(

Reserve for excess/obsolete inventories (113) (42)
Inventories, net $ 7,561¢ $ 3,51¢
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, Plant and Equipment consist of the foitmas of December 31:

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Land $ 87 $ 87
Buildings 3,68 3,68
Machinery, furniture and equipme 4,82 3,73¢
Construction in progress 42€ 22¢
9,017 7,73¢

Less: accumulated depreciation (3,799 (3,197
Property, Plant and Equipment, net  $ 522 $ 4,53

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@034 and 2013 totaled $597 thousand and $53&#mal, respectively. During the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, thereawasiterial interest capitalized into constructinprogress

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

As a result of the Merger (Note 2), we recordeddyab of $1.8 million in our one reporting unit. Wassess the recoverability of the
carrying value of goodwill on an annual basis a®cfober 31 of each year, and whenever events acatircumstances changes that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of eeporting unit below its carrying value.

For the goodwill impairment analysis performed atdber 31, 2014, we performed a qualitative assessto determine whether it was
more likely than not that our goodwill asset wapéained in order to determine the necessity of perfiog a quantitative impairment test, under
which management would calculate the asset’s fdirer When performing the qualitative assessmemgwaluate events and circumstances
that would affect the significant inputs used ttedenine the fair value of the goodwill. Events amtumstances evaluated include:
macroeconomic conditions that could affect us, giduand market considerations for the genericplaaeutical industry that could affect us,
cost factors that could affect our performance,fmancial performance (including share price), andsideration of any company-specific
events that could negatively affect us, our businesour fair value. Based on our assessmeneddfitrementioned factors, it was determined
that it was more likely than not that the fair \@lf our one reporting unit is greater than itsydgag amount as of October 31, 2014, and
therefore no quantitative testing for impairmensweaquired.

In addition to the qualitative impairment analyg&sformed at October 31, 2014, there were no ewmnthanges in circumstances that
could have reduced the fair value of our reporting below its carrying value from October 31, 2@@éDecember 31, 2014. No impairment
loss was recognized during the years ended Dece®ih@014 and 2013, and the gross and net baldrgmodwill was $1.8 million as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Acquisition of Abbreviated New Drug Applications

On December 26, 2013, we entered into an agreeim@uirchase (the “Teva Purchase Agreement”) AbbtediNew Drug Applications
(“ANDAS") to produce 31 generic drug products frdrava Pharmaceuticals (“Teva”) for $12.5 millionciash and a percentage of future gros:
profits from product sales. According to the tehshe Teva Purchase Agreement, Teva was requirptbivide soft copy materials and
transfer ownership of the ANDAs to us within fivadiness days of signing the Teva Purchase Agregimetive were required to pay the first
installment of $8.5 million upon receipt thereoévh provided the soft copy materials and transfieorenership of the ANDASs to us on Jant
2, 2014 and we paid the first installment of $8i8iom to Teva on January 2, 2014. Teva was alspired to provide hard copy materials to us
within 90 days of signing the Teva Purchase Agregnieeva provided the hard copy materials on M&i,c2014 and we paid the $4.0 million
balance on March 6, 2014.

The drug products include 20 solid-oral immediaease products, four extended release productseaaah liquid products. The ANDAs
are being amortized in full over their useful livaseraging 10 years.

Acquisition of Lithobid Product Rights

In July 2014, we entered into an agreement to @selithe “Lithobid Purchase Agreement”) the prodigttts to Lithobid from Noven
Therapeutics, LLC (“Noven”) for $11.0 million in sl at closing, and $1.0 million in cash if certapprovals are received from the FDA on or
before June 30, 2015. This $1.0 million contingestment was paid in January 2015 and is includeat@ounts payable at December 31, 201
in the consolidated balance sheet. Pursuant ttethes of the Lithobid Purchase Agreement, we aeguine intellectual property rights and
NDA associated with Lithobid, as well as a smalbamt of raw material inventory. The $12.0 milliorogduct rights intangible asset is be
amortized over its estimated useful life of 10 gear

Acquisition of Vancocin Product Rights

In August 2014, we entered into an agreement tohase (the “Vancocin Purchase Agreement”) the podghts to Vancocin from Shire
ViroPharma Incorporated (“Shire”) for $11.0 milliam cash at closing. Pursuant to the terms of thecdcin Purchase Agreement, we acquire
the U.S. intellectual property rights and NDA asated with Vancocin, two related ANDAs, and certaguipment and inventory. The $10.5
million product rights intangible asset is beingaatized over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Definite-lived Intangible Assets

The components of net definite-lived intangibleeassare as follows:

(in thousands) December 31, 201. December 31, 201. Weighted Averag
Gross Carryin  Accumulater Gross Carryin  Accumulater  Amortization
Amount Amortizatior Amount Amortizatior Period
Acquired ANDA intangible asse $ 12,577 $ 1,319 $ 60 $ (55) 10 years
Product rights 22,52: (1,139 10C (100 10 years
Teva license intangible asset 10,90( (1,487) 10,90( (496) 11 years
$ 45,99¢ $ (3,939 $ 11,06( $ (657)

Our acquired ANDA intangible assets consist ofdkelusive rights, including all of the applicabéehnical data and other relevant
information, to produce certain pharmaceutical pits, including those acquired pursuant to the Taughase Agreement. The product rights
assets consist of the exclusive rights, includihgfahe applicable technical data and other rateévnformation, to produce certain branded
pharmaceutical products that we acquired from warimompanies, including those acquired pursuatietdithobid Purchase Agreement and
the Vancocin Purchase Agreement . The Teva licetaseacquired as part of the Merger (Note 2) . lgitsle assets are stated at the lower of
cost or fair value, net of amortization using ttraight line method over the expected useful livkthe assets. Amortization expense was $3.3
million and $0.6 million for the years ended Decem®1, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

SC:
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
We test for impairment of definitiered intangible assets when events or circumstaimaicate that the carrying value of the assetg maod
be recoverable. No such triggering events weretifieshin 2014 and 2013, and therefore no impairtdess was recognized during those
periods.

Expected future amortization expense is as follfmwshe years ending December 31.:

(in thousands

2015 $ 4,48¢
2016 4,48k
2017 4,48¢
2018 4,48¢
2019 4,48¢
2020 and thereafter 19,64:
Total $ 42,067

7. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair value is the price that would be received ftbm sale of an asset or paid to transfer a ligtalssuming an orderly transaction in the
most advantageous market at the measurement d&eGIBAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure éaork which prioritizes and ranks the
level of observability of inputs used in measuriaig value.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair \&lue on a Recurring Basis

The inputs used in measuring the fair value of @shcash equivalents are considered to be Lewmehdcordance with the three-tier fair
value hierarchy. The fair market values are basepeviod-end statements supplied by the varioukdand brokers that held the majority of
our funds.

Our CVRs (Note 2) are considered to be contingensideration and are classified as liabilities.sfish, the CVRs were recorded as
purchase consideration at their estimated fairejalging Level 3 inputs, and are marked to markeh eeporting period until settlement. The
fair value of CVRs is estimated using the presahie of management’s projection of the expectedrgas pursuant to the terms of the CVR
agreement, which is the primary unobservable inpoir projection or expected payments were todase substantially, the value of the
CVRs could increase as a result. The present \dlthee liability was calculated using a discourieraf 15%. We determined that the fair value
of the CVRs was immaterial as of December 31, 201d12013. We also determined that the changescnfair value were immaterial, for the
year ended December 31, 2014 and period from tteeaddahe Merger to December 31, 20
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7. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Prior to the Merger, ANIP’s warrants to purchasmown and preferred stock were classified as dévvditibilities and were measured at
fair value using level 3 inputs. The fair valuestdck purchase warrants was determined using atemprocess that included valuing ANIP's
equity using both market and discounted cash flathiwds, and then apportioning that value, usingaaiity allocation model, to each of
ANIP's classes of stock. These models require sleeofiunobservable inputs such as fair value of A&Ntommon and preferred stock, expe
term, anticipated volatility, future interest amtieirest rates, expected cash flows and the nunilmertstanding common and preferred shares
of a future date. All such stock purchase warrarfsred in connection with the Merger.

The following table presents our financial assets léabilities that were accounted for at fair v&ln a recurring basis as of December 31
2014 and 2013, by level within the fair value hielgy:

(in thousands)

Fair Value at

Description December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
CVRs $ - $ - $ - $ -
Fair Value at
Description December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
CVRs $ - % - 9 - $ -

Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

In December 2014, we issued $143.8M of Notes (sete ). Because we have the option to cash ségledtential conversion of t
Notes in cash, we separated the embedded convengimm feature from the debt feature and accoomneéch component separately, base
the fair value of the debt component assuming mvexsion option. The calculation of the fair vabhfehe debt component required the us
Level 3 inputs, and was determined by calculatimg fair value of similar nocenvertible debt, using a theoretical interest &Ht®%. The
theoretical interest rate was determined from mackenparables to estimate what the interest ratddvoave been if there was no conver
option embedded in the Notes. The fair value ofetindedded conversion option was calculated usiegesidual value method and is class
as equity. As of December 31, 2014, the fair valiihe Notes approximates their carrying value b7 million.

A portion of the offering proceeds was used to $iameously enter into “bond hedge” (or purchasdl) aad “warrant” (or written call)
transactions with an affiliate of one of the offgriunderwriters (see Note 3). The exercise pridh@bond hedge is $69.48 per share, with an
underlying 2,068,792 common shares; the exercise pf the warrant is $96.21 per share of our comstock, also with an underlying
2,068,792 common shares. We calculated the fairevaf the bond hedge based on the price we paidrthase the call. We calculated the fair
value of the warrant based on the price at whiehefffiliate purchased the warrants from us. Bec#uséond hedge and warrant are both
indexed to our common stock and otherwise wouldlassified as equity, we recorded both elemenexjagy, resulting in a net reduction to
APIC of $15.6 million.

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fia Value on a Recurring Basis

We have no non-financial assets and liabilitie$ #na measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
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7. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fa Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

We measure our long-lived assets, including prgpeitant and equipment, intangible assets and gildufair value on a non-recurring
basis. These assets are recognized at fair valaa thley are deemed to be other-than-temporarilairag. No such fair value impairment was
recognized in the years ended December 31, 2012@iI

Acquired No-Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value

In July 2014, we acquired from Noven the produghts$ associated with Lithobid, as well as a snralbant of raw material inventory, for
total consideration of $12.0 million (Note 6). lddition, we capitalized $45 thousand of legal cotsctly related to the transaction. These
assets were recorded at their relative fair valwdich were determined based on Level 3 unobsesviaplts. In order to determine the fair
value of the product rights, we used the preseluievaf the estimated cash flows related to the prodghts, using a discount rate of 10%. The
$12.0 million of product rights will be amortizeder their 10 year useful life, and will be tested impairment when events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the assets n@be recoverable. No such triggering events vigeetified during the period from the date
acquisition to December 31, 2014 and thereforemmairment loss was recognized in 2014. We reco$@€dthousand of inventory. The value
of the raw material inventory was determined bamsethe most recent purchase price of the material.

In August 2014, we acquired from Shire the U.Sdpit rights associated with Vancocin, certain eopgipt, and inventory, for total
consideration of $11.0 million (Note 6). In additjove capitalized $0.1 million of legal costs ditgcelated to the transaction. These assets
were recorded at their relative fair values, whigdre determined based on Level 3 unobservablesnpubrder to determine the fair value of
the product rights, we used the present valueeéttimated cash flows related to the productsigiging a discount rate of 10%. The $10.5
million of value assigned to the product rightslw#é amortized over their 10 year useful life, avill be tested for impairment when events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying valudefassets may not be recoverable. No such triggexiants were identified during the period
from the date of acquisition to December 31, 20id therefore no impairment loss was recognizedi¥2 The $0.2 million of value assigned
to the equipment was determined based on the anfmuwwhich we believe we would be able to sell dogiipment. The equipment will be
depreciated over its estimated 10 year usefuldifig, would be re-valued at the fair value if deenaelde other-than-temporarily impaired. We
recorded $0.4 million of inventory. The value o ttaw material inventory was determined based emrtbst recent purchase price of the
material. The value of the finished goods inventwas determined based on the estimated salesgertarated from the finished goods, less
costs to sell, including a reasonable margin.

8. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

Authorized shares

We are authorized to issue up to 33.3 million shafecommon stock with a par value of $0.0001 pare, 0.8 million shares of class C
special stock with a par value of $0.0001 per shewd 1.7 million shares of undesignated prefestedk with a par value of $0.0001 per share
at December 31, 2014.

There were 11.4 million and 9.6 million shares afnenon stock issued and outstanding as of Decenihe@034 and 2013, respectively.
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8. SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY (Continued)

There were 11 thousand shares of class C speotd istsued and outstanding as of both Decembe2@4 and 2013. Each share of
class C special stock entitles its holder to orte per share. Each share of class C special stakchangeable, at the option of the holder, fo
one share of our common stock, at an exchange @fi$80.00 per share, subject to adjustment updaioecapitalization events. Holders of
class C special stock are not entitled to receivielehds or to participate in the distribution afrassets if we were to liquidate, dissolve, or
wind-up the company. The holders of class C spstimk have no cumulative voting, preemptive, stipton, redemption or sinking fund
rights.

There were no shares of undesignated preferrell stastanding as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.
Equity Offerings

On March 10, 2014, we completed a follow-on pubfiering of 1.6 million shares of our common st@tla public offering price of
$31.00 per share (the “March 2014 Offering”). Weseiged gross proceeds of $50.0 million, or net peals of $46.7 million after deducting
costs of $3.3 million, including the underwritefses and commissions, as well as expenses diretdied to the March 2014 Offering. The
number of shares sold in the March 2014 Offerirduides the exercise in full by the underwritershafir option to purchase an additional 0.2
million shares of common stock.
Warrants

Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2.5 milli@mesh(as adjusted for the July 17, 2013 one-foresierse split, when applicable) of our
common stock were outstanding and exercisable Beoémber 31, 2014:

(in thousands, except per share price)

Number of
Underlying Shares Per Share
Issue Date Of Common Stock Exercise Price Expiration Date
March 8, 201( 14 $ 74.8¢ September 8, 20
June 23, 201 € 3 88.2( June 23, 201
June 23, 201 6 $ 94.6¢ June 9, 201
December 30, 201 147 $ 72.0( December 30, 20:
December 30, 201 9 % 76.5( June 9, 201
December 4, 201 1,79¢ % 96.21 March 1, 202
December 5, 201 27C $ 96.21 March 1, 202

All outstanding warrants are classified as equitypecember 2014, we issued 2.1 million warrantsanjunction with the issuance of the
Notes (see Note 3). In January 2014, warrants tchaige an aggregate of 20 thousand shares of costoaiawere exercised at $9.00
share. In December 2014, warrants to purchasegmegate of 63 thousand shares of common stock exeneised at $9.00 per share. Warr
to purchase an aggregate of 198 thousand shacesnwhon stock expired unexercised during the yede@mecember 31, 2014.

During 2013, we issued no warrants. In DecembeB2@arrants to purchase an aggregate of 90 thougsarés of common stock were
exercised. During 2013, warrants to purchase areggte of 13 thousand shares of common stock ekpimexercised.
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

All equity-based service awards are granted urteANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restdd@8 Stock Incentive Plan (the
“2008 Plan”). As of December 31, 2014, 0.6 millsimares of our common stock remained availablesrance under the 2008 Plan.

We measure the cost of equity-based service avibaskd on the grant-date fair value of the award. cdst is recognized over the period
during which an employee is required to provideviserin exchange for the award or the requisiteiserperiod. We recognize stock-based
compensation expense ratably over the vesting genbthe awards, adjusted for estimated forfeguvée incurred $3.4 million and $36
thousand of non-cash, stobksed compensation cost for the years ended Dec&hp2014 and 2013, respectively in connectio wie 200:
Plan. In 2014, $0.1 million of the stock-based cengation cost was recognized as cost of salesn$illidn was recognized as research and
development expense, and $3.2 million was recodrasesales, general and administrative expenseeiadcompanying consolidated
statements of operations. All of the 2013 stockedasompensation cost was included in sales, geapdaadministrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatfam&écome tax benefit related to $4.4 million tdck-based compensation tax deductions
was recognized in our 2014 consolidated staten@frdperations. No income tax benefit was recogninenlir 2013 consolidated statements o
operations for stock-based compensation arrangement

Stock Options

Outstanding employee stock options generally vest a period of three or four years and haveydér contractual terms. Upon exercis
an option, we issue new shares of our common stock.

For 2014 and 2013, the fair value of each opti@ngwas estimated on the date of grant using taekBScholes option-pricing model,
using the following weighted average assumptions:

2014 2013
Expected option life (year: 5.39- 6.2¢ 6.2fF
Risk-free interest rat 1.55%- 2.03% 1.72%
Expected stock price volatilil 50.6%- 55.1% 55.0%

Dividend yield — —

We use the simplified method to estimate the Iffeftions. In 2014, 0.3 million options grantedthg board of directors but requiring
shareholder approval were approved at the May @24 2hareholder’s meeting. As a result, the fdinesof these options were calculated
using the simplified method less the time betwéengrant date and the date of the approval, oryeass. The risk-free interest rate used is th
yield on a U.S. Treasury note as of the grant déte a maturity equal to the estimated life of tigtion. We calculated an estimated volati
rate based on the closing prices of several cotopetihat manufacture similar products. We havessuted a cash dividend in the past nor do
we have any current plans to do so in the futund;therefore, an expected dividend yield of zers wsed. Forfeitures are estimated at the
of grant and revised through a cumulative catcladjpstment in the period of change if actual fauies differ from those estimates. For stock
options granted during the years ended Decembe2@@Y and 2013, we used an estimated forfeitueeatatero for directors and officers an
forfeiture rate of 5.1% for non-officer employees.

On August 20, 2014, the Board of Directors appraaeglant of options to purchase 25 thousand studi@ammon stock to one of our
officers.

On April 1, 2014, the Board of Directors approvedrgs of options to purchase 59 thousand sharesnofon stock to our officers and
options to purchase 16 thousand shares of commachk 81 non-employee directors.
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

On July 12, 2013 and August 1, 2013, our Boardioédors approved grants to employees of stocloaptto purchase 0.3 million shares
of ANI stock under the 2008 Plan, subject to shaladr approval of an increase in the total shavedable for issuance under the 2008 Plan.
The increase in total shares was approved by sbigiezls at the May 22, 2014 annual meeting, at whiiok we began recognizing stock-basec
compensation expense related to these awards.

In 2013, the Board of Directors granted optionpucchase 21 thousand shares of common stock atithG8and shares of restricted stock
to non-officer directors under the 2008 Plan.

A summary of stock option activity under the Plamidg the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2Qdr@sented below:

Weighted Weighted Aggregate
Option Average Average Intrinsic

(in thousands, except per share d Shares Exercise Price Remaining Term Value
Outstanding December 31, 20 = - - $ —
Net BioSante stock options assun 99 $ 59.5¢
Grantec 21 % 6.3¢€
Exercisec - - —
Forfeited or expirel . .
Outstanding December 31, 20 12C $ 50.3¢ 24 $ 81
Grantec 12C $ 31.5¢
Options previously granted, approved by
shareholder 32t 6.3¢
Exercisec (43 19.4¢ 63€
Forfeited 4) 6.3€
Expired (60) 73.9¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 45¢ $ 14.4¢ 87 $ 19,47:
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 83 $ 14.3¢ 81 $ 3,75¢
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ; 45z $ 14.44 87 $ 19,21

As of December 31, 2014, there was $6.6 milliototd! unrecognized compensation cost related tewested stock options granted unde
the Plan. The cost is expected to be recognized mweighted-average period of 2.7 years. Dutiegyear ended December 31, 2014, we
received $0.8 million in cash from the exercisstoitk options and recorded a $0.6 million tax biémefated to these exercises.

Restricted Stock Awards

On April 1, 2014, the Board of Directors approvedrgs of 30 thousand shares of restricted stockitafficers. The restricted stock was
granted subject to shareholder approval of an aserén the total restricted stock available fongtander the 2008 Plan. The increase in total
restricted stock available for grant under the 2BGh was approved by shareholders at the May@®} annual meeting and the restricted
stock was granted as of May 22, 2014. The RSAsomsstfourth per year, over four years on the ameasy of the grant date, provided that the
officer continues to serve as an ANl employee athed the vesting dates. Shares of our common stelikered to the officers will be
unrestricted upon vesting . During the vestingqubrihe recipient of the restricted stock hasvating rights as a stockholder and would
receive dividends, if declared, even though th&ricded stock remains subject to transfer restittiand will generally be forfeited upon
termination of the officer prior to vesting. Therfaalue of each RSA is based on the market vafumipstock on the date of grant.
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On November 1, 2013, Board of Directors approveshty of 50 thousand restricted stock awards (“R¥#sthe non-officer directors
under the 2008 Plan. The RSAs vest tinied per year, over three years on the annivershtige grant date, provided that the director s
to serve as an ANI director on each of the vedfimigs. Shares of our common stock delivered talitleetors will be unrestricted upon vesting
During the vesting period, the recipient of thenieged stock has full voting rights as a stocklesldnd would receive dividends, if declared,
even though the restricted stock remains subjecatsfer restrictions and will generally be foréei upon termination of the director from the
board prior to vesting. The fair value of each RSAased on the market value of our stock on the afegrant.

A summary of RSA activity under the Plan during ylears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is preseali@v:

Weighted Weighted Average
Average Grant Remaining Term

(in thousands, except per share d Shares Date Fair Value (years)
Unvested at December 31, 2C -$ =
Grantec 50 $ 10.2(
Vested -$ =
Forfeited - $ -
Unvested at December 31, 2013 50 $ 10.2( 2.84
Grantec 30 % 29.61
Vested a7ns 10.2(
Forfeited -$ -
Unvested at December 31, 2014 63 $ 19.3¢ 2.57

As of December 31, 2014, there was $1.0 milliototd! unrecognized compensation cost related tewested RSAs granted under the
Plan, which is expected to be recognized over glted-average period of 2.6 years.

79




ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
10. INCOME TAXES

Our total provision (benefit) from income taxes sists of the following for the years ended Decen#ier2014 and 2013:

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Current income tax provision (benefi
Federa $ 4,81¢ $ 20
State 278 =
Total 5,091 20
Deferred income tax provision (benefi
Federal 2,11: 63t
State 154 (227)
Total 2,261 414
Change in valuation allowan: (16,726 (419
Tax provision (benefit) from continuing operatic (9,36¢) 20
Tax provision from discontinued operation - 38
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (9,36¢) $ 58

The difference between our expected income taxigimyv (benefit) from applying federal statutory tates to the pre-tax income (loss)
from continuing operations and actual income tavigion (benefit) from continuing operations retatgimarily to the effect of the following:

As of December 31

2014 2013
US Federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(%
State taxes, net of Federal ben 1.C% 1.C%
Non-deductible expenst -% 245.%
Change in valuation allowan (86.5% (300.H9%
Change in tax rates and ott (1.2% 34.€%
Stoclk-based compensati— windfall tax benefits 4.C% -%
Other (0.7% -%
Total income tax provision (benefit) (48.9)% 16.1%
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10. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettiifterences between the bases of assets antltlebfor financial reporting and income
tax purposes. Our deferred income tax assets abitities consisted of the following:

(in thousands) As of December 31,
2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and advanc $ 2,14¢ % 80z
Bond hedge 12,671 -
Accruals for chargebacks and retu 1,107 35¢
Net operating loss carryforwa 11,79¢ 16,40¢
Other 1,292 41¢
Total deferred tax asse $ 29,02: $ 17,98:
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior $ (587 $ (220
Debt discoun (12,897 -
Intangible assel (467) (52€)
Other (49€) (374)
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ (13,449 $ (1,120
Valuation allowance (142) (16,867
Total deferred tax asset (liability), net $ 15,43¢ $ =

As of December 31, 2014, we had Federal net oper&iss carryforwards of approximately $32.9 milliovhich expire beginning in 201
and a portion of which arose as a result of thegderThe utilization of the net operating loss gfamwards are limited in future years as
prescribed by Section 382 of the U.S. Internal ReeeCode; our current annual limitation of the Fatleet operating loss is approximately
$11.2 million per year.

We are required to establish a valuation allowdnceeferred tax assets if, based on the weighwaflable evidence, it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tasets will not be realized. The ultimate realizatidrieferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during thegasiin which those temporary differences becomecéde. We consider the projected
future taxable income and tax planning strategienaking this assessment. Based upon the levésifrital taxable income and projections
for future taxable income in previous periods, vaé provided a full valuation allowance as of Decen®i, 2013. In the fourth quarter of
2014, we determined that certain deferred tax asbat had previously been reserved would now fikel than not be realized through the
generation of future taxable income and, as atggdognized an income tax benefit of $16.7 millielated to the reversal of the majority of
the valuation allowance. As of December 31, 201ethave provided a valuation allowance against icestate net operating loss carryforwe
of approximately $0.1 million.

We are subject to income taxes in numerous jutiisdis in the U.S. Significant judgment is requireavaluating our tax positions and
determining our provision for income taxes. We lglta liabilities for tax-related uncertainties bdson estimates of whether, and the extent t
which, additional taxes will be due. These lial#htare established when we believe that certaitipos might be challenged despite our bt
that our tax return positions are fully supportablee adjust these liabilities in light of changifagts and circumstances, such as the outcome
a tax audit. The provision for income taxes inchittee impact of changes to the liability that isgidered appropriate. We identified no
material uncertain tax positions as of Decembe2814 and 2013.
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We are subject to income tax audits in all juriidits for which we file tax returns. Tax auditsthgir nature are often complex and can
require several years to complete. Neither ANI Rizaeuticals, Inc. nor any of its subsidiaries isently under audit in any jurisdiction. All
our income tax returns remain subject to examindbiptax authorities due to the availability of pgerating loss carryforwards.

11. COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS
RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, we entered into a collaborative ageament with RiconPharma LLC (“RiconPharma”). Unther parties' master product
development and collaboration agreement (the “Rit@mmma Agreement”), we and RiconPharma have agoesullaborate in a cost, asset and
profit sharing arrangement for the development, ufecturing, regulatory approval and marketing oduphaceutical products in the U.S.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for devabpghe products and we are responsible for maruiagt sales, marketing and
distribution of the products. The parties are jgintsponsible for directing any bioequivalencedgts. We are responsible for obtaining and
maintaining all necessary regulatory approvalduitiog the preparation of all ANDAs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless othespiscified in an amendment, the parties will oguadly all the rights, title and
interest in the products. To the extent permittgdbplicable law, we will be identified on the pumd packaging as the manufacturer and
distributor of the product. During the term of gigreement, both parties are prohibited from dewetppnanufacturing, selling or distributing
any products that are identical or bioequivalergrimducts covered under the RiconPharma Agreement.

We recognize the costs incurred with respect ®algreement as expense and classify the expersed drathe nature of the costs. In the
year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we incfr&dmillion and $0.7 million in research and depshent expenses related to
RiconPharma Agreement. No revenue has yet beegnizeal.

Sofgen Pharmaceuticals
August 2013 Sofgen Agreeme

In August 2013, we entered into an agreement wotigeh Pharmaceuticals (“Sofgen”) to develop an so#il gel prescription product
indicated for cardiovascular health (the “August2®&ofgen Agreement”). The product will be subjecan ANDA filing once developed. In
general, Sofgen will be responsible for the develdept, manufacturing and regulatory submission eftoduct, including preparation of the
ANDA, and we will provide payments based on the plation of certain milestones. Upon approval, Sofgél manufacture the drug and we
will be responsible for the marketing and distribat under the ANI label, of the product in the U8 oviding a percentage of profits from
sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the August 2013 Sofgen Agreement, Sofgenowmil all the rights, title and interest in the pwots. During the term of the
agreement, both parties are prohibited from dewetppnanufacturing, selling or distributing any guat that is identical or bioequivalent to
product covered under the Sofgen Agreement in tise The agreement may be terminated or amended oedain specified circumstances.

We recognize the costs incurred with respect tadihgust 2013 Sofgen Agreement as expense andfglédssiexpenses based on the

nature of the costs. In the years ended Decemh&034 and 2013, we incurred $0.2 million and $0ilion in research and development
expenses related to the August 2013 Sofgen Agreeierrevenue has yet been recognized.

82




ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

11. COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
April 2014 Sofgen Agreeme

In April 2014, we entered into a second collabaratgreement with Sofgen to develop an oral sdfpgescription product (the “April
2014 Sofgen Agreement”). The product will be subfe@an ANDA filing once developed. In general, & will be responsible for the
development, manufacturing and regulatory submissfdhe product, including preparation of the ANDPsiad we will provide payments bas
on the completion of certain milestones. Upon apglkdSofgen will manufacture the drug and we wédlresponsible for the marketing and
distribution, under our label, of the product ie tdnited States, providing a percentage of prérfits sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the April 2014 Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen wilih all the rights, title and interest in the prodiDuring the term of the April 2014
Sofgen Agreement, both parties are prohibited fd@weloping, selling or distributing any productlie United States that is identical or
bioequivalent to the product covered under the |14 Sofgen Agreement. The April 2014 Sofgen A&grent can be terminated or amendec
under certain specified circumstances. The April28ofgen Agreement has an initial term of ten yéa@m the launch of the product, which
term will automatically renew for two year termgitaither party terminates the agreement.

We recognize the costs incurred with respect toAhrd 2014 Sofgen Agreement as expense and clagsifexpenses based on the nature
of the costs. We have recorded $0.1 million of aesle and development expense related to the Apii Bofgen Agreement from the
inception of the agreement though December 31, 28@4evenue has yet been recognized with respabetApril 2014 Sofgen Agreement.

Dexcel Pharma Technologies Ltd

In June 2014, we entered into a collaboration agess with Dexcel Pharma Technologies Ltd (“Dexcé’commercialize and sell a
generic drug product (the “June 2014 Dexcel AgragifieThe product is subject to FDA approval of @NDA filing. In general, Dexcel will
be responsible for the manufacturing and regulasaiymission of the product, including obtaining rmwal of the ANDA, and we will provide
payments based on the completion of certain mitestoUpon approval, Dexcel will manufacture thegdand we will be responsible for the
marketing and distribution, under our label, of flieduct in the United States, providing a perogaaf profits from sales of the drug to
Dexcel.

Under the June 2014 Dexcel Agreement, Dexcel with all the rights, title and interest in the produuring the term of the June 2014
Dexcel Agreement, both parties are prohibited famaeloping, selling, or distributing any productlie United States that is identical or
bioequivalent to the product covered under the Aiel Dexcel Agreement. The June 2014 Dexcel Agee¢icen be terminated or amended
under certain specified circumstances. The Jund P@kcel Agreement has an initial term of five yefmom the launch of the product, which
term can be renewed for two year terms if bothipadgree, until either party terminates the agesgm

We recognize the costs incurred with respect taJthee 2014 Dexcel Agreement as expense and claéissifxpenses based on the nature

of the costs. We have not yet incurred any expegiated to the June 2014 Dexcel Agreement andvente has yet been recognized with
respect to the June 2014 Dexcel Agreement.
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

We lease equipment under operating leases thatexpMay 2017. We also lease office space underaijmg leases that expire beginning
in February 2016 through September 2018.

For the annual periods after December 31, 2014 pappate minimum annual rental payments under remcelable leases are presented
below:

(in thousands)

Minimum
Annual Rental
Year Payments
201t % 78
201¢ 53
2017 44
201¢ 29
201¢ -
Thereafte -
Total $ 204

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,£@12013 totaled $70 thousand and $36 thousamukateeely.
Vendor Purchase Minimums

We have supply agreements with three vendorsitichtde purchase minimums. Pursuant to these agresnee will be required to
purchase a total of $5.8 million of API from thekeee vendors during the year ended December 35.20

Monitoring and Advisory Fees
Prior to the Merger, we were required to pay momtpand advisory fees to two investors. A tota$6f5 million was included in other
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateroéotserations for the year ended December 31, Z&se fees were paid quarterly in

advance on the first business day of each calendater.

Included in the $0.5 million above and in conjuantivith the Merger, we paid additional monitorimglaadvisory fees totaling $0.4
million to the same two investors (Note 2). Upomgtetion of the Merger, our obligation to pay monitg and advisory fees was terminated.

Government Regulation

Our products and facilities are subject to regataby a number of federal and state government&iags. The Food and Drug
Administration ("FDA"), in particular, maintains exsight of the formulation, manufacture, distributi packaging and labeling of all of our
products. The Drug Enforcement Administration ("DfAaintains oversight over our products that amesidered controlled substances.
Unapproved Products

Two of our products, Esterified Estrogen with Mdtagtosterone (“EEMT”) and Opium Tincture, are need without approved New

Drug Applications ("NDAs") or Abbreviated New Drupplications ("ANDAs"). During the years ended Deteer 31, 2014 and 2013, net
revenues for these products totaled $29.8 milliweh $14.6 million, respectively.
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The FDA's policy with respect to the continued nesirkg of unapproved products is stated in the FI3&ptember 2011 Compliance
Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled “Marketed New Dswgthout Approved NDAs or ANDAs.” Under this pajicthe FDA has stated that it will
follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforert against such unapproved products. The FDAuated whether to initiate enforcement
action on a case-by-case basis, but gives highanitgrto enforcement action against products irtaia categories, such as those marketed as
unapproved drugs with potential safety risks ot thek evidence of effectiveness. We believe thatong as we comply with applicable
manufacturing standards , the FDA will not takeachgainst us under the current enforcement polidyere can be no assurance, however,
that the FDA will continue this policy or not takecontrary position with any individual productgyoup of products. If the FDA were to tak
contrary position, we may be required to seek Fppraval for these products or withdraw such proslficim the market. If we decide to
withdraw the products from the market, our net nexss for generic pharmaceutical products wouldidechaterially, and if we decide to seek
FDA approval, we would face increased expensesvaght need to suspend sales of the products wrdii approval was obtained, and there
are no assurances that we would receive such agiprov

In addition, one group of products that we manufecbn behalf of a contract customer is marketethlycustomer without an approved
NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action againstlseastomer, the customer may be required to seékagproval for the group of produc
or withdraw them from the market. Our contract nfanturing revenues for the group of unapproved petsifor the years ended Decembe!
2014 and 2013 were $1.2 million and $2.0 millie@spectively.

We received royalties on the net sales of a grdgoatract-manufactured products, which are marketethe contract customer without
an approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement actmainst such customer, the customer may be rebugireeek FDA approval for the grc
of products or withdraw them from the market. Cayalties on the net sales of these unapproved ptedvere $0.3 million for the years enc
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Louisiana Medicaid Lawsuit

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General oftiage of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisianatsteourt against numerous
pharmaceutical companies, including us, under uargiate laws, alleging that each defendant caheestate’s Medicaid agency to provide
reimbursement for drug products that allegedly wereapproved by the FDA and therefore allegedlyramnbursable under the federal
Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three toaigd cold prescription products manufactured atdtsy our former Gulfport, Mississippi
operation, which was sold in September 2010. THnatgylawsuit, the state seeks unspecified damagasitory fines, penalties, attornefees
and costs. On October 15, 2013, the defendantsveiibe lawsuit to the U.S. District Court. On Nokeer 14, 2013, the state filed a motion
to remand the lawsuit to the Louisiana state cauntSeptember 30, 2014, the U.S. District Courtaneded the case from the federal to the
court. While we cannot predict the outcome oflivesuit at this time, we could be subject to maletamages, penalties and fines. We intenc
to vigorously defend against all claims in the laiis

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan and its geneguivalent metoclopramide, including ANI, areifgcallegations from plaintiffs in
various states, including California, New Jerseg Bennsylvania, claiming bodily injuries as a resfiingestion of metoclopramide or its
brand name, Reglan, prior to the FDA's FebruangZBiack Box warning requirement. In August 2012, were dismissed with prejudice frc
all New Jersey cases. We consider our exposutadditigation to be limited due to several factdi) the only generic metoclopramide that
manufactured prior to the implementation of the F#arning requirement was an oral solution intastbafter May 28, 2008; (2) our market
share for the oral solution was a very small portibthe overall metoclopramide market; and (3)eowe received a request for change of
labeling from the FDA, we submitted our proposedraes within 30 days, and such changes were sutistyjapproved by the FDA.
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ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

At the present time, we are unable to assesskily lbutcome of the cases in the remaining st@es.insurance company has assumed tf
defense of this matter. However, our current prodability insurance policy contains absolute axgibns for claims related to Reglan and
metoclopramide. We cannot provide assuranceshbaiutcome of these matters will not have an aéveffect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results. Furthermore, #ikgpharmaceutical manufacturers, we may be exptsether product liability claims in the
future, which could further limit our coverage unfigure insurance policies or cause those polimdsecome more expensive, which could
harm our business, financial condition, and opegatesults.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On June 19, 2013, after completion of the Merdes, Audit Committee of our Board of Directors dissgid Deloitte & Touche LLP as our
independent registered public accounting firm gopb@nted EisnerAmper LLP as our independent regidtpublic accounting firm for the ye
ending December 31, 2013, both with immediate effée initially reported this change in a Form &l&ted June 19, 2013 and filed with the
SEC on June 21, 2013.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Disclosure controls and procedures are controlsosimer procedures that are designed to providenadde assurance that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed dyraiited under the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended (the "Exchange Act"), is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in the Securities archange Commission's rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, withioutation, controls and procedures designed twvigle reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in our repfitésl under the Exchange Act is accumulated amdroanicated to management, including
our principal executive officer and principal fircal officer, as appropriate, to allow timely deoiss regarding required disclosure.

Our management has carried out an evaluation, uhdesupervision and with the participation of @lnief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the desand operation of our disclosure controls andgulares (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of DecembgeP@14. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Ettee Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of twéod covered by this report, our disclosure cdatamd procedures were effective.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciaReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over ourriiial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal 5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a procesigialed by, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal finaiafficers and effected by a company’s board céatbrs, management and other personne
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théoilélieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purpose
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal control ofileancial reporting includes those policies andggdures that:

*  pertain to the maintenance of records that@sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflemb$actions and dispositions of its assets;

e provide reasonable assurance that transacienscorded as necessary to permit preparatibnasfcial statements in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditaresbeing made only in accordance with authoripatmf management and directors; and

e provide reasonable assurance regarding prievent timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on our consolidatedritial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ourahisntrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgy 2014. In making this assessment

management used the criteria set forth by the Cateenof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwam@assion (“COSO”) in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013).
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Based on this assessment, our management has @¢edc¢hat, as of December 31, 2014, our internarobaver financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealby EisnerAmper LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tased in their attestation report, which is incldderein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting during the quarter ended DecerheR014 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant

The text of our Code of Ethics, which applies to principal executive officer, principal financiefficer, principal accounting officer or
controller, and persons performing similar funcsipis posted on our website, www.anipharmaceutwatis, under the “Corporate Governance
subsection of the “Investors” section of the sitee will disclose on our website amendments to, drahy are granted, waivers of, our Code o
Ethics for our principal executive officer, prinaidfinancial officer, or principal accounting oféic controller, or persons performing similar
functions.

Information required by this item with respect i directors will be set forth under the captioneiion of Directors” in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2015 annual meeting, téilbé with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A neddahan 120 days after the close of our
fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by refeeenc

Information required by this item with respect tor executive officers will be set forth under thaption “Executive Officers of the
Company” in our definitive proxy statement for @15 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pamstio Regulation 14A no later than 120
days after the close of our fiscal year, and isiporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect timpliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Adt né set forth under the caption
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiapte” in our definitive proxy statement for ourlB0annual meeting, to be filed with the
SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 133 ddter the close of our fiscal year, and is ipcoated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect tor audit committee, our audit committee financigbert, and any material changes to the
way in which our security holders may recommend ines to our Board of Directors will be set fortider the caption “Corporate
Governance” in our definitive proxy statement far 015 annual meeting, to be filed with the SE@pant to Regulation 14A no later than
120 days after the close of our fiscal year, aridderporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item with respect t@eutive compensation will be set forth under thption “Executive Compensation” in
our definitive proxy statement for our 2015 annualeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Ratjoh 14A no later than 120 days after the
close of our fiscal year, and is incorporated hebsi reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item with respect &xgrity ownership of certain beneficial owners amhagement will be set forth under
captions “Security Ownership of Certain Benefiéalners” and “Security Ownership of Directors ancé&ixtive Officers in our definitive
proxy statement for our 2015 annual meeting, téilbé with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A neddahan 120 days after the close of our
fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by refeeenc

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence
Information required by this item with respect ttain relationships and related transactions @medtdr independence will be set forth
under the captions “Certain Relationships and Rdldransactions” and “Corporate Governarioedur definitive proxy statement for our 20

annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuarRégulation 14A no later than 120 days after theecof our fiscal year, and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information required by this item with respect tinpipal accounting fees and services will be sethfunder the caption “Ratification of

Selection of Independent Registered Public Accaustédn our definitive proxy statement for our 2015 aahmeeting, to be filed with the Sl
pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 déigs the close of our fiscal year, and is incorpedaherein by reference.
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PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report on Form 10-K

(a) Financial Statements:
The consolidated balance sheets of the Registsant Recember 31, 2014 and 2013, the related ciolaset! statements of operations,
changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flowgéah of the years ended December 31, 2014 and g@l®otnotes thereto, and the
reports of EisnerAmper LLP, independent registgnalolic accounting firm, are filed herewith.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules have been omitted because they drappdicable or the required information is incldde the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits
Exhibits included or incorporated by reference mergee Exhibit Index on page 93.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Arthur S. Przyby
Arthur S. Przyby
President and Chief Executive Offic
(principal executive officer

Date: February 23, 2015

By: /s/ Charlotte C. Arnolc
Charlotte C. Arnolc
Vice President, Finance a
Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer

Date: February 23, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements the Securities Exehargof 1934, this report has been signed belowhkyfollowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted.

Name Capacity Date
/ s/ Arthur S. Przyby Director, President and February 23, 2015
Arthur S. Przyby Chief Executive Officer
/ s/ Robert E. Brown, J Director and Chairman of the Board of February 23, 2015
Robert E. Brown, Ji Directors
/' s/ Fred Holubow Director February 23, 2015
Fred Holubow
/ s/ Ross Mangan Director February 23, 2015
Ross Mangan:
/ s/ Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.! Director February 23, 2015

Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.l

/s/ Thomas A. Pen Director February 23, 2015
Thomas A. Pen

/ s/ Daniel Rayno Director February 23, 2015
Daniel Raynol
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ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX TO ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

Exhibit
No. Exhibit Method of Filing
2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Medlgexd as of April 12 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to ANI's
2013, by and among BioSante Pharmaceuticals,AMNl. Merger Sub, Inc.  Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
and ANIP Acquisition Company (1) Securities and Exchange Commission on April
2013 (File No. 00-31812)
2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Dece26b@013, by and between Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to ANI's
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceutld8la, Inc. (2) Annual Report on Form 1KB-as filed for the fisc:
year ended December 31, 2013 (File No.-
31812)
3.1 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificatft Incorporation of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's
BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of JulpQ¥3, Certificate of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorgorabf BioSante quarter ended June 30, 2013 (File No. 001-3181.:
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of June 1, 201PRastated Certificate of
Incorporation of BioSante Pharmaceuticals,
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of BioSante Pharmaedsitinc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.1 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daft&eptember 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Mart
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.2 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bga&ite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daftdune 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2
2010 (File No. 00-31812)
4.3 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's

Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Dait®ecember 2010 Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 29, 2010 (File No. (-31812)
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Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued bgdite
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Daftédugust 2012

Indenture, dated December 10, 2014, between ANirRdeeuticals, Inc.
and The Bank of New York Mellon

First Supplemental Indenture, dated December 104 2fetween ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and The Bank of New York btellincluding the
form of the 3.00% Convertible Senior Note due 2019)

Form of Note (included in Exhibit 4.10)

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Fourth Amended and Redta008 Stock
Incentive Plan

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement underAihd
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Fourth Amended and Restd@8 3tock Incentive
Plan (included in Exhibit 10.1)

Form of Non-Statutory Option Agreement under thel AN
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Fourth Amended and Rest&1@8 3tock Incentive
Plan (included in Exhibit 10.1)

BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Resi®&@8 Stock Plan

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement UnderBi@Sante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 19%& $lan
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 17, 2012 (File No. 0-31812)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 10, 2014 (File No. 001-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 10, 2014 (File No. 001-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to ANI's
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 10, 2014 (File No. (-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to AR
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A as
filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 11, 2014 (File No. 001-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to AP
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A as
filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 11, 2014 (File No. 001-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to AP
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A as
filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 11, 2014 (File No. 001-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1
2006 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File
No. 001-31812)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.6*

10.7*

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement Unither BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 19%& $lan

Form of Indemnification Agreement between BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and each of its DirectorsExetutive Officers

License Agreement, dated June 13, 2000, betweendder Technologie,
AG (renamed as Antares Pharma IPL AG) and BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (2)

Amendment No. 1 to the License Agreement, dated gy001, by and
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phawutiaats, Inc. (2)

Amendment No. 2 to the License Agreement, dated 92001, between
Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceutitais(2)

Amendment No. 3 to the License Agreement, datedu&tgo,
2001, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (2)

Amendment No. 4 to the License Agreement, datedu&ug, 2002,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phawutiaats, Inc. (2)

Amendment No. 5 to the License Agreement, dateceBéer 30, 2002,
between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Phaurtiaats, Inc.

Amendment No. 6 to the License Agreement, datedi2et20,

2006, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSaméerPaceuticals, In
and Letters, dated October 27, 2006, November @,28nd November 7,
2006, from BioSante Pharmaceuticals to Antares®adPL AG Regardin
the License Agreement (
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File
No. 001-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2007 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to

ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB40 for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 0
28637)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010 (File No.-
31812)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

License Agreement, dated December 3, 2008, by atwdden BioSante
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Azur Pharma Internatibriamited (2)

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement and AssettRisc Agreement,
dated November 30, 2009, by and between BioSardmRiiteuticals, Inc.
and Azur Pharma International Il Limited (2)

Development and License Agreement, dated Decenhe&(®2, between
BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmae¢suti SA, Inc.

First Amendment to Development and License Agreenusted March 13,
2003, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. amd Paarmaceuticals
USA, Inc.

Letter Agreement, dated June 4, 2007, between BieSa
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals UARegarding
Development and License Agreement between TevanRitauticals
USA, Inc. and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. gffeddbecember 27, 20(

Third Amendment to Development and License Agredredfective
October 18, 2012, by and between Teva Pharmackut&, Inc. and
BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Department of Veterans Affairs Federal Supply Safe@€ontract Award t
ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticaig., effective Jul
15, 2012, and Product Number Change Request, dafgualst 22, 2012

Sublicense Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2808nd between ANIP
Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, land Jazz
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (2)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7
2010 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7
2010 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28*

10.29*

Master Product Development and Collaboration Agerdated as of Ju
11, 2011, by and among ANIP Acquisition Companyal/ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and RiconPharma LLC (2)

Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agee¢, dated as of
June 10, 2008, between ANIP Acquisition Companly/adANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Alaven PharmaceutichlS, and Addendum
No. 1 thereto, dated as of December 1, 2010, amttAdum No. 2 theret
dated as of July 10, 2012 (

Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated as gfIM2006, between
ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cardinal Health, tFAiendment to
Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated aslpfliy 2008, Letter
Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2008, regardinigasent of the Generic
Wholesale Service Agreement to ANIP Acquisition Qamy, d/b/a ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Letter from Cardinal Healited December 22,
2008 Regarding Increase in Base Service Fee, amuh8&mendment to
Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated Map¥222)

Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreementedlias of February
5, 2009, by and between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Ind.@ounty Line
Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Addendum to Developmdanhufacturing and
Supply Agreement, dated as of June 12, 201

Manufacturing Transfer and Supply Agreement, daedch 31, 2010, by
and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Phaceuticals, Inc.,
and County Line Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and AddentuiManufacturing
Transfer and Supply Agreement, dated as of Jun2d2, (2)

Employment Letter Agreement, dated February 259289 and between
ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticate., and Arthur
S. Przybyl

Employment Letter Agreement, dated May 6, 2009y between ANIP
Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, /nend Charlotte C.
Arnold
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to
ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form %-as filed with the Securiti¢
and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013
(File No. 33:-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

10.35

10.36

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2007, ruy/lzetween ANIP
Acquisition Company and James Marken

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur Przybyl

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and James Marken

Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2y and between
ANIP Acquisition Company and Robert Jamnick

Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated &ctsber 3, 2012, by
and between ANIP Acquisition Company and MVP Mamaget Company

Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated &cusber 3, 2012, by
and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Healthd&akie Capital
LLC
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. 3-185391)




Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

Method of Filing

10.37

10.38

10.39*

10.40*

10.41*

10.42*

10.43*

10.44*

Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 6, 2012iglee Alostar Bank of Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 to

Commerce and ANIP Acquisition Company

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 2&, B@tween ANIF
Acquisition Company, Meridian Venture Partnerd IR. and the other
parties thereto

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus AgreemenediBecember 28,
2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company anihér S. Przybyl

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus AgreemengdiBecember 28,
2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company ahdrtte Arnold

Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdiapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and ArtRurybyl

Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreemenediapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Ch#gléirnold

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdiapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Jamaskih

Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreemenediapril 12, 2013,
by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and RoBanhnick

99

ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
December 11, 2012 (File No. -185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to
ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form %-as filed with the Securiti
and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013
(File No. 33:-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.74 to
ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form %-as filed with the Securiti¢
and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013
(File No. 33:-185391)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)
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10.45

10.46*

10.47*

10.48*

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemengedlais of April 11,
2013, between Alostar Bank of Commerce and ANIPuigitjion Company

Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdias of June 18,
2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company anthér S. Przybyl

Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreemengdias of June 18,
2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company ahdr®tte Arnold

Employment Letter Agreement, dated July 12, 20431 between ANIP
Acquisition Company d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, lland Robert

Schrepfer

Asset Purchase Agreement between Noven TherapgltiCsand ANI

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of July 1, 2014 (2)

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 4, 20dong ANI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Shire Viropharma Incaiea (2)

Convertible note hedge transaction confirmationed@®ecember 4, 2014,
by and between Nomura Global Financial Productsdnd ANI

Warrant transaction confirmation, dated Decemb@044, by and between

Nomura Global Financial Products Inc. and £

Additional convertible note hedge transaction conéition, dated Decemk
5, 2014, by and between Nomura Global Financiatiéets Inc. and ANI

100

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 to
ANI's Registration Statement on Formi&s filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ol
April 26, 2013 (File No. 33-188174)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2
2013 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2
2013 (File No. 00-31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to
ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2013 (File No.-
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2014 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2014 (File No. 001
31812)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 8, 2014 (File No. C-31812)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 8, 2014 (File No. C-31812)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Al
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 10, 2014 (File No. (-31812)
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10.54 Additional warrant transaction confirmation, dai@ecember 5, 2014, by  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Al
and between Nomura Global Financial Products Ind.AsNI Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 10, 2014 (File No. (-31812)

21 List of subsidiarie: Filed herewitt
23.1 Consent of EisnerAmper LL Filed herewitr
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant$EC Rule 12-14 Filed herewitt
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$EC Rule 13-14 Filed herewitt
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer Furnished herewith

Pursuant to Rule 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adgutestiant to Section 9
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from ANI Pharmaceuticals¢ s Annual Report ¢ Filed herewith
Form 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, &ted in XBRL
(Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i)ahdited consolidated
Balance Sheets, (ii) the audited consolidated Simés of Operations,
(i) the audited consolidated Statements of Stobtl#térs’ Equity; (iv) the
audited consolidated Statements of Cash Flows(\grdotes to
consolidated Financial Statemer

(1) All exhibits to this exhibit have been omittedrsuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. ANIMurnish the omitted exhibits to the
SEC upon request by the SE

(2) Confidential treatment has been granted with respe®dacted portions of this docume

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent required to be filed as an exhibit to thisiteal report on Form 10 K pursuant to
Item 15(a).

101




Exhibit 21
ANI PHARMACUTICALS, INC.

The following is a list of subsidiaries of ANI Pimaaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2014:

Name State of Incorporation
ANIP Acquisition Compan! Delaware




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements of ANl Pharmaceuticals, dm Form S-8 (Nos. 333-53384, 333-
100238, 333-109474, 333-151663, 333-168842, 335%964333-182011, 333-151660, and 333-196518) arfebam S-3 (No. 333-195949) of
our reports dated February 23, 2015, on our aoflitse consolidated financial statements as of Béer 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each o
years in the tw-year period ended December 31, 2014, and thetie#eess of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsjdsainternal control ove
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, whigghorts are included in this Annual Report on FAGW to be filed on or about February

2015.
/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
February 23, 2015




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Arthur S. Przybyl, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emnéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a@&}186d internal control over financial reportiag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isig prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)
€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir
Date: February 23, 2015 /sl Arthur S. Przyby

Arthur S. Przyby
President and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Charlotte C. Arnold, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiormny untrue statement of a material fact or don#tate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememig,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a@&3})afd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

€)) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princij

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesggnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 23, 2015 /sl Charlotte C. Arnoli

Charlotte C. Arnolc
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fKANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") for fear ended December 31, 2014
(the "Report") as filed with the Securities and Exiecge Commission on the date hereof, the undedigheef Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company hereby certifytita such officer’'s knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

This certification is provided solely pursuant ®U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tode@€6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Dated: February 23, 2015 /sl Arthur S. Przyby
Arthur S. Przyby
President an
Chief Executive Office
[principal executive officer

Dated: February 23, 2015 /s/ Charlotte C. Arnoli

Charlotte C. Arnolc

Vice President, Finance a
Chief Financial Office
[principal financial officer]

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to the Compadywll be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@uammission or its staff upon request.




